
 

There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Gemma George on 01733 452268 as soon as possible. 
 

 

ABABABAB    
 
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY 19 MARCH 2013 
1.30 PM 
 

Bourges/Viersen Room - Town Hall 
 

AGENDA  

 Page No 

1. Apologies for Absence 
 

 

2. Declarations of Interest 
 

 

 At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification “ that has been disclosed to the Solicitor to the Council.  

Members must also declare if they are subject to their party group whip in 
relation to any items under consideration. 

 

 

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor 
 

 

4. Minutes of the Meetings held on: 
 

 

 4.1 19 February 2013 
 

3 - 28 

 4.2 5 March 2013 
 

29 - 38 

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters 
 

 

 5.1 09/01368/OUT - Great Haddon, Land to the North of Norman 
Cross, East of the A1(M) and West of London Road (A15) 
Peterborough 
 

39 - 142 

 5.2 12/01236/MMFUL - Dogsthorpe Landfill Site, Welland Road, 
Dogsthorpe, Peterborough 
 

143 - 164 

6. Discontinuance of Nos 1-15 (odd nos only) Rowledge Court, Walton, 
(Former Royal Oak Site) Lincoln Road, Peterborough 
 

165 - 186 

 
 
 

Public Document Pack



Committee Members: 
 

Councillors: Serluca (Chairman), Casey (Vice Chairman), Hiller, North, Stokes, Todd, Shabbir, 
Sylvester, Lane and Harrington 

 
Substitutes: Councillors: Kreling, Martin and Ash 

 
Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Gemma George on telephone 01733 

452268 or by email – gemma.george@peterborough.gov.uk 

 
 
CASE OFFICERS: 
 
Planning and Development Team:  Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Andrew Cundy, Paul Smith, 

Mike Roberts,  Louise Lewis, Janet Maclennan, Astrid 
Hawley, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky Hurrell,  

  Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt Thomson, Chris 
Edwards, Michael Freeman 

 
Minerals and Waste:   Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones 
 
Compliance:   Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw 
 
 
NOTES: 
 
1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer 

or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible. 
 
2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  

Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.   
 
3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 

implications for that policy, except where expressly stated. 
 
4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 

specifically referred to in the report itself. 
 
5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
 received after their preparation. 
 
 
 



AB 
 

    MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 19 FEBRUARY 2013 
 

Members Present: Councillors Serluca (Chairman), Casey (Vice Chairman), Hiller, 
North, Todd, Stokes, Shabbir, Sylvester, Lane and Harrington 

 
Officers Present:      Nick Harding, Group Manager, Development Management  
 Jez Tuttle, Senior Engineer (Development) 

Sarah Hann, Acting Senior Engineer (Development) 
Carrie Denness, Senior Solicitor 
Gemma George, Senior Governance Officer 

 
1. Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies for absence received.  
 

2. Declarations of Interests 
 

Councillor Todd declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest in item 5.8, Perkins 
Sports Association, as it was situated within her ward, but that this would in no way 
affect her decision. 
 
Councillor Harrington declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest in item 5.1, 
Stanground Surgery, in that was acquainted with Mr Damani, an objector to the 
application, but this would in no way affect his decision. 
 
Councillor Shabbir declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest in item 5.1, 
Stanground Surgery, in that he was acquainted with Mr Damani, an objector to the 
application, but this would in no way affect his decision. 
 
Councillor Shabbir also declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest in item 5.5, 
Newark Court, in that he was one of the statutory invitees to the Panel which had 
been discussing the development, however this would in no way affect his 
decision. 
 
Councillor Hiller declared a personal, non-prejudicial interest in item 5.5, Perkins 
Sport Association, in that his wife was employed by Caterpillar, the owners of 
Perkins Engines, but that this would in no way affect his decision. 
 

3.  Members Declaration of Intention to make Representations as Ward 
Councillor 

 
Councillor Stokes declared that she would be speaking on item 5.3, R & P Meats, 
on behalf of local residents.  
 

3



4. Minutes of the Meetings held on: 
 
4.1 8 January 2013 
 

 The minutes of the meeting held on 8 January 2013 were approved as a true and 
accurate record.  

 
4.2 22 January 2013 
 

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 January 2013 were approved as a true and 
accurate record. 
 

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters 
 
The Chairman addressed the Committee and stated that, with Committee’s 
approval, it was proposed to take item 5.4, 39 The Green, Werrington, first. The 
Committee agreed to the proposal. 
 

5.1 12/01832/HHFUL – Two storey side extension to dwelling, 39 The Green, 
Werrington, Peterborough 
 
The application property was situated along the north side of The Green, close to 
the junction with Fulbridge Road. It was of brick and tile construction. The dwelling 
was located in a backland location to the rear of the Werrington Green Church 
Centre. To the south of the dwelling was the rear garden of no.2 Crester Drive, to 
the west was the rear garden of no.4 Crester Drive and to the west of the rear 
garden of the dwelling was the rear garden of no.6 Crester Drive. To the east of 
no.39 was the long rear garden of no.41 The Green. The dwelling was originally 
wholly two storey in height although it had been extended by way of a single storey 
extension that was located alongside the east facing elevation and to a point half 
way along the rear elevation. 

    
The character of the immediate area was principally residential. The application 
had its vehicular access directly off The Green between no.41 and The Church 
Centre. The front elevation was set back approximately 50 metres from the public 
highway with the front elevation of the dwelling was partly visible from the public 
highway. 
 
The proposal was a re-submission following on from a similar scheme that had 
been previously withdrawn. The proposal was for a two storey side extension with 
a width of 6.2 metres and a depth of 7.03 metres. The proposal would involve the 
demolition of an existing single storey, flat roof side extension to the west side of 
the dwelling.  The proposed extension would represent an increase in the width of 
the dwelling by 78%.  
 
The ground floor of the extension would be comprised of a lounge and the first 
floor would add two additional bedrooms, giving a total of five for the dwelling. Also 
proposed was a modest single storey rear extension centrally located that would 
not extend beyond an existing single storey rear elevation of the dwelling. 
 
The proposed south facing wall of the two storey side extension would be 6.1 

4



metres away from the shared garden boundary with no.2 Crester Drive. The west 
facing wall of the extension would be 5 metres from the garden boundary with no.4 
Crester Drive. The north facing wall of the extension faced into the garden of the 
application dwelling. 
 
Fenestration for the extension:- 
 
i) South facing front elevation – Ground floor – One high level obscure glazed 

lounge window; and 
 First floor – One bedroom window to be obscure glazed 
 
ii) West facing side elevation –  Ground floor – Two large clear glazed windows 

to serve the lounge; and 
 First floor – Two high level bedroom windows 
 
iii) North facing rear extension – Ground floor – Patio doors  

First floor – A French door arrangement to a bedroom that was to be fixed 
closed 

 
The internal ground floor level of the extension would have to be raised to be in 
keeping with that of the existing dwelling and the materials used would match 
those of the existing dwelling. 
 
The Group Manager Development Management addressed the Committee and 
gave an overview of the proposal. The recommendation was one of refusal for the 
following reasons: 
 
i) The proposed rear facing first floor bedroom window, floor to ceiling in 

design, of the extension would allow overlooking into the rear garden of 
no.6 Crester Drive to the detriment of the privacy the occupiers of that 
property; 

ii) The proposed extension would, due to its scale, mass and siting, have an 
adverse overbearing impact upon the amenities of the occupiers of no.2 
and no.6 Crester Drive; 

iii) The proposed south facing elevation of the extension would be detrimental 
to the character and the appearance of the existing dwelling due to the 
type, size and positioning of the ground and first floor fenestration; and 

iv) By having to restrict overlooking of the rear garden of no.2 Crester Drive, 
bedroom 5 (drawing no.RTA/102 refers) would be afforded a poor internal 
amenity with only a high level window in the west facing elevation and a 
fixed closed obscure glazed within the south facing elevation 

 
Members’ attention was drawn to additional information contained within the 
update report. An objection had been received from the local resident residing at 
no.6 Crester Drive.  
 
Councillor Paula Thacker addressed the Committee on behalf of the Applicant, Mr 
Anton, who was also present to respond to questions from Members. In summary, 
the issues highlighted included: 
 

• A previous application had been submitted, however following Officer’s 

5



advice, this had been revised. This revision included a reduction in the size 
of some of the windows and the imposition of obscure glazing in certain 
windows on the front elevation overlooking the chapel; 

• The chapel was only used on a Sunday; 

• The depth of the extension would be 3 metres from the existing lounge, and 
not 7.03 metres as stated within the report; 

• The building was built in the 1950s, prior to any new build in the 
surrounding area; 

• One large tree had been removed by a local resident which allowed for 
overlooking into the Applicant’s property; 

• The extension would be completed within eight months. 
 

Following questions to the speakers, Members commented that the existing 
building was relatively modest and the proposed extension would not be 
incongruous, but rather would enhance the existing property. The plot was 
adequate in size for the extension and it was not felt that there would be any undue 
overlooking issues. With this in mind, Members further commented that the 
obscure glazed window in the front elevation should be removed.  
 
Following debate, a motion was put forward and seconded to grant the application, 
contrary to officer recommendation. The motion was carried by 9 votes, with 1 
voting against. 
 
RESOLVED: (9 For, 1 Against) to grant the application, contrary to Officer 
recommendation, subject to: 
 
1. Officers being given authority to secure revisions to the positioning and size of 

the windows on the front elevation of the extension in order to improve the 
appearance of the development. This to include the removal of the proposed 
obscure glazed window; 

2. Officers being given authority to apply the appropriate conditions. 
 
Reasons for the decision: 

 
The Committee felt that the proposed extension would enhance the existing, 
modest, property and would be in keeping with the surrounding area. 
 
The plot was adequate in size for the extension and it was not felt that the 
extension would cause issues relating to overlooking.  

 
5.2 12/01812/FUL – Construction of 14 x two-bedroom apartments with 

associated car parking and amenity space, Former Petrol Filling Station, 
Oundle Road, Orton Longueville, PE2 7DF 

 
The Committee was advised that this application had been withdrawn by the 
Applicant. 

 
5.3 12/01919/FUL - Extension and alterations to provide consulting rooms and 

administrative offices including alteration to access road and provision of 
new staff parking, Stanground Surgery, Whittlesey Road, Stanground, 

6



Peterborough 
 

The application site was comprised of a primary health care facility located at the 
junction of Peterborough Road and Whittlesey Road. There was a shared car park 
to the immediate south of the site which served patients attending the surgery and 
the adjacent Dental Clinic. Access to the site was granted from Peterborough 
Road via a shared access road of approximately 4.5 metres in width.  To the north 
of the site lay a public footway and landscaping strip along Whittlesey Road. The 
south and east the site was abutted by Stanground College playing fields and to 
the west, the site lay adjacent to the Co-Operative Funeral Directors. The site fell 
outside any identified district or local centre.   
 
The application sought planning permission for the construction of single storey 
extensions to the north and south of the existing building to provide new consulting 
rooms and administrative offices. As a result of the proposed extension, the 
internal space of the existing surgery would be reconfigured and a new ancillary 
dispensary created. 
 
The proposed dispensary was to be located within the existing building with no 
separate or independent access and would extend to a floor space of only 32 
square metres. On this basis, it was considered that the dispensary was an 
ancillary element to the main use of the building as a Medical Centre/Doctor’s 
Surgery and therefore fell within Class D1 of the Town and Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order (as amended), the same use class as the surgery itself, not Class 
A1 (retail).  As an ancillary use to the main building, it was permitted development 
and therefore the creation of the dispensary did not require planning permission 
from the Local Planning Authority.   
 
The scheme had been amended following refusal of application reference 
12/01331/FUL for the same proposed extensions. This earlier application was 
refused for the reasons as outlined in the committee report. 
 
R 1  The proposed development did not provide adequate space within the 

curtilage of the site for the required parking facilities. This would result in 
cars parking within the access and in unsafe locations on the adjoining 
public highway and would therefore cause detriment to highway safety. 
The proposal was therefore contrary to Policy CS14 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and emerging Policies PP12 and PP13 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (Submission Version incorporating 
the modifications recommended by the Inspector following Examination 
2012). 

 
R 2  The proposal would result in an intensification of use in terms of traffic 

movements to and from the site. Due to the insufficient width of the 
existing access road into the site, the proposed development would have 
an adverse effect on the safety of users of the adjoining public highway 
which is contrary to Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and emerging Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (Submission Version incorporating the modifications recommended 
by the Inspector following Examination 2012). 

 

7



This revised application sought to address the reasons for refusal by including a 
car park to the north west of the site (providing 30 additional spaces) and by 
widening the shared access from Peterborough Road to 5 metres in width with a 
separate 1 metre wide pedestrian footway. 

 
 The Group Manager, Development Management, addressed the Committee and 

gave an overview of the proposal. It was highlighted that a number of objections to 
the proposal had been received which focused on the dispensary aspect of the 
application, which did not require consent given its limited size and the lack of 
parking available on site, amongst other things. The recommendation was to grant 
the application subject to the satisfactory completion of the 21 day notification on 
PCC as landowner and the imposition of relevant conditions.  

 
 Members’ attention was drawn to additional information contained within the 

update report. There had been a large amount of further information submitted in 
objection to the proposal, which also focused on the dispensary aspect of the 
application. Members were also informed that within the additional information, it 
highlighted that Peterborough City Council should have served notice on the site 
as part landowner of the area to be used to improve the width of the access. This 
had now been completed, with the revised recommendation being to approve the 
authority to issue planning permission subject to the satisfactory completion of a 
21 day notification period on Peterborough City Council as landowner.   

 
 Councillor Brian Rush, Ward Councillor addressed the Committee and responded 

to questions from Members.  In summary the concerns highlighted included: 
 

• There would be an increase in the number of vehicles to the site; 

• Access to the site was shared by a number of premises; 

• The access road led onto Peterborough Road and there was poor visibility; 

• A survey had been undertaken by the Police along Peterborough Road and 
a large number of vehicles had been witnessed travelling in excess of the 
speed limit; 

• In September 2013 a new school building was due to open in the area. 
Increased traffic would put the children at risk; 

• It was unclear whether the property would house a dispensary or a 
pharmacy; 

• If a pharmacy was implemented, this would go against Policy CS14, in 
relation to the promotion of sustainable transport; 

• Provision of a dispensary would still increase the numbers of cars visiting 
the site; 

• There would be a lack of car parking spaces and this would encourage 
parking along the roads. 

  
 Mr Phil Branston and Mr Shabbir Damani, addressed the Committee in objection to 

the application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the 
concerns highlighted included: 

 

• The necessary notices had not been sent out to all the relevant 
landowners. One of those being Peterborough City Council; 

• The land owned by Peterborough City Council was out for long term lease, 

8



therefore may not be available in the first instance; 

• It had been confirmed by a Legal Representative that the titles did not 
concur with the land registry titles; 

• A pharmacy was class A1 under planning rules and a Class D had been 
applied for; 

• Planning Policy should be followed if applying for a pharmacy; 

• The maximum number of car parking spaces available was 30, however 
seven of these spaces were owned by the dental practice, giving the 
surgery only 23 spaces; 

• Consideration should be given for coach parking and drop off and pick up 
facilities, neither of which had been considered; 

• Mr Damani’s full concerns were outlined within the objection materials 
submitted to the Committee, this also included concerns of 1500 patients 
and residents whose objections had been submitted by the Patient Group 
of Halls the Chemist; 

• The application had not been made with full disclosure as to the true extent 
of the proposal; 

• The Co-op Pharmacy had applied to register at the surgery; 

• The Highways Officers had highlighted a number of concerns; 

• The land required for the widening of the access road was part owned by 
Stanground Academy; 

• The exit junction onto Peterborough Road was extremely hazardous; 

• There were currently two pharmacies in Stanground, meaning a dispersal 
of traffic volume. If one location was utilised, this would mean an increase 
in traffic burden to the site. 

 
 Ms Helena Ayre, Practice Manager, Mrs Lillian Swingler, Chair of the Stanground 

Patient Participation Group and Mr Robin Briscoe, Architect, addressed the 
Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary the issues 
highlighted included: 

 

• There current accommodation was insufficient for the provision of certain 
services for existing patients; 

• Extra clinical rooms were needed to enhance patient care and the standard 
of accommodation raised; 

• The proposal would raise the standards of accommodation within the 
building to meet current NHS guidelines; 

• There would be no increase in the number of doctors operating at the 
practice; 

• There had been a traffic parking survey conducted to identify the number of 
cars utilising the site during the week. The scheme submitted was in 
excess of those recommended by the Highways Department; 

• The practice had always dispensed from the site; 

• The patient population was steadily growing, some coming from Cardea; 

• The dispensary would be open to all Stanground Surgery patients; 

• The Co-op Pharmacy was due to move in any instance, however 
Stanground Surgery did not wish to have a full pharmacy on site; 

• There were infrequent parking issues experienced at the current time and 
the increase in parking provision for was welcomed. 

9



 
 The Legal Officer addressed the Committee and stated that a number of points 

had been raised by the objectors relating to land ownership issues. Members were 
reminded that this was not a material planning consideration for the Committee, 
neither were issues relating to business competition in the locality.  

  
 The Highways Officer addressed the Committee and summarised the initial 

concerns. It was advised that all of the concerns had been addressed and 
therefore there were no objections. Furthermore, the parking provision in excess of 
that specified within adopted policy. 

 
 A motion was put forward and seconded to grant the application, subject to 

satisfactory completion of the 21 day notification on PCC as landowner. The 
motion was carried unanimously.  

 
 RESOLVED: (Unanimously) to grant the application, as per Officer 

recommendation subject to: 
 

1. The satisfactory completion of the 21 day notification on PCC as landowner; 
2. The conditions numbered C1 to C12 as detailed in the committee report. 

 
 Reasons for decision: 
 
 Subject to the imposition of the conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 

been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing 
against relevant policies of the development plan and specifically: 

 
 - the proposed extensions would not result in any unacceptable harm to the 

character, appearance or visual amenity of the surrounding area, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); 

 - the proposed additional car park ensured sufficient parking facilities were 
available on-site for the extended Medical Centre, in accordance with Policy 
CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP13 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); 

 - the proposed improvements to the vehicular access were in accordance with 
adopted standards and would improve the safety of the existing access to the 
Medical Centre, Dental Clinic and Funeral Directors, in accordance with Policy 
CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); 

 - the proposal would not pose an unacceptable crime risk, in accordance with 
Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); 

 - the proposal would not result in the loss of any landscape features worthy of 
retention and would improve the general amenity of the locality, in accordance 
with Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); and 

 - the proposal would not result in harm to the ecology of the site and suitable 
features for biodiversity enhancement would be provided, in accordance with 
Policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP16 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).   

 

10



 Councillor Stokes left the meeting. 
 
5.4 12/01922/FUL - Change of use of remaining part of residential garage to 

business use – Retrospective, R And P Meats Ltd, 55 Cherry Orton Road, 
Orton Waterville, Peterborough 

 
 The application site was located on the southern edge of the Orton Waterville 

Conservation Area. The site consisted of a dwelling to the front of the site that had 
been rendered and remodelled over the years and was no longer of historic 
character. Along the left hand side of the site and to the rear was the meat 
wholesale premises that had been in operation since the mid 1950’s. Along the left 
hand side of the site were relatively narrow, single storey brick built outbuildings 
that were in commercial use. To the rear of the site was a larger modern structure 
which was in mixed use of commercial, incorporating residential garaging. To the 
centre of the site there was a garden space and gravel driveway that was used for 
the parking and turning of the four commercial vehicles stored on site.  

 
 Permission was sought for the change of use of remaining part of residential 

garage to business use. This was retrospective. 
 
 The Group Manager, Development Management, addressed the Committee and 

gave an overview of the proposal. It was highlighted that there had been a 
substantial number of retrospective applications associated with the site and 
discontinuance had previously been considered. Officers were of the opinion that 
they could not agree to any more proposals at the site and therefore the 
recommendation was to refuse the application.  

 
 Members’ attention was drawn to additional information contained within the 

update report. Comments had been received from Councillor Sue Allen and 
Councillor June Stokes, as Ward Councillors, in objection to the application.  

 
 Councillor June Stokes, Ward Councillor addressed the Committee on behalf of 

local residents.  In summary the concerns highlighted included: 
 

• The premises had been over expanded for the site, and this was a sign that 
they wished to expand further; 

• The business operated within an area that should be a quiet residential 
area of a conservation village; 

• The road was extremely narrow and had been blocked by lorries on 
numerous occasions; 

• Whilst lorries were parked, their refrigeration units were left running, 
causing fumes to enter nearby properties; 

• Properties had been damaged by vehicles entering and leaving the 
premises due to the narrow entrance; 

• Emergency vehicles wishing to access premises along the road may be 
hampered by other vehicles being parked along the road; 

• Residents had been disturbed early in the morning by workers and vehicles 
arriving prior to 7.00am and also by vehicles returning to the site late at 
night. 

 

11



  
 Mr Singer, a local resident, addressed the Committee in objection to the 

application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the concerns 
highlighted included: 

 

• There were always a number of vehicles parked along Cherry Orton Road; 

• The business had expanded beyond the site’s capacity; 

• The location was inappropriate for the nature of the business; 

• The business would only continue to expand, this would mean more 
employees also; 

• The duration of time that the lorries spent unloading was unacceptable for 
the local residents to contend with; 

• Why were the lorries permitted to unload along a public highway? 

• The lorries had caused damage to residential properties.  
  
 Members debated the application and raised concerns regarding a number of 

issues including the access for emergency vehicles along Cherry Orton Road and 
the overdevelopment of the site. 

 
 A motion was put forward and seconded to refuse the application. The motion was 

carried unanimously. 
  
 RESOLVED: (Unanimously) to refuse the application, as per Officer 

recommendation and: 
 
 1. The reason R1 as detailed in the committee report.  
 
 Reasons for decision: 
 
 The siting of the refrigerator would result in the loss of two residential parking 

spaces and an increase in the commercial floor space and cold storage capacity of 
the site. This was considered to be an intensification of the operation which could 
result in more parking and manoeuvring within the public highway and increased 
numbers of deliveries and noise, to the detriment of both the character of the Orton 
Waterville Conservation Area and the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
dwellings. This was contrary to policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy (DPD) 2011 and policies PP3 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies (DPD) 2012. 

  
The proposal was unacceptable having been assessed in light of all material 
considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of the development 
plan and for the specific reasons outlined above. 

 
 The meeting was adjourned for ten minutes. 
 
 Councillor Stokes re-joined the meeting.  
 
5.5 12/01429/FUL - Demolition of the existing building and erection of health 

centre (Use Class D1) with associated car parking, Newark Court, 7 Newark 
Avenue, Dogsthorpe, Peterborough 

12



 
The application site was approximately 0.47 hectares in area and was currently 
comprised of a vacant single storey building and associated car parking and 
access road.  The building was previously used by 'Best Deal 4 Baby' providing 
opportunity for the exchange of unwanted baby items albeit this use was never 
permitted and the lawful use of the building is for B1 offices.  In addition, part of the 
site area was formed by garden land associated with No.5 Newark Avenue, a 
residential dwelling.   

 
The site was located within a predominantly residential area, with residential 
dwellings enclosing the site to the north, south and east.  There was a variety of 
built form in the surrounding area, with a mix of size and style of dwellings along 
Newark Avenue, Eastfield Road and Derby Drive. To the north of the site was 
modern backland development comprising 4 no. flats.  To the south-west of the 
site was an established children's day nursery (Class D1).   

 
The application sought planning permission for the demolition of the existing 
building and construction of a new two storey medical centre (Class D1) 
comprising: 
 
- 8 no. consulting rooms; 
- 3 no. treatment rooms; 
- 2 no. Healthcare Assistant/Phlebotomy rooms; 
- 4 no. rooms for District Nurses, Health Visitors and District Midwife; 
- Ancillary office and staff accommodation; and 
- Pharmacy (100 square metres of floor area) 

 
The total gross internal floor area of the proposed surgery extended to 992.7 
square metres.  In addition to the above, the proposal included improvement to the 
existing vehicular access, provision of 41 car parking spaces (14 of which resulted 
from the change of use of part of the garden associated with a dwelling) and 
associated landscaping. The proposed new accommodation would provide 
replacement facilities for four GP practices located in the surrounding areas - 
Welland, Dogsthorpe, Parnwell, Burghley Road/Church Walk. 

 
 The Group Manager, Development Management, addressed the Committee and 

gave an overview of the proposal. The recommendation was to grant the 
application subject to the imposition of relevant conditions. 

 
 Members’ attention was drawn to additional information contained within the 

update report. Comments had been received from Councillor John Peach, Ward 
Councillor highlighting a number of issues, specifically in relation to the lack of on-
site parking provision. Councillor Chris Ash had also submitted comments 
concerning the impact on the surrounding highways and the lack of parking 
provision.  

 
 Eight further letters of support had been received for the proposal and a further 

letter of objection, and comments from a local resident. Further conditions had also 
been specified by the Highways Authority and an amendment to condition C6, as 
detailed in the committee report.  

 

13



 Councillor Pam Kreling, Ward Councillor addressed the Committee. In summary 
she stated that she was in favour of the proposal, however she had reservations 
with regards to the parking provision on site, 25 car parking spaces was not 
enough. The solution would be to knock down the bungalow, as procured by the 
Primary Care Trust. Furthermore, the egress of the site onto Newark Avenue could 
be dangerous, traffic signals at the Eastfield Road junction would need to be re-
timed and calming measures should be explored for Newark Avenue. 

 
 Councillor John Shearman, Ward Councillor addressed the Committee. In 

summary he supported the application in principle and he believed the parking 
provision to be adequate and he was also impressed with the consultation that had 
been undertaken, however he was concerned with the access and egress from the 
site, particularly the traffic leaving Eastern Avenue to cross Newark Avenue and 
then traffic leaving the site along this route. Traffic already banked up in this and 
this would make the current situation worse. There were possibilities that could be 
explored in order to mitigate this issue.  

 
 Mr Phil Branston, a local resident, addressed the Committee in objection to the 

application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the concerns 
highlighted included: 

 

• Mr Branston lived nearby and he had not been consulted on the proposals; 

• The application included a pharmacy and this would mean many more 
visits to the site; 

• Policy was not being followed on the application for A1 use, there needed 
to be proof of need for the facility; 

• The car parking provision was inadequate, this would encourage on street 
parking; 

• There had been no considered made for coaches visiting the site or drop 
off or pick up space; 

• The access and egress was poor; 

• During busy periods, the area would become even more congested than it 
was already; 

• The site was suitable for a medical practice but not on this scale. 
   
 Mr Stephen Leadbitter, Welland Medical Practice, addressed the Committee in 

support of the application and responded to questions from Members, Mr Stuart 
Walker, Allen Primary Care, was also present to answer questions. In summary 
the issues highlighted included: 

 

• The proposal was a much needed fit for purpose building for local residents 
and there was a lot of support; 

• There had been extensive consultation undertaken; 

• Due to the proposed opening times and the staggering of the GPs start 
times, it was felt that this would only have a minimal effect on peak travel 
times; 

• Could the Committee give consideration to condition 11, in relation to all 
first floor windows being obscured glazed and non-opening unless a certain 
amount above floor level, this would mean a less conducive working 
environment for the staff; 

14



• The building would be environmentally friendly; 

• There would only be five GPs working at the practice and not eight as 
stated; 

• The bungalow was not owned by the PCT, it was owned by the developers; 

• It would be financially unviable to utilise the whole area taken up by the 
bungalow by parking and it would also increase the traffic flow by 
implementing more spaces; 

• There was the possibility of a provision of a community minibus, a lottery 
grant had been applied for; 

• There would be two disabled parking spaces; 

• Appointments would last for ten minutes and therefore it was predicted that 
there would be around nine cars per hour travelling in and out of the site; 

• The pharmacy would only be available for patients and not to the general 
public; 

• There was a pelican crossing located 50 yards along the road for 
pedestrians. 

 
Following questions to the speakers and further questions to the Group Manager, 
Development Management and the Highways Officer, Members expressed 
concern in relation to the inadequate parking provision on site and the impact that 
the development would have on the highways network. 
 
Members commented that the car parking issue could be addressed by the 
demolition of the existing bungalow on site and the provision of more spaces.  
 
A motion was put forward and seconded to refuse the application, contrary to 
officer recommendation, to allow for the developers to work with Officers to come 
up with a new scheme. The motion was carried by 9 votes, with 1 voting against.   

  
 RESOLVED: (9 For, 1 Against) to refuse the application, contrary to Officer 

recommendation.  
 
 Reasons for decision: 
 

The proposal provided a level of car parking on site which was less that that 
considered necessary to serve the scale of development even taking into account 
the anticipated mode of transport of staff and customers visiting the site. Whilst 
some overspill parking could take place on street, such was the level of the 
shortfall in on site parking, that highway safety and the free flow of traffic on 
Newark Avenue was likely to be compromised. The proposal was therefore 
contrary to the provisions of Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012)  which sought to ensure that new development would not have an 
unacceptable impact on the highway network and provide appropriate and 
deliverable parking provision. 
  

5.6 12/01734/FUL – Proposed gypsy and travellers site for one extended gypsy 
family, containing two static caravans and two touring caravans, land to the 
south west side of Northey Road, Peterborough 

 

15



 The Committee was advised that the item had been withdrawn from the agenda by 
the Group Manager, Development Management. 

 
5.7 11/01778/R4FUL – Erection of 59 dwellings, land west of, Monarch Avenue, 

Fletton, Peterborough 
 

The application site covered an area of approximately 1.45 hectares. The land was 
previously used for allotments, but now is overgrown and unused. The City Council 
owned the site.  The site was bounded to the east by the two storey high 
residential properties of Monarch Avenue. To the north by allotments, beyond 
which were residential houses which fronted onto Fletton High Street. To the south 
of the site was a bridleway and then the large IKEA distribution centre, and to the 
east were redundant railway sidings and the East Coast railway line.   

 
Planning permission was sought for the erection of 59 affordable houses, 29 would 
be affordable rented and 30 would be shared ownership. The development would 
comprise of 44 x 3 bedroom and 15 x 2 bed properties, all of which were two 
storeys in height. The houses were a mixture of detached, semi-detached and 
terraced properties.   

 
A play area was also proposed on site. There was also an attenuation pond for 
surface water drainage.    

 
Vehicle access to the site was from Monarch Avenue, and the proposed layout 
allowed for possible vehicle access to the allotment land to the north should it be 
required in future.          

 
 The Group Manager, Development Management, addressed the Committee and 

gave an overview of the proposal. The recommendation was to grant the 
application subject to the imposition of relevant conditions.  

 
 Members’ attention was drawn to additional information contained within the 

update report. Comments had been received from Councillor Irene Walsh, Ward 
Councillor, the Wildlife Officer, the Police Architect Liaison Officer. There had also 
been amended plans received and an amended recommendation and additional 
condition.  

 
 Mr Mark Croker, Architect, Larkfleet Homes, addressed the Committee and 

responded to questions from Members. In summary the issues highlighted 
included: 

 

• Larkfleet aimed to build 200 units per year for private and affordable sales; 

• They had been involved in many schemes in Peterborough in the past few 
years; 

• This was a unique opportunity to bring funding into the area; 

• It was an important scheme for the Council; 

• The materials specified had been chosen to be in keeping with the area; 

• There were no garages to be provided within the scheme but there would 
be storage sheds and lockable bike storage; 

• The site had not been allotments for at least two years.  

16



Following questions to the speaker, Members commented that the proposal was a 
good opportunity to provide much needed affordable housing in the city. It was a 
well set out and planned development.   
 
A motion was put forward and seconded to approve the application, as per the 
revised recommendation and additional condition as detailed in the update report. 
The motion was carried by 9 votes, with 1 abstaining.   

  
 RESOLVED: (9 For, 1 Abstention) to approve the application, as per Officer 

recommendation, subject to: 
 

1. Delegated authority being granted to Officer to issue planning permission on 
completion of a further 14 day neighbour re-consultation on the amended 
plans, and provided no further adverse comments are received on the changes 
made that have not already been considered by the Committee; 

2. The conditions numbered C1 to C24 as detailed in the committee report; and 
3. An additional condition relating to the submission of a scheme of biodiversity 

enhancement measures for the area. 
 
 Reasons for decision: 
 

Subject to the imposition of the conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighting 
against relevant policies of the development plan and specifically: 
 

-  The site was allocated for housing use in the Site Allocations document,  
therefore the principle of residential use was acceptable and in accordance with 
Policy SA03 of the Site Allocations DPD; 

-  The development provided an acceptable safe vehicle access to the site,  
together with sufficient car parking. Therefore the proposal would not have any 
adverse impact upon highway safety. This was in accordance with Policy PP12 
of the adopted Planning Policies DPD; 

-  The proposal would not have any unacceptable adverse impact upon the 
amenities of existing neighbouring properties and therefore was in accordance 
with policy PP3 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD; 

-  Subject to the imposition of conditions to deal with surface water drainage the  
proposal was in accordance with Policy CS22 of the adopted Core Strategy 
DPD; 

-   Biodiversity enhancements were to be secured by way of a planning condition, 
in accordance with Policies PP16 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD and 
CS21 of the adopted Core Strategy DPD; and   

-  Subject to the imposition of conditions, the risk of contaminated land could be 
appropriately managed.   

 
5.8 12/01106/OUT – Residential development comprising up to 230 units, car 

parking, landscaping and associated works including means of access, 
Perkins Sports Association Club, Site North Of Ideal World, Newark Road, 
Peterborough 

 
The site formed a rectangular shape and covered an area of approximately 4.43 
hectares. The site lay within the north western section of the Perkins factory estate 

17



and comprised land formally used for recreation by factory workers. The recreation 
areas had not been in formal use since 2005 and were currently under-utilised and 
in poor condition.  

 
The site was bounded to the north by rear gardens to existing residences at 
Marriot Court and to the south by The Broadlands, a private access road for the 
Ideal World office building. The site was contained by Newark Road to the east 
and to the west by an internal access road serving the industrial estate.  Adjoining 
land uses comprised employment to the west of the site specifically the main 
Perkins facility and office buildings. Further employment uses were located 
immediately south of the site at Ideal World House. Residential uses were located 
immediately north of the site (Marriot Court) and to the east beyond Newark Road. 

 
Existing pedestrian and vehicle access to the site was from an internal access 
road via Vicarage Farm Road, also known as Gate 6 and from Oxney Road. An 
informal access point was available from Newark Road. 

 
The north and south sites were allocated in the Peterborough City Council Local 
Plan (First Replacement) 2005 for employment uses. Given the proximity of 
housing to the north and west of the site, housing was considered a more suitable 
use for the north site. The site was subsequently reallocated for housing in the Site 
Allocation Development Plan Document. 
 
Outline planning permission was sought for residential development. Up to 230 
units were proposed including the provision for 30% affordable housing and open 
space provision including equipped play areas. The average density of the 
proposed development was approximately 50 dwellings per hectare. The indicative 
masterplan indicated that the majority of the buildings were 2-3 storey with a small 
number of 4 storey flats on the south boundary. Access would be via two new 
accesses on Newark Road.  

 
In addition a bus gate was proposed along Newark Road. The bus gate would be 
sited between The Broadlands and Palmers Road junctions. The bus gate would 
have a CCTV / Camera and only buses, cycles and emergency vehicles would be 
allowed through it. This would mean that there would be no through traffic between 
The Broadlands and Palmers Road. 

 
 The Group Manager, Development Management, addressed the Committee and 

gave an overview of the proposal. The recommendation was to grant the 
application.  

 
 Members’ attention was drawn to additional information contained within the 

update report. A safety audit of the bus gate had been undertaken and the 
Highways Officers had no issues with the audit outcome. There were also a 
number of changes to conditions highlighted following a revised access drawing 
being submitted by the Applicant, a revision to the Section 106 and four further 
letters of objection.  

 
 Mrs Amaryllis Elphick, a local resident and Mr John Dadge, Barker Storey 

Matthews, speaking on behalf of Ideal Shopping, addressed the Committee in 
objection to the application and responded to questions from Members. In 

18



summary the concerns highlighted included: 
 

• The site maps outlined to the Committee were out of date and misleading, 
updates were outlined; 

• There were two existing accesses to the site, neither of which were outlined 
on the application;  

• The bus gate was completely redundant if existing access roads were 
utilised; 

• There was no reason why construction traffic could not use existing 
accesses; 

• CCTV footage would need to be dealt with in relation to the bus gate; 

• Ideal Shopping staff would be impacted by the bus gate and it would be a 
significant detriment to the staff; 

• Did the bus gate have to be the subject of a traffic regulation order, if so it 
would need to be subject to further public consultation. 

 
Following questions to the speaker and the Group Manager, Development 
Management, Members commented that the proposed bus gate would greatly 
inconvenience the employees of Ideal World. The site had had historically been 
used freely and imposing such a scheme would impact greatly on the site. 
 
In response to the concerns highlighted to Members, the Highways Officers 
outlined the reasons for the bus gates requirement.   
 
Following further questions to the Highways Officers, a motion was put forward 
and seconded to approve the application, with the revised conditions and Section 
106 agreement as detailed in the update report. The motion was carried by 8 
votes, with 2 voting against.   

  
 RESOLVED: (8 For, 2 Against) to approve the application, as per Officer 

recommendation, subject to: 
 

1. Conditions number C3 to C4, C7 to C16 and C18 to C30 as detailed in the 
committee report; 

2. The amended conditions numbered C1 to C2, C5 to C6 and C17 as detailed in 
the update report; 

3. The revision to the Section 106 agreement as detailed in the update report; 
and  

4. If the Section 106 was not completed within one month of the date of the 
resolution without good cause, the Head of Planning, Transport and 
Engineering Services be authorised to refuse planning permission for the 
reason R1 as detailed in the committee report. 

 
 Reasons for decision: 
 

Subject to the imposition of the conditions, the proposal was acceptable having 
been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighting 
against relevant policies of the development plan and specifically: 
 

19



- The site was allocated for housing and would provide housing to support the City 
Council's growth agenda; 

- The development would not have any significant adverse impact upon highway 
safety and safe access from the adopted Highway could be provided;  

- The development could be accommodated within the site without any significant 
adverse impact upon the amenities of the neighbouring properties; 

- The impacts of noise could be adequately mitigated; 
- The impact of the development upon the existing landscaping was not considered 
to be significant and as such was considered acceptable; 

- The impact of the proposed development upon ecology of the site was 
considered to be acceptable; 

- The development would allow for the provision of Public Open Space;  
- The site could be adequately drained and mitigation measures secured to deal 
with ground contamination; 

- The impact of the proposed development upon archaeology was considered to 
be acceptable;  

- The proposal would make a contribution towards the Council’s aspiration to 
become the Environment Capital of the UK; 

- Further to the submission of a viability appraisal the developers had 
demonstrated that the proposal could not pay the full POIS contribution. In order 
to deliver the regeneration of this site as part of the Council’s growth agenda a 
reduced contribution was acceptable in this instance; 

 
The proposal was therefore in accordance with Policies SA3 of the adopted Site 
Allocations DPD, and Policies CS02, CS08, CS10, CS11, CS12, CS13, CS14, 
CS16, CS19 and CS22 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD, Policies 
PP01, PP02, PP03, PP04, PP12, PP13, PP14, PP16, PP19, PP20 of the adopted 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD, and the provisions of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 
 

5.9 12/01119/FUL – Erection of single storey front extension to public house and 
external alterations to create shop fronts. Change of use of ground floor to 
form A1 retail and A5 takeaway units, including the installation of extraction 
equipment. Change of use of existing hotel rooms, raising the existing public 
house roof and installation of dormer windows to form three residential 
dwellings. Erection of first and second floor extension to side to form two 
residential dwellings. Change of use of garden area to parking, and 
reinstatement of parking provision at front – part-retrospective, The 
Westwood , 85 Mayors Walk, West Town, Peterborough 

 
The application site comprised a two storey semi-detached former public house 
located within an identified Local Centre.  The site occupied a prominent position 
within the street scene at the junction of Mayors Walk with Alderman's Drive and 
Nicholl's Avenue and benefitted from a double frontage. The existing building was 
unique within the locality, with architectural detailing including double storey brick 
and timber bay windows, projecting gable roofs and stone cills and lintels.  Parking 
was provided within a single storey garage to the rear of the site, adjacent to No. 
165 Alderman's Drive.   
 
The application sought planning permission for the following: 
 

20



- Erection of single storey front extension and external alterations to create new 
shop fronts;  

- Change of use of ground floor to form A1 retail and A5 takeaway unit, including 
the installation of extraction equipment;  

- Change of use of existing hotel rooms, raising the existing public house roof and 
installation of dormer windows to form three residential dwellings;  

- Erection of first and second floor extension to side to form two residential 
dwellings; and 

- Change of use of garden area to parking, and reinstatement of parking provision 
at front. 

 
The Committee was advised that works had already commenced on site and 
accordingly, the application was part-retrospective. 
 

 The Group Manager, Development Management, addressed the Committee and 
gave an overview of the proposal. The recommendation was to grant the 
application subject to the relevant conditions.  

 
 Members’ attention was drawn to additional information contained within the 

update report where it was highlighted that there had been four additional letters of 
objection received from local residents. 

 
 Councillor Yasmeen Maqbool and Councillor Nick Arculus, Ward Councillors, 

addressed the Committee and responded to questions from Members. In summary 
the concerns and issues highlighted included: 

 

• There was inadequate parking available on the site for the number of flats 
proposed; 

• There would be increased traffic flow and footfall to the site due to the 
takeaway; 

• There was concern about the adequacy of the bus routes; 

• The existing historical features on the building should be retained; 

• There was mixed feeling from local residents; 

• The most important aspect was the appearance of the building, it needed 
to be in keeping with the street scene; 

• The detail provided in relation to the provision of parking and the frontage 
of the building was not adequate enough for the Committee to grant the 
application. 

  
 Mr Ed Murphy, a City Councillor speaking as an objector, addressed the 

Committee. In summary the concerns highlighted included: 
 

• The property was situated within an extremely busy area; 

• The proposal would diminish the appearance of the area; 

• The façade of the building should be retained; 

• There was congestion in the area and the proposed takeaway would 
increase this; 

• The builders had already started on the site, what had they done to the 
front of the property already? 

• Many local residents were fearful that the property would be turned into yet 

21



another off license; 

• Further information with regards to the design needed to be provided prior 
to the Committee being able to make and informed decision.  

 
 Mr Tim Slator, Planning Consultant, addressed the Committee in support of the 

application. In summary the issues highlighted included: 
 

• The mixed use nature of the proposal was appropriate for the location; 

• The Officers comments and analysis contained within the committee report 
were endorsed; 

• There was a presumption to approve in Planning Policy for sustainable 
development; 

• The design was acceptable and retained the frontage of the former public 
house, the extension was also in keeping with the existing building; 

• The design was in keeping with the street scene; 

• The parking was an issue and did not meet the Peterborough City Council 
standards, however the previous usage generated parking requirements 
significantly in excess of those that would be generated by the current 
proposal; 

• The site was located within the local centre and near to regular bus routes; 

• The POIS scheme would be completed within the timescale specified; 

• There would be five flats in total, with two bedrooms each. 
 

Following questions to the speakers and the Group Manager, Development 
Management, Members expressed concerns that the proposal was located on an 
extremely busy junction, the parking was wholly insufficient and there had been 
insufficient information provided in relation to the frontage.   
 
The Group Manager, Development Management advised the Committee that 
consent was not required for a change of use to a takeaway, however there was a 
condition to limit the floorspace.  
 
Following further debate, concerns were highlighted and a motion was put forward 
and seconded to refuse the application, contrary to Officer recommendation, due 
to the inadequate parking provision on site, potential overdevelopment of the site 
in the area and the lack of detail provided in relation to the shop frontages, 
indicating what the proposal would look like within the street scene. The motion 
was carried by 9 votes, with 1 voting against.  

  
 RESOLVED: (9 For, 1 Against) to refuse the application, contrary to Officer 

recommendation. 
 
 Reasons for decision: 
 

The application site was not of a sufficient size to accommodate the level of 
development proposed.  The site could not accommodate sufficient car parking 
provision for both the retail/commercial and residential uses or sufficient private 
outdoor amenity space for occupants of the residential units.  As such, the 
application proposal represented overdevelopment of the site and was therefore 
contrary to Policies CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 

22



(2011) and Policies PP2, PP3, PP4 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).   

 
The application proposal failed to provide adequate car parking for the number of 
residents and customers that would result from the proposed development.  As 
such, the development was likely to result in cars parking on the already 
congested surrounding public highway network, in locations which would impede 
the free flow of traffic.  The proposal would therefore result in a danger to highway 
safety which was contrary to Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012).   

 
 The submitted plans contained insufficient detail for the proposed shop fronts and 

so it could not be established if the design was appropriate for the building given 
its original character in the street scene. The proposal was therefore contrary to 
Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) that sought to 
ensure that new development made a position design contribution to the locality.   

 
 The meeting was adjourned for ten minutes. 
 
 Councillor Harrington left the meeting. 
 
5.10 12/01543/WCPP – Revision to planning conditions resolved by Committee in 

December 2012 re the Regeneration of the Werrington Centre, Werrington 
Centre, Staniland Way, Werrington, Peterborough 

 
At its meeting on the 4 December 2012 the Committee resolved to approve 
planning permission for this application subject to: 
 

i) The completion of a Section 106 Planning Obligation in respect of a financial 
contribution towards -  payment for the existing community car park - public 
art - bus stop upgrades - a travel plan - travel plan monitoring contribution - 
CCTV provision – monitoring fee; and 

ii) 29 conditions. 
 
Since this decision the Applicant and the council’s Pollution Team had requested a 
series of changes to a small number of the conditions approved by Members and 
the addition of a new condition.  
 
The conditions that were in need of revision are set out below together with 
explanation of why the change was needed: 
 
Condition 15  
In its approved form the condition set different noise limits for fixed plant and 
machinery during the day time and night time periods. In error the Pollution Team 
referred to the wrong noise level, 38 dB LAeq, whereas it should have been 35 dB 
LAeq which is a lower noise level.    
 
Condition 19 
In its approved form, the condition required the details of the alterations to the 
access to Olympus House to be submitted for approval. However, as this access 

23



was not shown in the plans consider by committee as being altered, the condition 
is not required.  
 
Condition 25 

In its approved form, the condition required a management plan for the operation 
of the new pub and shop unit service yard as a way of mitigating and potential 
noise problems.  As the application as submitted and considered by the Committee 
made no changes to the pub element of the scheme approved back in 2009, in 
hindsight, it was unreasonable for officers to have recommended the condition to 
members. It is therefore now recommended by both Planning and Pollution Control 
Officers that the condition is removed. 
 
In addition to the above changes, it was considered that a new condition be added 
which sought details of the emissions from the proposed Combined Heat & Power 
Plant located in the service yard. This was a ‘belt and braces’ condition as the 
emissions would have to comply with other existing legislation relating to ‘clean 
air’. 
 
All other elements of the application and recommendation remain unchanged. 
 

 The Group Manager, Development Management, addressed the Committee and 
gave an overview of the proposal. The recommendation was to grant the revisions 
to the conditions and the imposition of an additional condition. 
 
A motion was put forward and seconded to approve the revisions to the conditions 
outlined and the imposition of the additional condition. The motion was carried 
unanimously.  

  
 RESOLVED: (Unanimous) to approve the changes in conditions and the 

imposition of an additional condition, as per Officer recommendation and as 
detailed below: 

 

  
1. Condition 15 now to read: 

 
C 15    The rating level of noise emitted from all fixed plant including 

stationary vehicle refrigeration noise sources, shall not exceed 35 
dB LAeq, 1 hour between 0700 and 2300 and 35 dB LAeq, 5 
minutes at any other time.  The noise levels shall be determined at 
the nearest noise sensitive premises.  The measurements and 
assessment shall be made according to BS:4142:1997.               

           Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the surrounding 
locality by ensuring a satisfactory noise environment is 
maintained in accordance with Policy CS16 of the adopted 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD. 

 
2. Condition 19 – To be deleted; 
3. Condition 25 – To be deleted; 
4. New condition to be added as follows: 

 
Notwithstanding the submitted information, prior to the 

24



construction of the supermarket, details (to enable an assessment 
of emissions associated with the plant) in relation to the CHP shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

              Reason: In order to protect and safeguard the amenity of the 
area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the adopted 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD. 

 
 Reasons for decision: 
 
 To ensure that all imposed conditions remained relevant and necessary. 
 
 In relation to the additional condition, to ensure the protection and safeguarding of 

the amenity of the area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the adopted 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD. 

 
6. Formal Adoption of Peterborough City Council’s Historic Environment 

Record – For Information  
 

A report was presented to the Committee following the requirement for the Cabinet 
Member for Housing, Neighbourhoods and Planning to formally adopt the City 
Council’s Historic Environment Record as the register of “sites of archaeological 
interest” within the terms of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995. This decision was proposed to be made exercising 
delegated authority within a Cabinet Member Decision Notice in accordance with 
the delegated authority under paragraph 3.3.3 of Part 3 of the constitution in 
accordance with the terms of the Cabinet Member’s portfolio at paragraph 3.8(a). 
 
The report was for information purposes only prior to the formal adoption of the 
Historic Environment Record. 
 
The Committee commented that the record was extremely important, well 
established resource.  
 
RESOLVED:  

 
The Committee noted the proposed adoption of Peterborough City Council’s 
Historic Environment Record within the terms of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 1995. 
 
Reasons for decision: 
 
Formal adoption was in accordance with the terms of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995. 

i) SMRs were first mentioned in the Town & Country Planning General 
Development Order 1988 which defined 'site of archaeological interest' as 
(in addition to sites covered by the Ancient Monuments and 
Archaeological Areas Act 1979) "land ... which was within a site 
registered in any record kept by a county council and known as the 
County Sites and Monuments Record". 

25



ii) This had been redefined in The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 1995 as "land ... which was within a site 
registered in any record adopted by resolution by a county council and 
known as a County Sites and Monuments Record " (italics added). 

 
In order to comply with this definition it was necessary to pass a formal resolution 
to adopt Peterborough City Council’s HER. Historically this requirement had 
been overlooked and was only identified within a recent audit undertaken.  

    
7. Extension of Speaking Arrangements for Consideration of the Great Haddon 

Planning Application for an Urban Extension (App. Ref: 09/01368/FUL) 
 

A report was presented to the Committee which sought its views in relation to 
considering alternative time allowances for speaking at the Planning and 
Environmental Protection Committee meeting, at which the urban extension at the 
Great Haddon site was to be considered. 
 
The Group Manager, Development Management addressed the Committee and 
outlined the main reasons for requesting Members to consider a possible 
extension, in the main those being to allow Officers to arrange, manage and liaise 
with interested parties prior to the meeting in a more effective and efficient manner. 
The existing speaking arrangements were detailed and it was noted that although 
any change could be agreed in principle, it could not be confirmed until the day, 
when the Committee would vote on any such proposal. 
 
The suggested alternative speaking times were outlined and Members debated 
them. A number of points were raised both for and against any extensions to time. 
 
Following debate, the Committee agreed a scheme in principle with the caveat that 
any extensions to the scheme would be approved by the Committee on the day of 
the meeting. 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
The Committee agreed a scheme in principle as follows: 
 
i) 20 minutes (total) be allowed for each of the following: 
 

(a) objectors; 
(b) applicant or agent and their supporters 

 
ii) 30 minutes (total) be allowed for speeches from Ward Councillors and Parish 
Councillors. 

 
iii) MPs be allowed to speak for 15 minutes. 

  
This was agreed with the caveat that any such extensions would be approved by 
the Committee on the day of the meeting. 
 
Reasons for decision: 
 

26



The Committee could not make a binding decision on an alternative amount of time 
to be allocated to speaking at a meeting of the Planning and Environmental 
Protection Committee, as the Constitution (Paragraphs 9.2. and 9.3 (under Part 4, 
Section 3) stated that such a decision could only be made on the day of the 
meeting when the alternative would be applied. However, in the interest of planning 
for the meeting, and to allow Officers to arrange, manage and liaise with interested 
parties prior to the meeting in a more effective and efficient manner, a view in 
principle was sought from Members. 
 
 
 

 
                                 1.30pm – 7.10pm 

                             Chairman 
 
 
 
 
 
 

27



28

This page is intentionally left blank



AB 
 

        MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION COMMITTEE  

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 5 MARCH 2013 
 

Members Present: Councillors Serluca (Chairman), Casey (Vice Chairman), Hiller, 
North, Stokes, Todd, Ash, Harrington and, Sylvester 

 
Officers Present:   Nick Harding, Group Manager Development Management   

Carrie Denness, Senior Solicitor 
Julie Smith, Transport and Engineering 
Karen S Dunleavy, Governance Officer 

 
1. Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Lane and Shabbir. 
 
Councillor Ash was in attendance as substitute for Councillor Lane. 
 

2. Declarations of Interests 
  
 Councillor Todd raised a non pecuniary interest in items.4.2 and 4.3, due to the 

applications being located within the Councillor’s ward area.  Councillor Todd 
advised that the ward association would not affect her questioning, debate or 
decision making contribution. 

 
3. Members’ Declaration of Intention to Make Representation as Ward 

Councillor 
  

There were no declarations of intention from any Member of the Committee to 
make representation as Ward Councillor on any item within the agenda.  

 
4. Development Control and Enforcement Matters 
 

The Chairman introduced a proposal to extend the speaking time for supporters 
and objectors from five to ten minutes for item 4.1 - 12/01734/FUL - Proposed 
gypsy and travellers site for one extended gypsy family containing two static 
caravans and two touring caravans.  Following a vote, the majority of Members 
were in agreement to extend the speaking time.  
 
The Solicitor confirmed to the Committee that there were no objectors speaking for 
item 4.1 
 
The Chairman introduced a request for Committee to allow Councillor Sanders to 
contribute to the Ward/Parish Councillor speaking time for item 4.1 - 12/01734/FUL 
- Proposed gypsy and travellers site for one extended gypsy family containing two 
static caravans and two touring caravans.  No objection was received for Councillor 

29



Sanders to make representation  
 

4.1   12/01734/FUL - Proposed gypsy and travellers site for one extended gypsy    
 family containing two static caravans and two touring caravans 

 
The site was approximately 0.54 hectares and was located on the south side of 
Northey Road approximately 1.5km from the urban area boundary and within land 
designated as open countryside.  The site was on agricultural land. The site lies 
within the southern boundary of the Flag Fen Bronze Age Settlement, which was 
now designated as a Scheduled Ancient Monument, (SAM).  To the east was 
sporadic residential dwellings and the Northey Lodge Carp Fishing Lakes, 
otherwise the surrounding character was flat open agricultural land.  An area of 
rough scrub land to a height of a maximum of 2m lay between the site and Northey 
Road. The site lay at a lower level than the public highway. The SAM was located 
to the west, north and north east of the application site and covers an area of 
approximately 48sq.ha. 
 
The proposal was for the residential use of the site by one Gypsy family currently 
residing at the Oxney Road caravan site. The living accommodation would include 
two static caravans and two touring caravans. There was to be parking for four 
vehicles. It was apparent from the submitted drawings that the static caravans 
were in effect mobile homes. The sizes of these were to be 9m long by 3m wide 
and would comprise one double bedroom. The touring caravans would have a 
length of 9m and a width of 2.5m.  The caravans were to be located to the north of 
centre of the site and the parking spaces were sited immediately alongside the 
touring caravans. The vehicular access would use the same access that serves the 
field at present through the eastern boundary of the site off Northey Road.  
 
The proposal showed extensive planting of native plant species and wild flowers as 
part of the landscaping within all four boundaries. The application details showed 
that the land within the landscaped areas would be raised by a 0.75m by the 
importation of top soil. The caravans would not include any foundations. All foul 
water was to be pumped into an above ground septic tank to be located close to 
the northern boundary of the site adjacent to the caravans. As the application site 
lay within a SAM, English Heritage would also be required to provide its approval 
for the development under the SAM consent regime. 
 
Officer’s recommendation was to refuse the site on the grounds of the disputed 
archaeological evidence which should be examined by the Planning Committee 
and in addition to be was mindful that government policy was to promote the 
creation of more private Traveller sites.  Reasons for Officer recommendations for 
refusal were: 
 

• The proposal would be damaging to the SAM; 

• Development would be degrading to the landscape setting to the SAM; 

• Whilst there was an urban back drop to the west of the SAM, the landscape 
in the east was much more open and sparsely occupied by buildings and 
this proposal would radically alter the appearance of the open aspect; and 

30



• Development would damage buried archeological remains by changing the 
hydrology of the area, which had been key to the preservation to the 
archeological remains associated with Flag Fen; 

• Approval for the proposal it set a precedence would lay way for more 
sporadic development; 

• The report received from the applicant stating that there would be no 
damange to the SAM was flawed as it was written on the assumption that 
the development would be temporary and it seems only to asses the impact 
of the development looking westward and northward and not east and north 
east; and 

• The proposed site not easily accessed by foot or cycle to facilities such as 
shops and schools and would not be safe as of the visibility splays.  

 
Councillor Sanders and Parish Councillor Bartlett addressed the Committee.  In 
summary the main points highlighted included: 
 

• During the 1980s an area south of the site was purchased by Travellers 
and many tons of rubble had been deposited on the site to prepare for 
installation of a Travellers site;   

• Due to archaeological reasons the 1980s development had resulted in legal 
action being taken by the Council through the High Court, which had 
incurred exponential costs in legal fees and removal of the rubble from the 
site;  

• The recent Eye bypass and Car Dyke bridge installation and the important 
of the Flag Fen survey had impacted the application; 

• The 60 mile an hour limit combined with the lack of visibility on the ingress 
and egress for the proposed site access, had posed road safety issues; and 

• Ward Members appreciate the need to address Travellers accommodation, 
unfortunately the proposed site would be an inappropriate placement due to 
the SAM restrictions.   

 
Councillor Sanders and Parish Councillor Bartlett’s responses to questions and 
comments included: 
 

• The need to accommodate Traveller sites was of the upmost importance; 
however, the proposed site was the wrong place;  

• Local residents, which had included one land owner and eight residents 
had relayed their objections in writing; and  

• The Chairman clarified to the Committee that Ward and Parish Councillors 
had consulted residents over the site proposal, and that detail were listed 
within the report. 

 
The agent Barry Nicholls, Mr Willers and Jodie Mathews addressed the 
Committee.  In summary the main points highlighted included:  
 

• Travellers had to live somewhere and the Council had a reputation of 
refusing these applications;  

• There may be damage to the site following the development in 1980; 

• The application was extended to accommodate a Gypsy family and the 
family had the right to live in a peaceful open space and not be forced to 

31



live in city residential accommodation;  

• The Council’s suggestion to indentify an alternative site should be explored;  

• The family had not placed their dwellings on the site and therefore the 
application was not retrospective; 

• The Council should explore solutions to the road safety issues highlighted, 
as the most roads in the area were appalling and needed investment; 

• Technically the site conforms to all the family’s needs; 

• Consideration should be give to applying a condition to resolve the highway 
issues, particularly if a refusal case was to go to appeal; 

• The Romany family lived on the Oxney Road site which was over crowded 
and deemed in a poor condition following a survey conducted in 2008; 

• Inspectors had highlighted in recent inspections that there was a substantial 
need to find sustainable Travellers sites; 

• It should be noted that the need to provide further Traveller sites should 
positively outweigh the objections received from English Heritage regarding 
impact to the SAM; 

• The road leading up to Flag Fen and adjacent to the proposed site had 
been blighted by clutter which had included a field shelter and dilapidated 
van; 

• Appreciation of the setting would only be gained on arrival towards Flag 
Fen Heritage Park and the entrance itself; 

• The SAM designation had happened after the applicant had purchased the 
land some years ago and the applicant had every intension of moving on to 
the site before the designation, however this was hindered by the planning 
permission and SAM consent;  

• The application included landscaping, which would be in keeping with the 
surrounding area; 

• The proposal was a no dig development and there would be no 
undergrounds works, which would not affect the hydrology; and 

• The access to the site would be installed in accordance with the local 
highway authority, so there was no risk of disturbing buried artefacts. 

 
Following questions to speakers the Planning Officer, Highway Officer and Senior 
Solicitor responded to questions, which included: 
 

• No evidence had been provided throughout the planning application such as 
speed surveys that showed a reduced visibility splay would be acceptable; 

• Highways had made reference to the appropriate guidance and Mr Willers 
comments regarding estate roads and the use for manual streets was 
inappropriate as it was not a safe road;  

• There were currently green and blue splays of 2.4 by 215m which had 
spanned across neighbouring land, which was outside of the applicants 
control.  The landowner was entitled to install a fence at anytime and as the 
land was third party land, the Council would be prevented in applying a 
condition over the splays;  

• The unauthorised development of land was in relation to Gypsy touring 
caravans with storage container and was currently under enforcement action 
for removal; 

• The Traveller site provision was an important local issue, however the SAM 
was of significant national importance; 

32



• There would be a detrimental impact on the aesthetics of the land and risks 
that the weight of such a development would depress the archaeological 
remains if the application was approved; 

• Any development would upset the hydrology, which would affect or upset the 
buried remains;   

• Each planning application should be considered on own its merits; 

• If Committee were minded to grant the application, it would be stating quite 
clearly that it was acceptable in policy terms.    

• If planning permission for development was granted on a SAM area and the 
Council was forced to rescind the permission, there would be legal and 
compensation cost implications;  and 

• No risks had been received from the Environment Agency over flooding. 
 
Following questions to speakers and officers Members debated further, comments 
included: 
 

• There were arguments for both sides of the debate due to the lack of 
Traveller sites; 

• It was not suitable to site the development so far from facilities 

• The Environment Agency’s lack of concern over flooding had concerned 
Members as the proposed site was situated on a flood plain; 

• There were seventy three private and Council owned pitches, which was to 
accommodate the Travelling community, and investigation to identify further  
suitable sites was ongoing by the Council; 

• Sympathy was given to the Gypsy family wishing to find a peaceful area to 
reside on; however the proposed site was unsuitable due to the Heritage and 
SAM;  

• If any damage occurred on the SAM, it would be impossible to rectify; 

• Flag Fen was a vast and very fragile structure and great consideration would 
have been given to mark up the area in order to preserve the archaeology;  

• There was a danger that approval would set a president for further 
development and therefore, would cause damage to the SAM. 

• Although the need of the family was appreciated, the need was outweighed 
by the preservation of the heritage site 

 
Following further debate and questions by Members regarding planning permission 
being sought, a motion was put forward and seconded to approve Officer 
recommendations to refuse the planning application. The motion was carried by 8 voting 
for and 1 Member not voting.   

 
RESOLVED: to refuse the application as per Officer recommendation. 
 
Reasons for the decision: 

 
Whilst it was acknowledged that there was a shortfall in the supply of pitches for 
Gypsies and Travellers, it did not outweigh the detriment that would arise in 
respect of: 
 

1 – Impact on the setting of the SAM; 
2 – Impact on buried archaeological remains;  

33



3 – The site being too distant from key services; and 
4 – An unsafe vehicular access. 

 
4.2  13/00064/MMFUL - Proposed change of use to vehicle dismantling and 
 recycling Warehouse B1, First Drove, Fengate, Peterborough - ASR 
 Autobreakers 
 

The proposed site lay within an existing area of industrial development on First 
Drove, Fengate within the 'Eastern General Employment Area' (Peterborough Site 
Allocations DPD - April 2012, Policy SA11; GEA3). The site was surrounded to all 
sides by commercial / industrial premises, and was separated from the nearest 
residential properties to the north by a warehouse. The site was accessed via First 
Drove, and the two single storey industrial units comprising the site were accessed 
via a securely gated yard. 

 
The proposal was to use the existing yard and buildings for the dismantling of 
vehicles for export. Two people would be employed on site dismantling 
approximately five vehicles per week which would be brought to the site on a flat 
bed vehicle transporter van. Vehicle parts would then be stored and loaded into a 
shipping container for collection approximately once every six weeks. 
 
The Officers recommendation was to grant the permission subject to relevant 
conditions  CS 9, CS 14, CS20 and CS22. 
 
The Barry Nicholls addressed the Committee in objection to the application.  In 
summary the main points included:  
 

• There appeared to be a difference in standards in the consideration of 
applications for similar sites; 

• Clarification was sought over whether a traffic survey had been conducted 
in order to identify the number of deliveries expected; 

• There was no condition attached over catchment/pollution tanks and 
junction improvements;   

• The application should be subject to a S106 agreement in order to improve 
the junctions.   

 
Mr Nicholls responses to Members questions and comments, in summary 
responses included: 
 

• The main objection to the application aside from the lack of funding to 
improve the junction was the lack of introduction of conditions for pollution 
tankers;  

• A survey had not been conducted by Highways in order to review the 
historical information over deliveries for the old saw mill and the old 
recycling businesses that operated on the site in order to confirm the 
anticipated lorry deliveries for the new proposal;   

• Before enforcement action was taken over the illegally operated recycling 
site, the site had received weekly deliveries from forty foot lorries; 

• Mr Nicholls site was situated at the far end of First Drove and behind the 
greyhound stadium and was not in use due to the awaited implementation 

34



of the conditions imposed by Planning Committee; 

• Mr Nicholls site was previously used as a water filtration station by Anglian 
Water; and 

• The proposal would affect Mr Nicholls site in terms of costs for the 
provision of junction improvements and water catchment, waste and 
pollution conditions. 

 
The agent Mr Smith addressed the Committee.  In summary the main points included: 
 

• Use of the two buildings in the First Drove area were intended for the 
recycling of motor vehicles; 

• Planning permission was original given in 1962 for the errection of a timber 
yard and saw mill, and at the time, there no conditions were placed on the 
industrial use of the site;   

• All recycling operations would be carried out inside the buildings; 

• The proposed use was relatively low key compared to other units in the 
vicinity;  

• Dismantling would take part in one building with storage of the recycled parts 
in the second.   Solid waste material would be placed in a skip and removed 
by an approved contractor; waste fluids would also be stored separately; 

• Approximately every six weeks a container lorry would arrive on site to collect 
the recycle parts for export;  

• Highways had not raised any objection to the application;  

• There was no detrimental environmental impact on residents living in the 
vicinity of the site; 

• In the event that planning permission was granted, a grant from the 
environment agency would need to be applied for to ensure that the correct 
recycling processes were being conducted;  

• The recent enforcement action on the proposed site had involved a different 
operator, which may have caused confusion over vehicle deliveries; 

• Mr Nicholls site was a greenfield site and had been reviewed by Highways 
accordingly, which had resulted in Planning Committee imposing the 
appropriate conditions.  In light of this the two sites should not be compared; 
and  

• If granted, the site would fall inline with the industrial use regulations B2. 
  

 
Mr Smith responded to questions raised by Councillors. In summary responses 
included: 
 

• The approximate number of vehicles arriving at the site was five vehicles a 
week,  

• The recycled vehicles would be collected every six weeks using a forty foot 
lorry; 

• Exact traffic movement numbers pertaining to the previous business 
operators, was not apparent to the current agent or site occupiers;  

• The noise levels of a saw mill would be far more intrusive to that of hand 
held tools used to dismantle vehicles.   

 
Following questions raised by Members, the Planning Officer and Highways Officer 

35



provided clarification over some of the points raised.  In summary responses 
included:   
 

• That the applicant was not the same business operator being prosecuted 
by the Environment Agency; 

• The application was not retrospective; 

• Mr Nicholls site was a virgin site, which would generate extra traffic which 
was why it was treated in accordance with planning policy; 

• Mr Nichols business had involved metal being tipped out into various 
silos, which was why the appropriate conditions were imposed through 
planning consent;  

• Restrictions and conditions for operating hours, noise levels, 
management plans and S106 money for junction improvements were 
applied to new sites.  

 
Following debate, Members commented that consideration should be given over 
whether conditions such as traffic volumes, amount of deliveries; non burning of 
waste material, and the environmental impact for residents should be introduced.   
 
The Planning Officer advised that it would be permissible for the Committee to 
include the following conditions: 
 

• There was to be no burning of waste; and 

• Stock piling of vehicles waiting to be recycled would not exceed a height of 
5 metres. 

 
Following debate a proposal was put forward and seconded, a motion was put 
forwarded to grant the application, subject to the inclusion of the additional 
conditions regarding waste burning and storage.  The motion was carried by 7 
votes for, 1 against and 1 Member not voting 
 
RESOLVED: as per Officer recommendation subject to the inclusion of the 
following conditions: 
 
(i) No burning of waste was to be carried out by the recycling facility; and  
(ii) A maximum limit for storage vehicles for recycling would not exceed 5 

metres. 
 
Reasons for the decision: 
 
The NPPF stated that there was a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development - in terms of decision making this means approving development 
proposals that accord with the development plan without delay. Although the 
proposal was for a waste management use outside an allocated area the site was 
acceptable for the use as it fell within the Eastern General Employment Area. The 
proposal did not represent an intensification of use at the site, and furthermore, to 
allay any residual concerns relating to parking and manoeuvring of vehicles 
beyond the site boundary sufficient space can be retained within the site for such 
purposes by condition to ensure the proposal fully accords with planning policy in 
relation to transport implications of the development. Amenity and environmental 

36



impacts of the development would be satisfactorily controlled by conditions and the 
proposal would also be subject of environmental permitting regulations. The 
proposal therefore accords with policies CS18, CS34 and CS35 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy, policy 
SA11 of the Peterborough Site Allocations DPD and policies PP1 and PP12 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. There was no reason not to approve the 
application in line with Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act. 
 

4.3  12/01106/OUT - Residential development comprising up to 230 units, car   
 parking, landscaping and associated works including means of access 
 Perkins Sports Association Club, Site North Of Ideal World, Newark Road, 
 Peterborough 
 

At its meeting on 19th February 2013, Committee resolved to grant planning 
permission for the development subject to the signing of a Section 106 agreement. 
The scope of the Sec 106 was outlined to Committee in the presented report and 
included an off site public open space contribution of £447460 required as a result 
of a shortfall in the amount of open space that was being provided on the 
application site itself. Since the Committee meeting, it has been established that 
the site would now meet its open space requirement in full on site. This meant that 
an off site contribution was not now required.     
 
The 2012 Adopted Peterborough Planning Policies DPD Policy PP14 had set out 
how much open space should be provided on new housing developments. The 
proposal would meet its open space requirements on site save for: 
 
1. The strategic country park and natural greenspace elements which were 
provided for by way of the POIS contribution being made by the development; 
and 

2. Allotment provision which would be accommodated by capacity on existing 
allotments nearby 

 
As the development would comply with the open space requirements set down in 
the Adopted Planning Policies DPD 2012, there was no need for the developer to 
make an off site contribution towards off site open space provision. 
 
Officer’s recommendation was for the Committee to approve the removal of 
£447,460 contribution towards off site open space provision for the S106 
requirements for the development.  
 
Following presentation of the proposal the Planning Officer responded to 
questions.  In summary, responses included: 
 

• The on site open space provision was slightly larger than a football pitch; 

• The POIS contribution for the development would remain at the agreed 
amount, which had included the £150k reduction given due to site viability;  

• The original development scheme would have provided more open space 
over houses, which was why the S106 reduction was being sought;   

• The Governments MPPF document, had stated viability should be taken 

37



into consideration to promote sustainability;   

• It would be difficult to impose conditions within the reserve matters of the 
application regarding timescales over the introduction of open spaces, due 
to the safety issues of placing play areas on a building sites; 

• Under planning policy and provision of open spaces for new sites, there 
was a level of flexibility to be given over the types of opens spaces such as 
children’s play and sports areas and their location.  The Committee would 
need to be mindful over the overall size of the open space being provided, 
which should accommodate the development needs and whether there was 
already provision established in nearby areas; and     

• A 30% provision of affordable housing would still apply to the application. 
The request had sought the approval of reduction in the S106 contribution. 

 
Following responses to questions a motion was put forward and seconded to 
approve Officer the recommendation to reduce the S106 contribution.  The motion 
was carried by 7 votes with 1 abstention and 1 Member not voting. 
 
RESOLVED: as per Officer recommendation, to reduce the S106 contribution 
previously approved by Committee. 
 
Reasons for the decision: 

 
 The developers were providing a sizable amount of open space.   

         
         

 
 
 
 
 

1.30pm – 3.38pm   
                   Chairman  

38



39



40

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

 
Planning and Environmental Protection Committee 19 March 2013 Item No. 5.1   
 
 
Application Ref:  09/01368/OUT 
 
Proposal: Development of an urban extension comprising up to 5350 residential dwellings; a District 

Centre (with up to 9200 square metres (99031 sq.ft) retail floor space) and two 
Neighbourhood Centres (with up to 2300 square metres (24758 sq.ft) retail floor space) 
comprising district/neighbourhood retail (A1-A5); community and health (C2, D1); 
leisure(D2); residential (C3) and commercial (B1) uses. Provision for education facilities 
(sites for three primary and one secondary school); sports and recreational facilities; a 
range of strategic open spaces including new landscaping, woodland and allotments; and 
cemetery provision.  Associated highway infrastructure (including pedestrian, bridleway and 
cycle routes), public transport infrastructure and car parking for all uses. Utilities and 
renewable energy infrastructure; foul and surface water drainage networks (including suds 
and lakes)  

Site: At land to the north of Norman Cross, east of the A1(M) and west of London Road (A15) 
Peterborough 

 
Applicant: O & H Properties Ltd, Marlborough Oasis Ltd, Barrett Strategic (The Great Haddon 

Consortium) 
Referred by: Head of Planning Transport and Engineering 
Reason: Major Strategic Application 

 
Case Officers: Lee Collins and Vicky Hurrell 
Telephone:   01733 454421 and 453480 
E-mail: lee.collins@peterborough.gov.uk and victoria.hurrell@peterborough.gov.uk  
 

Recommendation: The Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering recommends that the application 
be approved subject to (a) conditions, (b) a further report to Planning and Environmental Protection 
Committee to agree the review mechanism for the S106 and (c) the satisfactory completion of an 
obligation under the provisions of Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990   
 
1  DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND SURROUNDINGS/ SUMMARY OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
The Site and Surroundings 
The application site is some 305.58 hectares in size and located on the western edge of the 
administrative area of Peterborough. 
 
To the north east the site adjoins Orton Pit Special Site of Scientific Interest (SSSI)/ Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC), a site of international ecological importance for its populations of Great Crested 
Newts and Stoneworts (aquatic invertebrates). Adjacent to this is Haddon Lake and further to the north 
east the existing development of Hampton.  
 
To the north west immediately adjoining the application site is a wooded area known as ‘Two Pond 
Coppice’ and ‘Chamber’s Dole’. This woodland is within private ownership and does not form part of the 
proposed Great Haddon urban extension. Beyond the woodland is the Great Haddon employment area 
which has consent for a mix of B1 (office and light industry), B2 (general industrial) and B8 uses 
(warehousing and storage) (see planning permission 09/01369/OUT). Further to the north west is 
Alwalton Hill which has a detailed permission for up to 172 000 square metres of B8 development with 
ancillary offices in 5 buildings (applications 06/00346/OUT and 09/00725/REM refer).  
 
To the east is the village of Yaxley and the A15 which also adjoins the southern boundary of the site. 
Further south beyond the A15 is the open landscape of the Fens. The south west corner of the 
application site adjoins a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) (reference CB268) containing the 
remains of a Napoleonic Prisoner of War Camp. Adjacent to the SAM is the settlement of Norman Cross. 
Two of the houses within Norman Cross are Listed (the former house of the camp Commandant now 
known as Norman House and the old Governor’s House including the Barrack Master’s Lodge). Three 

41



 2 

other Listed structures are located to the south and west of the application site; these comprise the 
Eagle Monument (moved from its original location to the west of the application site) and two mile posts 
(one on the A15 and one on the Old Great North Road). There are three groups of trees covered by Tree 
Preservation Orders (TPO) located within the gardens of existing dwellings (Norman House (TPO 9.90), 
Norman Cottage (TPO 22.90) and the Barrack Master’s Lodge (TPO 176). All the Listed buildings and 
TPO trees are located within Huntingdonshire District. 
 
To the west of the application site is the Old Great North Road which has a number of existing properties 
along it. Further west is the A1(M). Beyond the A1(M) to the south west are the villages of Stilton and 
Folksworth whilst to the north west is the village of Haddon which is accessed via the Old Great North 
Road. 
 
The site is largely in agricultural use and contains two farmsteads. A number of footpaths/bridleways 
(footpath numbers 12 and 14, bridleways 2 and 11 (which is part of the Green Wheel)) cross it.  
 
The Stanground Lode and its northern tributary flow through the site along with other drainage channels 
which form part of the current field drainage system.  
 
Also within the site area are two areas of existing woodland (known as the Yaxley Woodland and Madam 
White’s Covent), a number of individual trees (not covered by TPOs) and hedges mainly associated with 
the existing field boundaries, and several small ponds.  
 
Summary of the Proposal 
Two outline planning applications, with all matters reserved for detailed consideration at a later stage, 
were submitted in December 2009 for a new urban extension known as Great Haddon. The employment 
area was approved in May 2011 (see application reference 09/01369/OUT).  
 
This application relates to what is termed the ‘core area’. The main elements of the proposal can be 
summarised as follows:- 

• Construction of up to 5350 dwellings; 

• A new district centre with up to 9200 square metres of retail floor space and provision for 
community uses (C2/D1) , leisure (D2) and offices (B1); 

• Two local centres with up to 1150 square metres of retail floor space and provision for community 
uses  (C2/D1) , leisure (D2) and office uses (B1); 

• Three primary schools- one of 3FE and 2 of 2FE; 

• Secondary school of 7FE and 245 pupil sixth form; 

• A range of open space including sports and recreational facilities; 

• Highways infrastructure including a new road through the site connecting to the consented 
Western Peripheral Road at the north (see 04/01204/FUL and 04/01900/FUL) and the A15 to the 
south, a new loop road from the A15, and two new junctions onto the Old Great North Road. 

• Diversion of existing footpaths and bridleways within the site; 

• A mix of building heights to a maximum of 15 metres within the District Centre; 

• A range of measures to prevent unauthorised access into Orton Pit SSSI/SAC; 

• Areas of ecological mitigation and habitat enhancement;  

• The creation of a buffer area some 90-100 metres in depth to the Schedule Ancient Monument; 

• The creation of a buffer some 35-40 metres in depth to the A15; 

• A buffer some 15-20 metres in depth to the Old Great North Road.; 

• Buffer planting some 15-20 metres wide to Norman Cross; 

• Associated attenuations ponds and surface water drainage; 

• Associated foul drainage infrastructure. 
 
The application is supported by the following documentation:  

• Design and Access Statement;  

• Planning Statement;  

• Environmental Statement;  

• Access Management Strategy for Orton Pit SSSI/SAC; 

• Transport Assessment and Travel Plan; 

• Flood Risk Assessment; 

42



 3 

• Retail Impact Assessment; 

• Viability Appraisal 
 

With the exception of the Transport Assessment, Travel Plan and Retail Assessment the supporting 
information submitted relates to both the employment area and core area. The applications were 
progressed in tandem until December 2010 when Roxhill (Peterborough) Limited purchased the 
employment area. 
 
The application originally included provision for five gypsy and traveller pitches which were subsequently 
removed from the scheme (see section 5 part 1 below). 
 
The application site lies wholly within Peterborough. Land immediately to the south and west, including 
the village of Yaxley, the A15 until the north of Yaxely, the Old Great North Road, the SAM and listed 
buildings are within Huntingdonshire District. Cambridgeshire County Council is the relevant highway 
authority for the roads within Huntingdonshire District. 
 
2  PLANNING HISTORY 
The following applications are listed as being of most relevance and with reference being made to them 
elsewhere in this report. 
 

Application 
Number 

Description Date Decision 

09/01369/OUT 

Development of up to 65 hectares of employment land 
(B1, B2 and B8 including safeguarding of a site for a 
household recycling centre/park and ride).  Associated 
highway infrastructure (including pedestrian, bridleway 
and cycle routes), and car parking for all uses. Foul and 
surface water drainage networks (including SuDS and 
lakes) 

31.05.2011 
Conditional 
Approval 

09/00725/REM 

Details of siting, design and external appearance of the 
warehouse buildings (5 individual units with maximum of 
172,000 sq metres floor space) with ancillary offices, car 
parking and service yards and the landscaping of the 
site including strategic landscaping, new woodland lakes 
and ponds the provision of public art (Reserved Matters 
to application 06/00346/OUT) 

16.10.2009 
Conditional 
approval 

06/00346/OUT 

Development of warehouse and distribution units (max 
of 5 individual units with a max of 172,000 square 
metres floorspace) with ancillary office space, together 
with access road, car parking, service yards, new 
woodland, landscaping, lake, ponds and screen bunding 

08.09.2006 
Conditional 
approval 

04/01900/FUL 

Construction of new highway link (the Western 
Peripheral Road) stages 2 and 3 and associated 
infrastructure (as amended) Land at Hampton Vale 
West, Hampton 

29.08.2008 
Conditional 
approval 

04/01204/FUL 
New highway link between Hargate Way and junction 2 
of the Fletton Parkway  

22.02.2005 
Condition 
approval 

91P556/ 
91/0815 

Development of a township (Hampton) to include 
approximately 5200 houses together with community, 
educational, social, industrial and commercial areas with 
associated open space, road and infrastructure 

09.03.2001 
Conditional 
approval 

 
3  PLANNING POLICY 
 
In order to comply with section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 decisions must 
be taken in accordance with the development plan policies set out below, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2012 
 
The following key policies are of relevance:- 
 

43



 4 

Economic Growth- Planning should encourage sustainable growth and significant weight should be 
given to supporting economic development.  
 
Retail Development Outside Town Centres- A sequential test should be applied to applications 
(except in relation to applications for small scale rural offices or other development). Proposals which fail 
the sequential test or would have an adverse impact should be refused. 
   
Retail, Leisure and Office Development Outside Town Centres- Should be subject to an Impact 
Assessment on existing, committed and planning public/private investment in a centre(s) and on town 
centre vitality and viability. If there is no local threshold, 2,500 sq m will apply. Proposals which would 
have an adverse impact should be refused. 
 
Assessment of Transport Implications- Development which generates a significant amount of traffic 
should be supported by a Transport Statement/Transport Assessment.  It should be located to minimise 
the need to travel/ to maximise the opportunities for sustainable travel and be supported by a Travel 
Plan. Large scale developments should include a mix of uses. A safe and suitable access should be 
provided and the transport network improved to mitigate the impact of the development.  
 
Good Design- Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of 
place; optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities 
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate 
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for development of 
poor design.   
 
Safe and Accessible Environments- Development should aim to promote mixed use developments, 
the creation of strong neighbouring centres and active frontages; provide safe and accessible 
environments with clear and legible pedestrian routes and high quality public space.   
 
Adapting and Mitigating Climate Change- Energy efficiency improvements to existing buildings should 
be supported. New development should comply with local policies for decentralised energy supply 
unless it can be demonstrated that this is not feasible or viable. Account should be taken of the landform, 
layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption. 
   
Development and Flood Risk- New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to 
the impacts of climate change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by 
directing it away from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe 
without increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-
specific Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test.   
 
Biodiversity- Development resulting in significant harm to biodiversity or in the loss of/deterioration of 
irreplaceable habitats should be refused if the impact cannot be adequately mitigated, or compensated.  
Proposals to conserve or enhance biodiversity should be permitted and opportunities to incorporate 
biodiversity into new development encouraged.   
 
Development within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest or other specified spites should not 
normally be permitted  where an adverse effect on the site’s notified special interest features is likely. An 
exception should only be made where the benefits clearly outweigh the impacts.  
The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where development requiring 
Appropriate Assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directives is being considered or determined.   
 
Contamination- The site should be suitable for its intended use taking account of ground conditions, 
land stability and pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation. After remediation, 
as a minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990.      
 
Conservation of Heritage Assets- Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/ enhancing 
heritage assets; the positive contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including 
economic viability; and the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 

44



 5 

character and distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should 
be given to the asset’s conservation.   
 
Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or total 
loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the harm/ loss.  In 
such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will proceed after the 
harm/ loss has occurred.   
 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
 
The following key policies are relevant to this application:- 
 
CS1- The Settlement Hierarchy- Ranks settlements according to their size and range of services and 
therefore capacity for growth. New development should primarily be focused within the city of 
Peterborough including the proposed urban extensions. 
 
CS2- Spatial Strategy for the Location of Residential Development- sets of the broad distribution 
and number of new dwellings within each element of the settlement hierarchy. 
 
CS3- Spatial Strategy for the Location of Employment Development- Sets out the key locations for 
new employment development including the Great Haddon employment area (65 Ha). 
 
CS5- Urban Extensions- Promotes development at Hampton, Stanground South and Paston Reserve 
and new urban extensions at Great Haddon and Norwood subject to key criteria being met. 
 
CS8- Meeting Housing Needs- Promotes a mix of housing the provision of 30% affordable on sites of 
15 of more dwellings (70% social rented and 30% intermediate housing), 20% life time homes and 2% 
wheelchair housing.  
 
CS10- Environment Capital- Development should make a clear contribution towards the Council’s 
aspiration to become Environment Capital of the UK. 
 
CS11 Renewable Energy- Opportunities to deliver on site or decentralised renewable or low carbon 
energy systems will be supported on appropriate sites where there are no unacceptable impacts . 
 
CS12 Infrastructure- Permission will only be granted where there is, or will be via mitigation measures, 
sufficient infrastructure capacity to support the impacts of the development. 
 
CS13 Development Contributions to Infrastructure Provision- Contributions should be secured in 
accordance with the Planning Obligations Implementation Scheme SPD (POIS). 
 
CS14 Transport- Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK 
Environment Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of residents. 
 
CS15 Retail- Development should accord with the Retail Strategy which seeks to promote the City 
Centre and where appropriate the district and local centres. The loss of village shops will only be 
accepted subject to certain conditions being met. 
 
CS16 Urban Design and the Public Realm- Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site 
and area, improve the public realm, address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not 
result in any unacceptable impact upon the amenities of neighbouring residents. 
 
CS17 The Historic Environment- Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic 
environment including non scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance. 
 
CS19 Open Space and Green Infrastructure- New residential development should make provision 
for/improve public green space, sports and play facilities. Loss of open space will only be permitted if no 
deficiency would result. 
 

45



 6 

CS20 Landscape Character- New development should be sensitive to the open countryside. within the 
Landscape Character Areas development will only be permitted where specified criteria are met. 
 
CS21 Biodiversity and Geological Conservation- Development should conserve and enhance 
biodiversity/ geological interests unless no alterative sites are available and there are demonstrable 
reasons for the development. 
 
CS22 Flood Risk- Development should in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will only be permitted if specific criteria 
are met. Sustainable drainage systems should be used where appropriate.  
 
Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD) 
 
SA1- Urban Extensions 
Allocates Great Haddon as an urban extension in accordance with policy CS5 of the Adopted Core 
Strategy for up to 5350 houses. 
 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) 
 
PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents will be 
approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant policies, the 
Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
PP02 - Design Quality  
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built and 
natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is sufficiently robust 
to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity. 
 
PP03 - Impacts of New Development  
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of privacy, 
daylight, opportunities for crime and disorder, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be 
overbearing or cause noise or other disturbance, odour or other pollution. 
 
PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development  
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they provide 
for the needs of the future residents. 
 
PP09- Development for Retail and Leisure Uses 
A sequential approach will be applied to retail and leisure development. Retail development outside 
Primary Shopping Areas or leisure development outside any centre will be refused unless the 
requirements of Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy have been satisfied or compliance with the sequential 
approach has been demonstrated.   
 
PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development  
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including highway 
safety. 
 
PP13 - Parking Standards  
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made in 
accordance with standards. 
 
PP14 - Open Space Standards  
Residential development (within Use Classes C3 and C4) will be required to provide open space in 
accordance with the minimum standards.  The type of on-site provision will depend on the nature and 
location of the development and the needs of the local area. 
 
PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development  

46



 7 

Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees and 
natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity. 
 
PP17 – Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be refused 
unless there are overriding public benefits.  
 
PP19 – Habitats and Species of Principal Importance 
Permission will not be granted for development which would cause demonstrable harm to a habitat or 
species unless the need for, and benefits of it, outweigh the harm.  Development likely to have an impact 
should include measures to maintain and, if possible, enhance the status of the habitat or species.  
 
PP20 - Development on Land affected by Contamination  
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the development 
itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be safely developed with 
no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission will be refused. 
 
Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
 
The following policies are relevant considerations: 
CS14:  The Scale of Waste Management Provision 
CS26: Mineral Safeguarding Areas 
 
Peterborough and Cambridgeshire Minerals and Waste Site Allocations DPD 
 
The Great Haddon area is identified under policies W1AF and W8BF as a potential location for waste 
management facilities.  
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 
 
Requests for planning obligations whether a CIL tariff has been adopted or not by a local authority are 
only lawful where they meet the following legal tests:- 

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
(b) directly related to the development; and  
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  

 
It is also good practice to ensure that any obligation is also relevant to planning and reasonable in all 
other respects. 
 
Planning permissions may not be bought or sold. Unacceptable development cannot be permitted 
because of benefits/inducements offered by a developer which are not necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms. Neither can obligations be used purely as a means of 
securing for the local community a share in the profits of development. 
 
4. CONSULTATIONS/REPRESENTATIONS 
 
There has been ongoing consultation throughout the application process. Officers have been working 
closely with a number of statutory/technical consultees to resolve the technical issues. Key statutory 
consultees have recently been reconsulted on the application, in order to ensure that an up to date 
position can be tabled to Members. This consultation was also extended to Parish Councils, the Norman 
Cross Action Group and Peterborough Ward Councillors in order to give them the opportunity to make 
final comments on the application. 
 
Two separate rounds of much wider formal consultation have also been undertaken. The first 
consultation period commenced on the 8 December 2010 and lasted for 6 weeks to the 19 January 
2011. The statutory requirement is 3 weeks. Representations received after the deadline continued to be 
accepted and taken into consideration. The second round of consultation ran from the 23 February to the 
25 March 2011. As before, representations received after the deadline have continued to be accepted. 

47



 8 

Any further representations received after the despatch of this report will be tabled to Members in the 
Update Report. A more detailed summary of all the consultation undertaken is included in Appendix 1.  
 
The comments set out below are the final responses received from both public and technical/statutory 
consultees, unless otherwise stated, and reflect the negotiation which has take place with the applicant 
and consultees. Both the core area and employment area applications were consulted on at the same 
time, apart from the recent reconsultation which related solely to this application. As a result, most of the 
responses received cover both applications. Only the comments which are relevant to the core area are 
reported below. Comments which related to the employment area were dealt with when that application 
was considered by the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee. 
 
The representations are discussed under the relevant topic headings in Section 5 of this report. 
 
INTERNAL 
 
Local Highway Authority – No objections. The impact of the development on the Council’s highway 
network is considered to be acceptable subject to conditions/ provisions in the S106 Agreement in 
respect of highway improvements, construction management, the provision of a Travel Plan and 
contributions towards a new bus service. 
 
Rights of Way Officer - No objections in principle. Welcomes the retention of the Green Wheel on its 
current alignment until it diverts under the Central Boulevard. 
 
Environmental Engineering Team (Drainage) – No objections in light of the discussion which has 
taken place with the Environment Agency. 
 
Landscape Officer – No objections in principle. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment will need to be 
submitted to allow an assessment of the impact of the development on retained trees within the site and 
those adjoining it, as each tranche comes forward. A Woodland Management Plan will be required in 
respect of the retained and new woodland planting. Tree protection measures will also be required 
during the construction period. Conditions recommended. 
 
Landscape Architect - No comments received in relation to the second period of consultation. Originally 
commented as follows:-  
The proposal is generally well thought out and considered.  
 
Wildlife Officer - No objections. Considers the revised proposal to be acceptable subject to the 
imposition of appropriate conditions. Access Management issues are addressed by Natural England.  
 
Archaeological Officer – No objections subject to a condition requiring the agreement of a scheme of 
archaeological investigation. 
 
Minerals and Waste Officer - No objections.  Recommends that GeoPeterborough be notified of any 
works involving the excavation of deep holes for the purposes of recording the geological interest in the 
RIGS (Regionally Important Geological Site) 
 
Environmental Health Pollution Control Section - Recommends conditions in respect of construction 
management, contaminated land, noise and ventilation of fumes. The findings of the additional Air 
Quality Assessment in Hoylake Drive are noted and accepted.  
 
 
EXTERNAL 
 
Anglian Water -  No objections. Anglian Water is obligated under the Water Industry Act 1991 to provide 
water and waste water infrastructure for domestic purposes. There is sufficient water resource capacity 
to supply the development. Foul drainage can also be accommodated. 
 
English Heritage - No objection following the discussion which has taken place including the 
supplementary archaeological information. Reference should, however, be made to previous comments 

48



 9 

with regard to the size, nature and extent of the monument’s proposed buffer area and the status of 
sports pitches. Wording of the condition in respect of the Scheduled Ancient Monument is acceptable. 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer - No objections to this outline proposal. 
 
Highways Agency - No objections following negotiations, subject to the imposition of the conditions 
referred to in its TR110 and a travel plan being secured via a S106 Agreement. 
 
Natural England- No objections following negotiation subject to conditions as specified. Natural England 
accepts the conclusions of the updated information submitted. 
 
Natural Networks Partnership - Note-:The Natural Networks Partnership (NNP) no longer responds to 
planning applications and therefore an updated consultation response has not been submitted. Individual 
responses have instead been submitted by its members. The NNP objected to the development after the 
initial consultation raising concerns about the potential adverse effects on Orton Pit SSSI/SAC and the 
exclusion of Chambers Dole woodland from the development area. 
 
Environment Agency - Has withdrawn its objection subject to the imposition of the specified/agreed 
conditions and the satisfactory completion of the S106 Agreement as it relates to the issue of long term 
ownership of the drainage within Great Haddon and the ownership of the attenuation ponds within 
Hampton, including the wording in the David Lock Associates Briefing Note of 27 April 2012.  
 
Middle Level Commissioners – No objections in principle. The Commissioners should be consulted on 
any phases of the development which encroach into their catchment to ensure that their systems are not 
detrimentally affected by the proposals. 
  
Cambridgeshire County Council - A final updated consultation response is awaited. This will be set out 
to members in the Update Report. 
 
Huntingdonshire District Council - Having considered the updated information comments as follows::- 
 

1. The revisions to the master plan to reduce the number of vehicular access points from the main 
development area onto the A15 are welcomed.  These appear to accord with comments made 
previously.  

2. Still have some concerns about the traffic management issues related to potential rat running 
through the country lanes via Haddon and other villages, which would be unacceptable.  A real 
concern is the potential for this to happen should there be a road traffic incident that closes or 
reduces the flows on the A1(M).  Traffic management issues need to be addressed in this 
respect. 

3. Equally, there are concerns about the ability of the HCV restriction at the southern end of the 
employment area to effectively restrict HCV access.  We note that other vehicle types appear not 
to be restricted from making access to the employment area from the ‘Old A1’ and this is still a 
cause for concern as there could be considerable general traffic flows northwards via this route.  

4. We maintain real concern about the configuration and design of the loop road from the A15 at 
Yaxley, via the proposed built up area which includes residential uses, the new secondary 
school, and the district centre.  Our view, as previously stated, is that this will not work well 
especially in terms of creating a good ‘place’ in the vicinity of the road.  

5. We are not yet convinced that the traffic calming and junction arrangements on the A15 at Yaxley 
will work sufficiently well to allow the smooth operation of traffic from Yaxley, and to prevent a 
general through flow of traffic wishing to avoid the loop road described in point 5 above.  

6. The additions and alterations to the configurations of the green space in the area between Yaxley 
and Great Haddon are welcomed.  

 
Opportunity Peterborough - No comments received. 
 
Government Office for the East of England - This body no longer exists. It did not make any 
comments on the application. 
 

49



 10 

Campaign for Protection of Rural England (Peterborough and Cambridgeshire) – Objects to the 
application. The close proximity to the village of Yaxley undermines the principle of preventing 
coalescence between urban and rural areas. This is supported by Huntingdonshire District Council in its 
adopted Core Strategy. Peterborough’s Core Strategy also supports the integrity of villages. Suggest 
that separation could be ensured by the adoption of a ‘green wedge’. CPRE has reservations about the 
protection of the Norman Cross Scheduled Ancient Monument and feels more effort could be made to 
promote this locally important site. CPRE also has objections to the ‘reconfiguration’ of the Yaxley 
bypass, originally part of the 1993 S106 Agreement for Hampton.  
 
The Ramblers Association - No response received. 
 
The British Horse Society - No objections in principle. Supports the bridleway link to the livery stables 
in Yaxley. Support the general principles relating to the Green Wheel and Green Grid. Requests that 
Green Grid routes be formalised on the definitive map as bridleway or restrictive byway status and if 
possible that a bridleway status link to the west of Yaxley join the planned Green Grid route. Requests 
that any cycleway routes be upgraded to bridleway status. Requests that if feasible a bridleway status 
link be created to the Country Park. 
 
Sport England - No objections in principle. It has made a number of detailed comments regarding 
sporting provision within the development. Note- consultation with Sport England is non- statutory in this 
instance.  
  
East of England Regional Assembly - Note: This body no longer exists and could not, therefore, be 
reconsulted. It was consulted following the original submission of the application at which point it noted 
the link to the emerging Core Strategy but expressed some concerns regarding the transport implications 
of the development and potential impacts upon Orton Pit SAC. Subject to these matters being addressed 
it considered that the proposal would accord with the growth identified in the RSS.  
 
Cambridgeshire Bat Group - No response received. 
 
Plantlife - No response received. 
 
Buglife - No response received. 
 
Froglife - No response received. 
 
The British Herpetological Society - No comments received.  
Note: Herpetology is concerned with the study of reptiles and amphibians. 
 
Herpetological Conservation Trust - No comments received. 
 
Wildlife Trust - Welcomes the additional information provided on management of access to Orton Pit 
SAC/SSSI and on the predicted nitrogen levels. Does not object to the application on these grounds 
provided that planning conditions are included to ensure the access strategy is implemented and 
nitrogen monitoring undertaken. Do however still have the following comments/concerns:- 

• Chamber’s Dole and Two Pond Coppice County Wildlife Site will be surrounded by development. 
Measures should be put in place to stop unauthorised access. This is not included within the 
Access Management Strategy. 

• Whilst the measures included within the application go someway toward meeting the objectives 
of CS10, concern that they should be improved. The creation of additional green space, wildlife 
areas and better consideration of Chambers Dole and Two Pond Coppice would demonstrate a 
much stronger commitment to Peterborough’s Environmental Capital aspirations. 

 
RSPB - No response received. 
 
British Telecom - No response received. 
 
EDF Energy - No response received. 
 

50



 11 

E.ON UK PLC - No response received. 
 
National Grid - No response received. 
 
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue - Adequate provision should be made via a S106 Agreement or 
condition for the provision of fire hydrants. 
 
Peterborough Environment City Trust - Note: No response received in relation to the second 
consultation. Commented as follows originally:-: 
Of the view that the proposal includes positive aspects but concerned that a number of these are stated 
as being ‘subject to S106 negotiations’.  
 
Greater Peterborough Partnership - No response received in relation to the second consultation. 
Commented as follows originally:-  
Concerned that there is an over reliance on the S106 to deliver the aims of the Sustainability Statement.   
 
Peterborough Civic Society - No response received in relation to the second consultation. Commented 
as follows originally:- 
The master plan is well considered but further thought needs to be given to the ‘place’ which would be 
created to give it a distinct identity.  Disappointed that the scheme does not include a Park and Ride. 
Links to other settlements are poor.  Disappointed that the energy proposals are not firmer/clearer. 
 
Peterborough Local Access Forum - Make the following objections to the application:- 

• Unhappy with the use of the main dual carriageway acting as the Yaxley bypass also being used 
as the main access to the District Centre. Feel that the heavy traffic use anticipated and the use 
of two carriageways would make pedestrian/cycle access difficult across this physical barrier. 
Would challenge the developers view on the boulevard. Cars always dominate over pedestrians 
and cyclists unless clearly prevented from doing so. Feel this would be a retrograde step putting 
cars above pedestrians and cyclists and be contrary to the hierarchy in the Local Transport Plan. 
Consider a rethink of the road is necessary,  

• Yaxley was promised a bypass in 1993 to reduce through traffic not to increase it. 

• The diversion of the Green Wheel from the current alignment adjacent to Haddon Lake through a 
new underpass under the Western Peripheral Road is questioned. The only logical reason to 
move it seems to be to remove possible obstructions to the free flow of traffic across the site. 

• Concerns about the dominance of planning for vehicle movement rather than more sustainable 
travel in the overall scheme and this could damage the city’s aspirations to become Environment 
Capital. 

 
Sustrans - Objects to the application. Do not believe that the proposal is compatible with policy CS14 of 
the Core Strategy and it should, therefore, be rejected. The application fails to address sustainable 
transport seriously, in particular there needs to be clear high quality routes leading to crossing points. 
The site is isolated from Hampton by the SAC and Haddon Lake with the Green Wheel providing an 
indirect link. Hampton itself has inadequate links to the city centre and these need improving. The site 
suffers from having a major road through it with a result that the car is the natural choice. Other barriers 
are the A15, A1, Fletton Parkway and the railway line. To overcome these there need to be clear 
walking/cycling routes and crossing points. Cycle parking needs to match City Council standards, car 
parking should be kept to a minimum, the whole area should be 20mph. Concerned about the impact on 
the national cycleway network, particularly through Haddon village. Support the objections made by 
Peterborough Cycle Forum. New development in this area needs to seek to minimise use of the car via a 
range of measures. Recommend that London Road is made a true public transport corridor by 
reinstating the bus gate within Yaxley, removing the road link with junction 2 of the Fletton Parkway, 
completing the direct national cycle network route between Yaxley and Peterborough city centre. 
 
Peterborough Cycling Forum - Object to the application as it fails to address cycling seriously in light 
of the Council’s Environment Capital policy. The Transport Assessment gives very low projections for 
cycle use which are not accepted. Expect higher levels of cycling to be achieved.  
 
There is a need for the creation of high quality cycle links. The associated documentation shows poor 
connectivity.  

51



 12 

• Linkage between the residential and employment area is indirect. More direct links are needed. 

• There are no details about cycle provision along the major road link with junction 2. This is a clear 
desire line for cyclists who will use it to get to Hampton.  

• The new link into the south of Hampton is welcomed but the suggestion that this should be a 
stone path and have no direct link with the main boulevard and the main road is unacceptable. 
Surfaces should be machine laid bitmac to ensure cycling and links need to be direct and 
convenient. 

• There appears to be no clear provision for cyclists along the Old Great North Road and on the 
minor road under the A1 to Haddon.  

• Cycling provision along the A15 from junction 16 of the A1(M) is unclear. There is a need to link 
the existing route from Stilton with the new development and with Yaxley but part of the path is to 
be lost to road realignment. If the proposed route for cyclists and walkers is to be along the north 
side of the A15 this needs to be clearly set out with a widened path and high quality road 
crossings. 

• The map shows several links i.e. the new cycle bridge between Hampton and the Ortons, the 
potential route between Crown Lakes Country Park and the city centre via south bank, the links 
with Church Street and Main Street, Yaxley.  

• Have strong reservations about any new development with a major road running through it 
although the boulevard idea is an interesting way to address this. Strongly object to the idea that 
walking and cycling can be addressed by a 3 metre wide footpath/cycleway along each side of 
the boulevard. This is contrary to current good practice. A much better solution could include 
hybrid cycle lanes on road. Also object to what looks like conventional major junctions which 
would be difficult to cross for pedestrians and cyclists.  

• There should be 20 mph speed limits on the roads 

• The removal of the bus gate on the A15 is a backward step to the detriment of those living in the 
vicinity. Wish to see more detail on how motor traffic will be restricted from using this alignment 
which should be made into an attractive option for cyclists. 

• There is no indication that cycle parking is being properly addressed. Object to the suggestion 
that the cycle parking guidance should be applied pragmatically. The standard should be a 
minimum provision. 

 
Parish Councils 
 
Hampton Parish Council - Updated comments are awaited from the Parish Council and will be set out 
to members in the Update Report. To date Hampton Parish Council has raised the following concerns:- 

• The potential additional traffic on local roads which are already congested with local Hampton 
traffic (and parked cars) if the new Great Haddon/Fletton Parkway link road (extension of Natures 
Way) was not completed prior to construction of the planned residential and industrial units. 

• The impact upon Hampton Schools which are already oversubscribed if the Great Haddon 
schools are not completed at the same time or prior to the completion of residential dwellings. 

 
Yaxley Parish Council - Has the following concerns:- 

• Villagers of Yaxley would like to retain their identity.  

• A bypass for Yaxley was agreed in the Section 106 Agreement for the development of Hampton. 
This bypass has not materialised and the Parish Council still wishes to see this bypass in place in 
line with the S106 Agreement. 

• The proposed A15 diversionary route is not fit for purpose as it diverts main A15 traffic into an 
urbanised area there being also being a secondary school and district centre along the 
suggested route. This does not constitute a bypass. The proposed traffic calming measures on 
the A15 (that replace the bus gate) are, therefore, unlikely to stop the flow of traffic through 
Yaxley.  

• The traffic flow from Hampton Leys has not been addressed. There are still 3400 homes to be 
built on this site and the impact of the flow of traffic through to the A1 from this development will 
have a profound effect of the village of Yaxley. The proposed diversionary route would not be 
used by this traffic as it would be a slower option. 

• The pedestrian and cyclepaths between Yaxley and the secondary school and the district centre 
need to be resolved. They need to be more attractive and easier to use. 

52



 13 

• The visual impact of the development along the A15 from the south should be reduced. The 
buffer zone proposed is not deep enough. The visual impact of the development will be seen 
from the Great Fen project and there should be a larger area of tree belt to minimise the impact.  

• There are too many additional proposed access points from the development onto the A15. 
These will affect its character. 

• Children from Yaxley would not be able to attend the new secondary school.   

• Support the comments made by the Norman Cross Action Group and Huntingdonshire District 
Council. 

 
Orton Waterville Parish Council - No response received 
 
Norman Cross Action Group (NXAG), Folksworth and Washingley Parish Council, Farcet Parish 
Council, Stilton Parish Council and the Haddon and Local Residents Action Group – The NXAG 
has indicated that it proposes to make further representations in advance of the Committee date. Any 
further comments received will be set out to Members in the Update Report. Original comments are set 
out here. 
 
Object to the application. Separate letters of objection have been submitted by some of the Parish 
Councils which are members of the group but contain much of the same text. They have, therefore, been 
summarised together rather than being repeated.  

• Lack of a master plan and an ill conceived set of plans that do not produce a coherent picture. 

• The development is on prime agricultural land when there are many acres of brownfield land left 
in the city to be used which already has planning consent but has remained dormant. 

• Expect the site to be developed from the ‘village centre’ outwards in accordance with best design 
principles. 

• Housing density is too high. There needs to be proper segregation between the development and 
Yaxley, the A15, and the Old Great North Road. Good design would afford not only a natural tree 
and landscape extending at least 75 metres from these roads but also very low density housing 
on the fringes becoming greater nearer to the centre. This would preserve most of the existing 
bucolic appearance of the A15 and the Old Great North Road whilst preventing the coalescence 
of what is essentially a new town with the village of Yaxley. Furthermore, it is logical and right that 
the same treatment should be incorporated in the northern boundary given the rural nature of the 
bridleway and Green Wheel which currently passes through open fields. 

• The traffic generation from the proposed number of houses (and the employment area) will be 
significant and the present plans do not demonstrate that the problems can be addressed 
adequately. The development is likely to give rise to in the region of 8000 cars. One way of 
addressing this issue would be to reduce the number of houses. Accordingly, the number of 
houses should be reduced to between 2500 and 3000, roughly the size of Yaxley. 

• It is doubtful if this would result in a shortfall in the number of houses actually delivered over the 
City Council’s recently approved Strategic Plan period as the current average build rate over 
either five or ten years would not have delivered the planned number of houses i.e. 5350. If the 
Planning Authority is concerned about a theoretical shortfall then they will be able, nearer to the 
end of the plan period, to bring forward sites identified for the next plan period by way of a 
Supplemental Development Plan. This matter alone renders the proposed development 
unnecessary. 

• Object to the excessive number of junctions onto the A15 and the Old Great North Road. There 
are 6 traffic light controlled junctions proposed on the A15 plus the extra junctions of the Yaxley 
bypass. During the evening rush hour traffic is already backed up to junction 16 of the A1(M). 
There is the probability of increased shunt accidents because of an adverse effect on traffic 
choosing it rather than London Road Yaxley. There are also too many different proposed speed 
limits. 

• With regard to Stilton, villagers use the A1(M) junction as the major access point. The slowdown 
in traffic flows caused by the lights on the A1(M) and the traffic lights on the A15 will increase 
journey times, increase the risk of accidents and general inconvenience. The village will suffer 
demonstrable harm from the development as presently envisaged and could return the village to 
the historic ‘rat run’ experience which was almost totally alleviated by the construction of the 
A1(M) and junction 16. The same argument applies to the village of Folksworth. 

• With regard to the Old Great North Road, there appear to be 6 junctions including that from the 
employment area. None of the proposed junction designs prevent a right turn for those exiting the 

53



 14 

development driving down the country lane, through Haddon and thence via the Bullock Road 
and others to Northamptonshire and westwards. Given the difficulty with the A1(M) junction and 
the A605 running at above design capacity, regular closures due to accidents on the A1, traffic 
rat running will be common. This represents demonstrable harm to the residents of Haddon and 
those living beside Bullock Road and on the Old Great North Road. The current experience in 
Wansford whenever there is a problem on the A1 must be avoided. 

• An outer ring road should be created within the development. This could run behind the extended 
tree belt increasing the separation distance from existing developments. This would run from the 
employment site proposed entry to the Old Great North Road to the spine road through the 
development and thence to a slightly realigned Yaxley bypass. There would be a junction here 
representing the only access to the A15 but would serve to give access both north and south of 
Yaxley. The Yaxley bypass should be realigned so that it runs east of the proposed development 
on the bypass. This would obviate the need for people to cross the bypass to get to development 
parcels DC7 or R20 and R36 getting to D3 etc. It would also make the bypass less of an internal 
spine road and more of a bypass and thus the route of choice for through users of the A15. 

• At the detailed stage, there will be a need to ensure that the parents are not able to access the 
proposed secondary school from the Yaxley bypass. 

• Residential site R37 should be deleted and become part of the green buffer. The site 
coalesces/links the development directly with Yaxley and traffic will enter London Road and add 
to the congestion. 

• It is noted that the open space around the Scheduled Ancient Monument, which appears to 
contain war graves, is still shown as football pitches. This is a desecration and one presumes that 
the applicant would not wish such desecration of its own war dead. At the very least it shows 
disrespect for the ancient monument. 

•  There should be no access/egress during the construction phase of construction vehicles of any 
type (including cars) via the A15 or Old Great North Road. The hours of working on and 
deliveries to the site should be restricted to 8am to 6pm Monday to Friday and 9am to 1pm 
Saturday.  There shall be no Sunday or Bank Holiday working. This is to reduce noise impact on 
residents. 

• Before any building works are commenced the Yaxley Bypass must be constructed. 

• Concerned at the confusing range of plans and maps presented at recent public consultation.  

• The timescale for consideration of the proposals was completely inadequate given the extent of 
the documentation.  

• Folksworth and Washingley Parish Council/NXAG do not wish the village of Folksworth to be part 
of any further urbanisation.  

• Any conditions approved should also be approved by Huntingdonshire District Council, 
Cambridgeshire County Council and Yaxley PC as a minimum.  

• Object to the use of the name Great Haddon. 
 
Note: The Norman Cross Action Group formed after the initial round of consultation and is made up of 
representatives from Yaxley Parish Council; Stilton Parish Council; Haddon Parish Meeting; Farcet 
Parish Meeting; Folksworth & Washingley Parish Council; Alwalton Parish Council; Chesterton Parish 
Council; District Councillors; and Cambridgeshire County Councillors (Councillor Matt McQuire and Nick 
Guyatt (also a District Councillor)). A copy of the full representation from the NXAG is appended for 
information in Appendix 2.  
 
Alwalton Parish Council - Objects to the application. The Parish Council has many concerns about the 
development all of which are embodied in the letter from the NXAG (see above). The Council endorses 
the letter and also places strong emphasis on the matter of projected traffic flow, especially from the A1 
southbound through Alwalton. 
 
Haddon Parish Meeting - No separate letter of objection received but is part of the Norman Cross 
Action Group. 
 
Chesterton Parish Council - No separate letter of objection received but is part of the Norman Cross 
Action Group. 
 
Stilton Parish Council -Has advised that it intends to comment further on the application before the 
Committee date. Any further representations received will be set out in the update report. The Parish 

54



 15 

Council is part of the Norman Cross Action Group and its original comments form part of the above 
representation. 
 
Norman Cross Area Road Safety Committee -- Objects to the application. Concerned about existing 
and future traffic flows along the A15 between Norman Cross and Peterborough. The condition of the 
existing road is deplorable which has in part been caused by allowing planning applications without 
adequate control. The planning permission for Hampton was conditional on the provision of a bypass but 
this has not been enforced. The Committee strongly recommends that the A15 become a dual 
carriageway from Norman Cross to link with the existing dual carriageway leading to Fletton Parkway. All 
existing and proposed junctions on the A15 should be graded interchanges with all existing traffic lights 
and roundabouts being removed. The new A15 route should incorporate a bypass for Yaxley. The whole 
A15 improvement scheme should be secured via a S106 Agreement. Consideration should also be given 
to introducing a park and ride facility to reduce traffic flows into and out of the city. 
 
NEIGHBOURS 
With regard to the first round of public consultation, 1541 individual letters were sent out to properties 
surrounding the Great Haddon site. 24 site notices were displayed. Two public events were also held, 
one at Yaxley (on 7 January 2010 from 2pm to 8pm) which some 60 people attended and the other at 
Serpentine Green (on 12 January 2010 from 2pm to 8pm) attended by some 150 people.  
 
A summary of all the representations submitted relating to this application following the first round of 
public consultation is set out in Appendix 3 attached to this report.   
 
With regard to the second round of public consultation 4721 letters were sent out. This included letters to 
all residents of Yaxley. 46 site notices were displayed. A press release was provided to the Evening 
Telegraph. In addition, two public consultation events were held again, one at Serpentine Green on 28 
February and one in Yaxley on 1 March 2011. To advertise these events a note was added to all of the 
public consultation letters, 5000 flyers were sent out with the Yaxley Gazette and an article was placed in 
the Stilton news letter.  The events were also advertised on the “Your Hampton” website.  
 
In total, approximately, 180 people attended the Serpentine Green event and 250 the Yaxley event.   
 
1447 letters have been received in respect of the second round of consultation. Of these 753 are copies 
of a standard letter albeit additional text has been added in a number of instances. The majority of the 
letters relate to both the employment and core area. Only comments relevant to the core area are 
reported below. For ease of reference the objections have been divided into topic areas.  
 
 Principle of development 

• Brownfield land should be developed before greenfield land (as proposed) in line with Central 
Government policies 

• Loss of Greenfield land. 

• Development should not be allowed on greenbelt. 

• Loss of prime agricultural land and impact on food production. 

• Overdevelopment. 

• Size and scale of the development is too large. 

• There is no need for the development given that Hampton Leys is available. 

• Design of the whole scheme does not accord with Central and Local Government Policy 
(including Core Strategy) . 

• Housing density is too high, the number of dwellings should be low. 

• Development is in the open countryside. 

• Poor design/Lack of a Master Plan. 

• The application should not be approved and the needs of the city reviewed in 5-10 years time. 

• Reasoned objections of countless people have been ignored. 

• Development is being driven by the misguided notion that a bigger Peterborough is a better 
Peterborough. Great Haddon will join a long list of sprawling and problematic residential 
development. 

• The proposed scheme demonstrates the worst practice in contemporary urban design and 
planning thinking and will serve as another out of town commuter estate. 

55



 16 

• Question the need for 5350 additional houses. 

• Houses should be built elsewhere. 

• There are some 2300 dwellings which have not been built yet at Hampton Leys. 

• This urban extension should reflect the area and be a village of some 2500 dwellings rather than 
a township of 5300. 

• History shows that building 500 dwellings per annum (as specified in the Core Strategy) is not 
possible. The development might be able to build up to 2500 by 2025 so this should be the 
target. 

• The houses that are being built are the slums of tomorrow. 

• Development should be limited to 50-100 houses. 

• Why is development being located here? Why not in the north west quadrant of Peterborough? 

• Need houses and jobs, we have a growing population. 

• There isn’t the retail capacity or parking at Serpentine Green to cope with this level of housing 
(including finishing of Vale and build out of Leys). 

• Development is economically unsustainable. There are insufficient jobs for the additional 
population. 

 
Highways implications 

• Revised plans have not taken into consideration the impact on traffic and road infrastructure. 

• The proposed ‘Yaxley loop/bypass’ is not designed to encourage car users to use it  and 
therefore ever increasing amount of traffic will tend to use the current London Road A15. 

• Effect of the additional traffic on the A15, particularly at peak times. Backlogs already occur from 
the Yaxley traffic lights and frequently go back to the A1(M) causing serious congestion which 
would be added to. 

• The proposal would make access to the city centre either via the A15 of the A1139 Fletton 
Parkway more difficult. 

• The development is not acceptable without a bypass. 

• The proposed Yaxley loop/bypass is not viable and will not fulfil the function of a proper bypass. It 
has too many connecting roads and variable speed limits plus the close proximity of a school. 

• Yaxley loop should be constructed before any building work is commenced. Management of 
construction traffic should be achieved through the use of appropriate planning conditions. 

• The loop road which would be part of the A15 acting as a Yaxley bypass goes too far west. It 
goes past a school and through the District Centre. This is unacceptable. It should be moved 
further east and not have houses on the east side thus providing an effective cushion between 
Yaxley and the new development. 

• The Yaxley loop road is not fit for purpose as it has too many traffic lights and it passes through a 
built up area and a school. The traffic during school run times will cause severe congestion. 

• Now that the bus gate on London Road has been removed no provision appears to have been 
made to stop heavy haulage lorries going down the A15 towards London Road from the Cross 
Road traffic lights towards Peterborough. If the loop road is to be A15 the cross roads should be 
reclassified and become a ‘B’ road. Should this be the case traffic calming should be introduced 
especially along the residential area. 

• No relief for the extra congestion on the A15 and B1091 from the cross roads (Yaxley) to and 
from Peterborough at peak periods. 

• Plans appear to show secondary school entrances on the loop road. Dropping off and picking up 
children outside the school gates will be very dangerous on a major road. 

• There would be too much of an impact on the A15 and Great North Road. 

• The proposed traffic light controlled junction of the A15 and Great North Road/Norman Cross is 
dangerous and ill conceived. 

• Removal of the bus gate is welcomed but deflects from the issue of 5350 houses worth of cars 
being introduced onto the A15 in both directions. 

• Any access onto the A15 should be for pedestrians, cycles and emergency vehicles only, 
otherwise there will be misery for all Yaxley residents. 

• Reduction in speed limit along the A15 to 40mph together with increased traffic will be 
detrimental to Yaxley residents. 

• Concerns will result in additional journey times for Yaxley residents. 

• The development would encourage people to cut through Fernadale increasing traffic. 

56



 17 

• The proposed junction at the top of Waterslade Road (Yaxley) is ludicrous and would make 
exiting the village at this point a nightmare and cause congestion at peak periods. It would be 
better to install a roundabout at this point and restore vehicular access to Waterslade Road which 
is a two way street. This would improve access to villagers who live in Main Street and the 
southern end of the village and relieve traffic at the Yaxley cross road. 

• Proposal would create traffic gridlock for Yaxley residents. Traffic already backs up from the 
Tesco roundabout onto the Frank Perkins or Nene Parkways on school days and at peak times. 
In the run up to Christmas the road approaching Serpentine Green shops are backed up and this 
is before Hampton Vale is completed or Hampton Leys built out. 

• Object to the replacement traffic calming measures onto the Yaxley stretch of London Road. The 
traffic issues would not exist if the development were thrown out or reduced in scale. No to speed 
humps. 

• Insufficient capacity on the existing road network to accommodate the development, particularly 
on Old Great North Road which is substandard for the proposed usage. 

• Lack of infrastructure to accommodate the development particularly at peak times makes the 
proposal unsound unless the number of dwellings is reduced to 2500. 

• Concern that traffic will queue back as a result of the new junctions on the A15 onto the A1(M) 

• Increased congestion on A15. 

• A15 should be dualled all the way to Serpentine Green. 

• A15 is increasingly being used as a ‘rat run’ from the A1(M). 

• Proposals for traffic lights on the A15 would result in traffic tailing back. 

• Variable speed limits along the A15 will result in traffic congestion. 

• The layouts for this ‘new town’ are dreadful and local people can see how the proposals will lead 
to huge traffic problems from the A1(M) junction 16 right through the A15 into Peterborough Town 
Centre. 

• Design of Old Great North Road/A15 junction will result in accidents. 

• Consider the traffic survey volumes to be an underestimate of the normal present figures as there 
are noticeably fewer vehicles on the road due to increased fuel costs. 

• If the development gains permission number of recommendations for the A15 need to be 
included such as the rerouting of the A15 into the new township centre, minimal traffic lights to be 
installed, there should be no traffic calming on the A15 the money should be held in reserve until 
a full appraisal has been undertaken of the new routes once fully operational. All road systems 
should be installed in advance of any other development, Waterslade Road should be opened to 
two way traffic, the road system should not resemble Hempsted. 

• The growing Hampton Hargate development has greatly increased traffic volumes on the A15. 
Access/egress to London Road is becoming more difficult and there have been a number of 
minor accidents. Completion of Hampton Leys, Vale and Hargate will increase the problem as 
would the developer’s proposal to insert a direct link (the Western Peripheral Road) between the 
A15 London Road and junction 2 of the A1139. That link would become a ‘rat run’ for all traffic 
(including HGV movements) between the new developments and the A1(M) south of 
Peterborough. 

• A solution which avoids potential safety issues and addresses the existing residents concerns is 
to move the access junction to the development away from the A1(M) and design all vehicle 
routes on roads within the site boundary. 

• Any traffic calming on the Old Great North Road other than road width restriction would adversely 
affect the quality of life of both existing and new residents. 

• No road should join the Old Great North Road. This would be feasible if the number of dwellings 
were reduced. 

• Serious highways issues on Old Great North Road as a result of the proposed link through the 
Employment Area from Fletton Parkway – junctions and blind bends will become more 
dangerous as a result of increased traffic. 

• Proposed road link through the Employment Area from Fletton Parkway to Old Great North Road 
will create a ‘rat run.’ 

• Significant increase in traffic through smaller villages as a result of ‘rat-running’. 

• No need has been established for a road link between the Employment Area and Old Great North 
Road. 

• Under application reference 09/00725/REM and in 1990 residents were assured by Planning 
Services that no link would be allowed onto Old Great North Road. 

57



 18 

• Old Great North Road currently acts as a noise buffer for existing residents – this will be lost as a 
result of noise generated by increased traffic. 

• Inadequate provision for commercial traffic on Fletton Parkway. 

• Increased congestion on the A1(M) as a result of the proposed signals. 

• Potential for queuing back onto motorway slip roads. 

• There should be no access roads from the old A1 onto the new residential development. 

• There should be no traffic lights at the junction of the A15 and the old A1 and this junction should 
be given careful planning consideration due to its proximity to the A1(M) junction 16. 

• Full and appropriate measures should be undertaken to prevent the villages of Stilton, 
Folksworth, Morbourne, Haddon, Alwalton, Yaxley and Farcet becoming rat runs. 

• Application does not provide any calculations of existing and proposed traffic volumes. 

• Construction traffic routes will harm the safety of users of the Green Wheel.  

• There should be no HGV access on the Old Great North Road. 

• Will result in damage to the surrounding roads i.e. pot holes from increased lorry usage 

• No integrated Transport Plan for the development as a whole (employment and residential) 

• Lack of sustainable travel solutions. 

• Buses should not be the only method of public transport – rail and tram systems are absent from 
the proposal. 

• Disruption to public footpaths, rights of way, bridleways and cycle routes. 

• Traffic calming on Old Great North Road is unwanted by local residents it would be expensive, 
difficult, unpopular and detrimental to the area. 

• There should be no construction access/egress during the construction phase of construction 
vehicles of any type (including cars) via the A15 or Old Great North Road. 

• Combined impact of Great Haddon and Alwalton Hill permission has not been taken into 
consideration. 

• Concern regarding provision of dual carriageway to rear of Hampton Vale (the Western 
Peripheral Road). Believed the road would be single carriageway. 

• Allocated private parking as indicated causes congestion and highway safety is compromised just 
as Hampton residents are suffering. 

• Creation of dangerous junctions. 

• Development would result in additional traffic. 

• Creation of parking problems. 

• Would it not be more appropriate to direct the bulk of traffic through the planned business park 
further west. 

• Impact of construction vehicles which will have a detrimental impact on road. 

• Density of housing likely to result in parking problems. 

• Development would result in additional ‘wear and tear’ to the roads. 

• Traffic will increase if Yaxley children are not able to go to school here. 

• The road layout and road adoption rate in Hampton is unacceptable. Existing problems should be 
sorted before new developments are granted. 

• Footpath/cycle provision including impact on the Green Wheel appears to be an after thought. 
Under the proposal they will go through urban sprawl. 

• Impact on Farcet. It already suffers an enormous volume of massive lorries through it. The weight 
restrictions are impossible to enforce. 

• There is no integrated transport plan for the development. The assumption that the majority of 
residents will not use their cars but instead use the bus at peak times is naïve and the analysis 
inconsistent with reality. 

• A detailed analysis of the cross section of target residents and their likely employment/working 
areas needs to be undertaken rather than using generalised software models. 

• The development offers no alternative to using cars as their primary transport. 

• Peterborough in the long term needs to move the main railway out of the town centre to avoid 
commuter congestion. A light rail link to Hampton, Yaxley and Great Haddon would revolutionise 
the transport system and avoid the need for bus lanes. 

• There does not appear to be a Cycle Risk Assessment. Best practice would look at improving 
walking/cycling links. 

• With careful planning the access road could be built where a post development road would be 
needed. 

58



 19 

• Some of the best public footpaths will lose their identity in this development. 

• The developers insist on saying the A15 is a major route into Peterborough but they have left part 
of the A15 by the ridge half dug up and covered in traffic cones for a long time. Surely this is a 
sign of a lack of consideration or lack of money. 

• Struggle to get out of drive on London Road at the moment. What will it be like with an additional 
5000 homes. 

• Question how a bus gate can be dismissed when as yet the level of traffic is unknown. 

• There is an issue not only with the size of lorries allowed to travel down London Road but also 
their speed. 

• No apparent dedicated link through to Peterborough railway station for residents. As most 
residents will be employed out of Peterborough this will place increased reliance on car 
commuting with subsequent capacity issues on the road network. 

• The whole A15 improvement scheme should be a major part of a Section 106 Agreement. 

• Consideration should be given to the introduction of a park and ride to reduce traffic flows in and 
out of the city and also as an alternative to car sharing which has not proved successful. 

 
Residential Amenity 

• Impact of the proposal upon existing residents has been overlooked – increased levels of noise, 
dirt, petrol fumes and other pollution. 

• Old Great North Road currently acts as a noise buffer for existing residents – this will be lost as a 
result of noise generated by increased traffic. 

• Construction traffic routes will harm the safety of users of the Green Wheel. 

• Loss of quality of life for neighbouring residents. 

• Any proposal should not adversely affect existing communities. 

• Noise impacts. 

• The Great North Road is designed as a buffer to the A1(M). More people using it would have 
noise impacts. 

• There must be a zero gain in noise pollution from the development. 

• Noise protection to the development could be provided by upgrading fencing to the A1(M). The 
fencing is in need of renovation and does not provide the protection originally intended 

• Potential for light pollution on the village of Stilton and surrounding area. 

• Adverse impact on Yaxley shops. 

• Adverse impact upon the people living in the western part of Hampton. Has the impact on these 
properties been assessed. Will there be sufficient screening to prevent excessive noise levels 
and visual disturbance for these existing dwellings. 

• Tranche R37 adjacent to Yaxley should be removed. 

• Environment around Yaxley, Norman Cross would be destroyed. Would also affect Stilton and 
Yaxley. 

• Any problems of this development in the future will not affect the residents of Yaxley. 

• Creation of social problems given the intensive housing. This will affect all of the surrounding 
areas. 

• The hours of working on and deliveries to the site shall be limited to 8am to 6pm Monday to 
Friday and 9am to 1pm on Saturday. There shall be no Sunday or Bank Holiday working. This is 
to reduce noise impact on residents in the area. 

• Construction activities will be disruptive. 

• There should be zero impact on resident’s quality of life. 

• Loss of visual amenity. The desktop assessment was dismissive and wrong. At present have 
views across fields to Yaxley. There are also views along the Old Great North Road.  

 
Landscape and Visual Amenity 

• The green fields which give Yaxley a rural village and community feel will be lost. There is 
insufficient green buffer zones. 

• Lack of buffer to existing London Road properties. 

• Question why the development has to be so close to the A15 and village of Yaxley. Surely a few 
houses could be removed to create an adequate buffer. 

• Insufficient landscaping and green barriers along the A15, also along the Old Great North Road. 

• The coalescence created would be contrary to Huntingdonshire Core Strategy policies. 

59



 20 

• The green space between the loop road and London Road should be kept as a nature habitat 
and walk as it has been for the last 50 years. 

• Development proposed on the inside of the loop road should be removed. 

• Combined impact of Great Haddon and Alwalton Hill permission has not been taken into 
consideration. 

• Adverse impact on a conservation area. 

• Adverse impact on landscape and trees. 

• Loss of open space. 

• Development would have a big impact upon the village of Yaxley. 

• Yaxely would be consumed into the new development. 

• This development will change the character of the surrounding area and its communities for ever. 

• There is inadequate green buffer and protected space between the development and the ancient 
monument. Whilst the monument is protected it is thought that there are graves in adjacent fields 
and it is inappropriate to develop these areas, even with recreational facilities. 

• Intend to inform the Archaeological Association that should this development go ahead the fields 
in the surrounding area should undergo a full archaeological survey and be treated as ‘war 
graves’ for those soldiers who died there. 

• Impact on historical landscape. 

• Playing fields in the buffer zone are no guarantee of protection. 

• Risk of disturbing war graves has not been adequately considered. The French Authorities do not 
appear to have been consulted for their views. 

• Development is inappropriate given proximity to ancient monument. 

• An adequate buffer zone is required between the boundaries of the development and houses in 
it. This width should be between 75 and 100 metres. This could be achieved if the number of 
dwellings was reduced to 2500.  

• Ancient villages which are centuries old will lose their character and identity forever. 

• Some of the best, most pleasant public footpaths and cycleways will lose their nature as instead 
of crossing beautiful countryside they will be lost in the new development. 

• The proposed development is too large to be accommodated within these existing communities 
without compromising and destroying their wellbeing. 

• Only thing which should be able to see are additional new trees and green spaces. Current 
proposals place new development including houses, shops and schools much too close to 
existing communities. 

• Stilton will lose its appeal as a village. 

• Norman Cross must not lose its identity. 
 
Ecology 

• Displacement and loss of habitat for wildlife. 

• Adverse effect on wildlife and protected species. 

• There is no reference to how the established rookeries around the A15/A1(M) are to be 
protected. 

• Wildlife is certain to be displaced or killed. 

• Overall impact on many existing ecosystems will be pronounced. The measures such as owl 
boxes are likely to be short term with no guarantee of success. Some impacts such as that on 
sky larks are essentially ignored in the reports. It is suggested the sky larks will move elsewhere 
however, it is known that populations are declining due to decreased availability of habitat. 

 
Drainage and Flood Risk 

• Question the impact of the development on water supplies. 

• Low specification scheme, risks underestimated. 

• Risk based implementation strategy not in place. 

• No credible plan. 

• Existing water table is high. Need to ensure that there is no adverse impact on existing residents. 

• Concerned that there is insufficient capacity for the initial phases of the development during 
storm conditions. 

60



 21 

• Question who is responsible when the system does not perform and adjacent properties suffer 
damage. Suggest if PCC approve these schemes they indemnify the existing residents again loss 
and blight from flooding for a minimum of 50 years. 

• Do not consider a 1 in 100 year provision to be acceptable. The Association of British Insurers 
suggest a more conservative 1 in 200 year event. 

• Stanground Lode is already at capacity and surcharges when discharge into the Nene is 
restricted. It is essential that the development is engineered to restrict all storm water discharge 
to agricultural rates. The sole reliance of ‘living’ roofs to restrict storm water discharge is 
questionable in the long term as there is a high reliance on private maintenance being 
undertaken. 

 
Community 

• The senior school should have accepted allotted spaces for Cambridgeshire children. 

• Yaxley children are already overlooked with regard to secondary school yet the proposed 
development ignores needs again. 

• Crime and security problems. 

• Public disorder issues. 

• Current infrastructure including the new hospital cannot cope, how it will cope with more houses. 

• The plans refer to schools but not other community facilities. 

• Consider that 30% social housing is not acceptable, 15% is a more realistic target. 

• Development would benefit from swimming pool and gym. This would be in line with government 
targets to reduce obesity and improve the fitness of the population. There is no other swimming 
pool close by. 

• Need medical centres and dentists etc. 

• Consideration should be given to the provision of a community centre so that all in the area have 
a contact point to enjoy clubs, events and celebrations. 

• Local resources are already stretched. 

• Yaxley residents do not benefit from any amenities built in new developments. Yaxley should 
have its amenities updated. 

• The new school is unlikely to be open from the outset this will affect the ability of Yaxley residents 
to get their children into nearby schools. 

• Why isn’t more time being spent on developing a secondary school for Yaxley. 

• Yaxley is a forgotten village. It is about time the County Council did something about this. 

• Young people may be able to afford a house. 

• Council should concentrate on existing villages, not keep expanding 

• Impact on existing infrastructure and services. 

• Yaxley schools have had to take children from Hampton. The same will happen with this 
development. 

• Local amenities such as the new City Hospital will be unable to cope with the additional 
population. 

• If this application is approved the district and local centres should be constructed first before any 
houses are built so that Yaxley residents are not deprived of their own services and facilities.  

• Concerned that Peterborough City Council have not honoured their commitment to Hampton to 
provide community facilities. 

 
Energy and Sustainability 

• The development is a major opportunity to apply some world class low energy/low carbon design. 
However, the proposal does not reflect a practical approach to the Government commitments on 
Climate Change. 

• There is no explanation as to how the developer is to meet the requirements of Building 
Regulations in terms of carbon reductions. 

• Development as a whole (employment and residential) is unsustainable. 

• Development with junctions would result in increased exhaust gas emissions and pollution along 
this short section of road. 

• Development is contrary to Peterborough’s aspirations to be Environment Capital. 

• Great Haddon is not sustainable in the long term and can only develop into a future regeneration 
policy project costing millions as in Bretton and Ravensthorpe. 

61



 22 

• Development should offer local communities the first ever truly Green Environmental Eco Visual 
Development Project in the country. 

• Impact on carbon footprints. 

• No sustainable energy policy. 

• No details on what is going to be delivered. 
 

Other considerations 

• Documents and drawings are unclear as to the true intentions of the scheme, therefore the 
application is unsound. 

• Submission is difficult to analyse because of its format referring back to original documents not 
included in the submission. 

• Application should be rejected as it is unsound. 

• The submitted documents are fragmented, confused, incomplete, misleading, inconsistent and 
totally overambitious. 

• Insufficient consultation. 

• Concern that Peterborough Councillors will be making a decision affecting Huntingdonshire 
District Council residents. 

• Peterborough should stop interfering with Huntingdonshire. 

• A referendum should be held with a binding result. 

• Many elements of the design are not in accordance with Central and Local Government policy. It 
appears more like a starting point for another series of negotiations. 

• Loss of arable land for food production. 

• Adverse impact on house prices. 

• Very little changed in the revised material. 

• Impact on civil and human Rights. 

• Will of the people has been ignored. 

• Potential house buyers in the area cannot presently raise the necessary mortgages to buy 
existing property for sale so how are 5350 new houses going to be sold. 

• Conditions should be approved by the relevant local authorities as a minimum Huntingdonshire 
District Council, Cambridgeshire County Council and Yaxley Parish Council. 

• Adverse impact on local businesses that may already be struggling in the current economic 
climate. 

• The developer did not update the web site at all during 2010. If they don’t care now, how caring 
will they be during construction. 

• Development by O & H at Hampton has been an unmitigated disaster. The roads and paths have 
not yet been adopted by the City Council, the site has not been fully completed at Vale or 
Hargate, the plans for schools have been miscalculated and extensions are underway to correct 
this, promises have not been fulfilled, the list is endless.  

• Object to the removal of application H130 in Site Allocations DPD. 
 
DPP on behalf of Tesco at Serpentine Green- Object to the retail element on the following basis:- 

a) The proposed quantum of retail floorspace is over and above that required to support and 
address the local shopping needs of the new residents in Great Haddon; 

b) The scale of retail proposed is premature to the population being established and should be 
phased. 

c) The scale of the retail proposed fails to take into account existing facilities within the catchment 
area and a sequential assessment should be undertaken in accordance with PPS4. 

 
A more appropriate solution to address additional demand for larger scale retail facilities deriving from 
the Great Haddon development and other planning housing developments in southern Peterborough, 
would be for such facilities to be directed to the nearby Hampton District Centre (Serpentine Green). 
Should the Council be minded to approve the retail proposals at Great Haddon recommend that such 
facilities be linked in scale by conditions to the number of dwelling completions that are achieved. 
 
ELECTED REPRESENTATIVES 
Comments received from Shalish Vara MP in connection with the first round of public consultation are 
set out in Appendix 3 at the end of report.  
 

62



 23 

No formal representations have been received from Peterborough City Council Councillors.  
 
Councillor Mark Oliver (Yaxley and Farcet Ward)- has raised the following objections and 
concerns:- 

• It is of great importance to Yaxely and its residents that it keeps its identify as one of the 
largest Fenland villages; 

• The Yaxley loop road (as it has now been named) is still of great concern and not fit for 
purpose as a means of taking traffic away from Yaxley and giving a viable useable through 
route to traffic. Traffic is still likely to use the A15 route through Yaxley as this is quicker and a 
more straight forward direct route to travel. 

• The design of the new A15 central boulevard appears to reduce the buffer zone with the loss 
of many trees. This is of great concern as it was the hope of Yaxley village to increase the 
buffer zone and reduce the visual impact of the development and help to maintain the identify 
of Yaxley. 

• It would be greatly appreciated if Peterborough City Council could keep the village and its 
Parish Council informed at every stage of the planning process as this development will have 
a massive effect on the village and its parishioners as the nearest community most affected 
by this development. 

•  
Former Councillor John Watt, a Huntingdonshire District Councillor, has sent in an individual letter of 
objection raising the following issues:- 

• Wish to retain the village identity of Yaxley.  

• Suggest that this could be partially achieved by re-locating the loop road further to the east to 
form a buffer area between Yaxley and Great Haddon. All new housing and the district centre 
should be located to the west of the loop road. In addition, one junction onto this loop and signal 
controlled from the district centre would prove to be an acceptable road safety compromise. The 
benefits of this would be a traffic friendly A15 which would serve traffic needs and would be a 
preferred route to the existing A15 which would transform the existing loop to a fit for purpose 
and possibly worthy of the description, as opposed to attempting to move large volumes of traffic 
in close proximity to a secondary school and on through a shopping area. 

• Appreciates the options offered to the bus gate and the improved road layout at the southern end 
of the A15.  

• Values the preservation of the established wooded area at OS22. 

• Recommendations that Haddon Community be protected by a no through road north of Haddon 
junction on the Old Great North Road. 

• Endorses the response from Yaxley Parish Council, the Norman Cross Action Group, Stilton 
Parish Council, Folksworth Parish Council, Haddon Community Council and the Norman Cross 
Road Safety Group. 

• It is a longstanding planning policy to develop brownfield land where it is available before 
resorting to Greenfield. Hampton Leys site to the east of the A15 should therefore be developed 
first. It is a shame this Greenfield site was commandeered to be included in the Peterborough 
Core Strategy.  

• If the site had not been included within the Core Strategy would have objected to the application 
as being premature and propose that it be delayed until 75% of Hampton Leys is developed 
which would have been in the spirit of developing brownfield first. 

 
Councillor Maddie Banerjee, a Huntingdonshire District Councillor, submitted an individual 
representation following the first round of consultation on the application, see Appendix 3).  
 
5. ASSESSMENT OF THE PLANNING ISSUES 
 
1) The Principle of Development 
 
Policy Context 
The adopted Core Strategy sets out a strategic vision for the city until 2026. Table 1 (page 36) of the 
Core Strategy outlines a requirement for an additional 25,450 dwellings in the administrative area over 
the plan period. In order to achieve this level of growth the Core Strategy states that there is a need for 
urban extensions. Great Haddon, with a provision of approximately 5350 houses, along with Norwood 
are identified in Table 1 and policies CS1 and 2 as strategic locations of new residential development. 

63



 24 

Policy CS5 relates specifically to the urban extensions and sets out that they should be developed in 
accordance with all other development plan policies.  
 
Policy SA1 of the adopted Site Allocations DPD, which has been adopted since the outline planning 
application for Great Haddon was submitted, sets out that it should accommodate some 5350 dwellings. 
The proposals map includes the boundaries of the site which are consistent with the planning 
application. 
 
In light of the adoption of the Core Strategy and the Site Allocations DPD Great Haddon is now an 
allocated urban extension site. The principle of development is therefore acceptable, subject to an 
assessment of the detailed impacts of the scheme which are discussed below. 
 
Loss of Agricultural/Greenfield land and Development of Brownfield Sites 
A number of objectors have raised concerns about the loss of agricultural land, including impact on food 
production, and the development of greenfield land stating that this site should not come forward until 
other brownfield sites within the city particularly Hampton Leys, which has an existing planning 
permission for some 3195 dwellings, have been built out.  
 
The issues around the loss of agricultural land and the development of greenfield sites were considered 
as part of the evidence base for the Core Strategy and found to be acceptable. Given that Great Haddon 
is now an allocated site these matters cannot be revisited in the determination of this planning 
application.  
 
The issue of a phased approach to development (i.e. brownfield land to be built out first) was also 
considered during the Core Strategy process and rejected. In addition, it is not within the remit of officers 
to decline to deal with or to recommend the refusal of a planning application on the basis that land 
elsewhere in the city remains vacant or has an existing planning permission in the case of Hampton 
Leys. Each planning application has to be considered on its own merits and it would not be lawful to 
impose a condition or a S106 clause seeking to prevent a development from being built out until such 
time as other permissions have been implemented. The current application cannot, therefore, be resisted 
on these grounds. 
 
Some objectors have referred to development on Green Belt land. It should be noted that Peterborough 
does not have a Green Belt although the Development Plan does allocate a number of green wedges, 
the purposes of which is to separate areas of development. The requirement for a green wedge between 
Great Haddon and Yaxley was considered by the Inspector during the recent examination of the Site 
Allocations DPD and rejected. A green wedge is not, therefore, necessary for the development to be 
supported. 
 
Some objectors have commented that the proposal would result in the loss of green space for recreation. 
The application site is not designed as green space for recreation and the principle of development is 
already established through the policy context. It cannot therefore be revisited here.  
 
Need for the Development/Housing Density/Location of the Development/Jobs 
A number of objectors have commented that the development is not wanted, that reasoned objections 
are not being listened to and have questioned the need for it. As indicated above, Great Haddon is now 
an allocated urban extension site. The Core Strategy clearly sets out the justification for the housing 
provision which the city needs to deliver over the plan period. The allocation has been made following 
due process including examination by an independent Inspector. Associated with this process have been 
a number of opportunities to make formal representations. As an allocated site these matters of principle 
cannot be revisited through the determination of this planning application. 
 
It has also been commented that given the slow down in build out rates the proposed housing provision 
for Great Haddon should be reduced to approximately 2500 dwellings. Whilst the build out rate has 
slowed in the current climate, this does not alter the requirement for the Local Planning Authority to 
ensure that a supply of housing land is available over the plan period. This is clearly set out within the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). The Government has also made it clear that new housing 
is required. The current economic conditions do not, therefore, justify a lower housing provision being 
considered at Great Haddon. 

64



 25 

 
It has been questioned why the development is located here and not elsewhere in the city. The location 
of the new urban extensions was considered as part of the evidence base for the Core Strategy which 
considered a range of sites with Great Haddon and Norwood being identified as the most appropriate  
locations with the allocation being reinforced through the Site Allocations DPD. The principle is, 
therefore, established and cannot be revisited in respect of this application. 
 
It has been suggested that the application will not ensure that Peterborough grows in the right way. As 
set out above, the need for proposal is established. The application proposes a mixed use development 
with a range of facilities to meet the needs of the future occupiers. It is also located adjacent to an area 
of employment development. As such the proposal is considered to be consistent with Government 
policy set out in the NPPF. 
 
It has been commented that the proposal is not sustainable as there are insufficient jobs within the city. 
As set out above the principle of development is established via the formal allocation of the site and 
cannot be revisited through this application. Notwithstanding this, the development will itself create 
employment opportunities through the creation of both construction jobs and also jobs within the new 
district/local centre and schools which will help support the local economy. The site is also located 
adjacent to a new employment area. 

Over Development/Density 

Concerns have been raised by objectors that the proposal would result in over development of the site 
as densities are too high thereby reinforcing the view that Peterborough provides relatively cheap 
housing as a result of which highly qualified and skilled people working in the city will continue to choose 
the villages and market towns of Huntingdonshire, east Northamptonshire, Rutland and Lincolnshire. 
 
The application seeks permission for up to 5350 dwellings and proposes a range of densities across the 
site from 10 dwellings per hectare (dph) in more sensitive parts to 70 dph in the District Centre where a 
higher density would be expected. The average density for much of the site would be 35dph. On the 
basis of the supporting parameter plans it is considered that this number of dwellings could in principle 
be accommodated without resulting in overdevelopment of the site. It should be noted that some 40% of 
the application area is intended as open space. As such the application is considered to make efficient 
use of land as required by policy CS5 and the overall housing number accords with the figures in the 
Core Strategy and Site Allocations DPD. 
 
A number of comments have been made regarding the relationship between Great Haddon and Yaxley. 
These are considered under part 4 below.   
 
Removal of Gypsy and Traveller Pitches 
The application originally included 5 gypsy and traveller pitches. A number of objections were received in 
relation to this provision.  
 
The decision by the Government to abolish the Regional Spatial Strategy gave the Council the 
opportunity to consider whether it would continue to seek the provision for Gypsy and Traveller pitches in 
accordance with the provisions of the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) Single Issue Review Document 
for Gypsy and Travellers. The Council announced in June 2010 (statement from the Leader) that it 
wished to review these requirements. Following this the requirement to provide pitches at Great Haddon 
as part of the urban extension was removed. Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy now requires a 
contribution towards the provision of a transit site. 
 
A number of the original representations raised concerns about the inclusion of a site for Gypsies and 
Travellers. With the removal of the site these concerns have been addressed. They are not, therefore, 
discussed further in this report. 
 
Lack of Master Plan 
It has been commented that the application is not acceptable because it is not supported by a master 
plan as result of which there is not a coherent picture of the proposed development. The application is 
supported by a framework plan which sets out the location of the key roads and land use parcels. This 
framework plan is in turn supported by a number of other plans which set out the location of key open 

65



 26 

space parcels, building densities and building heights. Given that this is an outline application with all 
matters reserved it is considered that a sufficient level of information is available at this stage. It should 
also be noted that the Government has recently amended the requirements for outline applications 
reducing the level of detail/information which needs to be submitted. As such this application now 
provides more detailed information than could be required if it were submitted today. 
 
Notwithstanding this, if planning permission is granted, there will be a requirement on the developer to 
produce more detailed information in the form of ‘Development Briefs’ as areas come forward for 
development. These will need to be approved by the Council as Local Planning Authority before any 
detailed applications can be submitted. 
 
2.  Highways Impacts 
 
Background 
 
The application is supported by a substantial amount of technical modelling information. This is 
summarised in the Transport Assessment and associated appendices. A separate Framework Travel 
Plan has also been produced.  
 
The modelling has been undertaken using the City Council’s own transport model (the Peterborough 
Transport Model or PTM) and assesses the predicted traffic impacts of the development on the 
surrounding highway network. Included within the base model is development already committed, such 
as Alwalton Hill and Hampton, in order that the cumulative impacts of committed development and the 
proposed development are assessed in an integrated way. The modelling runs also take into 
consideration the impact of the employment area which already benefits from planning permission. 
Certain aspects of the scheme have also been assessed using other more detailed modelling tools. 
 
The application site is solely within the Peterborough unitary area as is A1139 Fletton Parkway to the 
north. The Highways Agency has control over the A1(M) including junction 16 which connects to the A15 
and Junction 17 which connects to Fletton Parkway (the strategic network). Cambridgeshire County 
Council has control over the A605 which connects on the west side of Junction 17, the Old Great North 
Road and the section of the A15 to the south of the Great Haddon site. This part of the A15 is within the 
boundary of the administrative area covered by Huntingdonshire District Council. 
 
Highways officers from Cambridgeshire County Council (CCC), Huntingdonshire District Council (HDC) 
and the Highways Agency have been involved throughout the application process since submission in 
December 2009 and have worked closely with Peterborough City Council officers.  
 
The predicted impacts of the development on each part of the highway network are set out below. 
 
Key Impacts 
 
1) Impact on Peterborough’s Highway Network 
 
(a) Impact on the A1139 Fletton Parkway including junctions 1 and 2 
 
The section of Fletton Parkway between junction 2 and junction 17 of the A1(M), particularly that 
between junctions 1 and 2 currently operates close to its theoretical capacity during the morning peak 
period (8-9am). In order to accommodate the level of housing and employment growth set out in the 
Core Strategy improvement/widening works between these junctions will be necessary. The need for 
these works was indentified in the Council’s Infrastructure Development Programme (IDP) which forms 
part of the Core Strategy evidence base.  
 
The modelling information shows that drivers travelling westbound (i.e. towards the A1(M)) between 
junctions 3 and 1 of the Parkway currently experience delays to their journey in the region of 1 and a half 
minutes during the morning peak hour. 
 
In order to limit the traffic impacts from the Great Haddon employment area on the Fletton Parkway, a 
cap on development was imposed, namely that not more than 50% of the B1 floorspace, 66% of the B2 

66



 27 

and 100% of the B8 can be built out until such time as the Fletton Parkway is widened. Using this cap it 
is predicted that the potential delay on the Parkway will be limited to not more than an additional minute, 
thereby taking the overall delay between junctions 3 and 1 to approximately two and a half minutes.  
Officer’s considered this delay to be within acceptable limits when taking into consideration the wider 
objectives of the city in terms of growth and job creation opportunities.  Members shared this view in 
approving the scheme. 
 
A similar approach is recommended for the core area. Using the same form of analysis the applicant has 
proposed a cap of 1700 dwellings (to be secured by a condition). It has been calculated by the 
applicant’s transport consultants that this cap would result in some 36-48 seconds additional delay 
thereby taking the overall delay to just under three and a half minutes.  
 
The City Council is currently drawing up plans to widen the Parkway between junctions 17 and 2, with 
money being set aside for the works in the Council’s budget. It is proposed to commence works in early 
2014. The Council has received provisional funding through the Growing Places Fund and further 
external funding is being actively sought to help fund the scheme. Developer contributions will also be 
secured through the S106 process (including from this application, see part 12 below). In light of this, it is 
unlikely in reality that the cap on development will be reached before the Parkway is widened and 
therefore that the predicted delays will not actually occur. Given this situation, in conjunction with the 
Council’s overall growth agenda, officers consider the proposed cap on development to be acceptable. 
 
The development has the potential to impact upon junction 2 when the Central Boulevard is completed 
(see part b below). Works to improve this junction will, therefore, be carried out at the same time as the 
Central Boulevard is built, namely prior to the occupation of the 3500th dwelling. This can be secured via 
a condition. 
 
The permission for the employment area requires a scheme of works to junction 1 at a very early stage 
of the build out. It is not considered necessary to condition these works as part of this application 
because if the employment area development were not to happen for any reason then there would be no 
physical link between the core area and this junction and, therefore, no potential impact upon it.  
 
(b) The Central Boulevard 

 
It is proposed to create what has been termed a ‘central boulevard’ running through the core area. The 
boulevard will connect into the already consented Western Peripheral Road at the north and the A15 to 
the south thereby creating a through route from the A15 to junction 2 of the Fletton Parkway.  
 
The traffic assessment sets out that although two lanes (in each direction) are not required along the 
length of the road for capacity purposes, they are needed at junctions to facilitate movement. In light of 
this, to avoid ‘bulges’ at each junction, it has been agreed by officers that the road should be designed 
as a boulevard with two lanes in each direction for its entire length. In light of officer concerns and those 
raised by objectors, about the appearance of this road and its potential to separate the new community 
at Great Haddon further design work has been undertaken by the applicant. This sets out that it would be 
designed with a 3 metre wide footpath/cycleway on each side and a central median. Formal crossing 
points for pedestrians and cyclists will be provided at the junctions along with informal crossing points 
along the length of the road. Discussions have been had with Highway officers regarding the need to 
minimise the size of the junctions and associated signage/clutter. High quality materials will also be 
required. A condition setting out a detailed specification for the design of the road is recommended.  
 
In discussion with the relevant highway authorities it has been agreed that the central boulevard should 
be put in place prior to the occupation of 3500 houses.  The detailed design of the road will need to be 
agreed in advance of this. 
 
2. Impact on the Strategic Network (A1(M) including Junctions 16 and 17) 

 
Following detailed technical discussion and assessment of the information the Highways Agency has 
removed its holding direction which prevented the Council from determining the application. In order to 
protect the function and movement of the traffic on its strategic network the Agency has directed that a 

67



 28 

number of conditions be imposed upon any planning permission which maybe granted. It has also 
requested that a Travel Plan be secured (by condition or S106- see Sustainable Travel section below). 
 
The first of these conditions requires the approval and implementation of a detailed scheme of works to 
junction 17 of the A1(M) comprising signalisation of the junction (including the introduction of signals on 
the A605 approach road), based upon a draft scheme which has been assessed at this stage. The 
condition will require these works to be done before the first occupation of any part of the scheme.  This 
condition is the same as that which was imposed upon the Great Haddon employment area as both 
schemes have the potential to impact on this junction. Should the works be done by the developers of 
the employment then there would be no requirement for the developers of the core area to carry out any 
works to this junction.  
 
The second condition requires the installation of cameras to identify any queues between junctions 17 of 
the A1(M) to junction 3 of the Fletton Parkway along with an associated speed restriction of 60mph. 
These measures are proposed to reduce the potential for queuing back onto the A1(M) and associated 
risk of accidents. These schemes will need to be operational before the first occupations of any 
dwellings. 
 
The Agency’s third condition requires an amended merge arrangement (know as a type c merge) on the 
slip road from junction 17 of the A1(M) to the Fletton Parkway. This will need to be implemented before 
the occupation of the 1000th house. 
 
The Agency’s final condition, and as discussed under subsection 1 (a) above, is a cap on development 
until such time as the Fletton Parkway has been widened (of 1700 dwellings) 
 
The Highways Agency has also assessed the potential impact of the development on Junction 16 of the 
A1(M). Having done so it has not raised any concerns nor has it directed that any conditions relating to 
this junction be imposed. 
 
Concerns have been raised by objectors regarding the potential impact on junction 16 and the fact that it 
was improved under a Private Finance Initiative Scheme (PFI) which would create difficulties with the 
implementation on any further works. As set out above the Highways Agency, the statutory highway 
authority, has not raised any concerns.  
 
Subject to these conditions the impact of the development on the strategic network is considered to be 
acceptable. 

 
3. Impact of Cambridgeshire County Council’s  (CCC) Network 
 
(a)Impact on the A15 
 
Great Haddon is located immediately to the north of the A15. A new traffic light controlled junction 
between the Central Boulevard and the A15 is proposed. It is also proposed to divert a section of the 
A15 off its current alignment through Yaxley into the development, referred to as the Yaxley loop road. 
This road will have traffic lights at its ends where is diverts/rejoins the current route of the A15. There will 
also be traffic lights along it, at the junctions with the District Centre. 
 
The application when it was originally submitted included a bus gate to the north of Yaxley, as a result of 
which all traffic travelling to or from Peterborough along the A15 would have had to use the new loop 
road through the Great Haddon development. Substantial objection to the bus gate was received from 
local residents, particularly those in Yaxley. In light of this the bus gate has been removed from the 
scheme. It is now proposed to implement a scheme of traffic calming on the A15 through Yaxley to 
encourage use of the new loop road.  
 
The traffic modelling shows that the A15 adjacent to Great Haddon currently operates within its 
theoretical capacity. The applicant has advised that currently some 60% of the A15’s capacity through 
Yaxley is used in the evening peak. Other flows are lower. With the partial build out of Great Haddon, 
before all the Central Boulevard is constructed providing a connection directly with Fletton Parkway, the 
modelling information predicts that the A15 will still remain within its theoretical capacity at around 41% 

68



 29 

in the evening peak. Other traffic flows are predicted to be lower. The reason for this drop is because it is 
predicted that there will be a significant diversion of traffic along the loop road. 
 
The traffic modelling shows that B1091 through Yaxley currently operates within its theoretical capacity. 
Currently some 65% of the roads capacity is used in the morning peak. Other flows are lower. With the 
build out of Great Haddon the modelling information predicts that the road will still operate within its 
theoretical capacity with some 75% of its capacity being used in the morning peak. Other flows are 
lower. 
 
It is proposed to set aside a sum of money in the S106 to deliver a scheme of traffic calming through 
Yaxley so that the most appropriate measures can be put in place depending upon the traffic 
movements. The delivery of the scheme can be controlled through a condition, the wording of which has 
been agreed with Highway officer’s at CCC. 
 
A number of objections to the proposed loop road/the associated scheme of traffic calming have been 
received raising concerns that the route through Yaxley will remain more attractive, particularly as the 
loop road would be located adjacent to the district centre and secondary school site. This includes 
continued concerns from HDC. Final comments from CCC are awaited.  
 
These concerns are acknowledged and it is accepted that the loop road could be a busy route 
particularly around the district centre. However the loop road has to be considered in the context of the 
development as a whole. When it is built out there will be a number of routes into and out of Great 
Haddon and traffic is likely to disperse along these. Traffic to and from the development will not need to 
go through Yaxley. The loop road will be in place from very early on within the development build out. 
This will be controlled via a condition. 
 
With the widening of Fletton Parkway the A1(M)/Fletton Parkway is likely to become a much more 
attractive route for through traffic into and out of Peterborough. As set out above, plans are in place to 
commence the widening work next year. A widened parkway will therefore be in place from the 
outset/very early in the build out of the development. In addition, there will be a scheme of traffic calming 
in place through Yaxley which will act as a deterrent along with the associated redesign of the junctions 
where the A15 diverts through the development. It is acknowledged that the loop road will need to be 
carefully designed to ensure that it is an attractive route. The S106 will include a sum of money for 
Traffic Regulation Orders which will be used as a measure to help keep the loop road clear. 
 
In light of the above the scheme is considered by officers to be acceptable as proposed. 
 
A number of the representations have also highlighted that the original planning permission for Hampton 
(91P556 and 91/0815 refer respectively) included a condition (H1) requiring the provision of a Yaxley 
bypass to be completed and available for use prior to the construction of the 5000th house being 
commenced. The associated S106 Agreement requires the construction of a new road (“the Western 
Peripheral Road”) between junction 2 of the Fletton Parkway and the A15 at a point to the south west of 
the village of Yaxley (marked Z on plan 2) before the development generates 5900 vehicle trips in the 
weekday evening peak hour when calculated in accordance with the formula set out in the document. 
Having reviewed the vehicle trips it is predicted that the trigger point accords with the number of house 
occupations referred to in the condition. The trigger point has not yet been reached. The developer for 
Hampton has obtained planning permission for stages 1-3 of the “Western Peripheral Road”. Stage 1 is 
complete and is operational. Stage 3 is currently under construction. The objectors are of the view that 
the current loop road would not constitute a bypass as originally required. 
 
Whilst these concerns are noted this application has to be considered on its own merits. If as a result of 
this development the original Hampton S106 cannot be complied with then it will be for the developer of 
Hampton, O & H, to amend that S106 Agreement. It does not make the current proposal unacceptable. It 
is important to note that the Hampton permission contains no details about the nature of the road which 
has to be delivered nor is there any reference to vehicle speeds. Given this lack of detail officers are of 
the view that the Yaxley loop road/Central Boulevard as proposed would fulfil the original S106 
requirement.  
 

69



 30 

When the application was originally submitted the Primary Movement Network Plan showed a number of 
secondary accesses from the development onto the A15. In light of the concerns raised, including by 
HDC, these have now been removed and an updated plan submitted.   
 
It has been commented that a reduction in speed limit along the A15 to 40mph would be detrimental to 
the residents of Yaxley. No concerns about the reduced speed limit have been raised by the highway 
authorities. It has also been commented that the A15 should be dualled in its entirety. This is not 
considered necessary to support the development.  
 
Traffic from Great Haddon will also be able to access the A15 via the Old Great North Road at the 
existing T-junction south of Norman Cross. It is proposed to widen the carriageway of the A15 from 
Junction 16 to the Great North Road junction. A detailed scheme would be secured by a condition along 
with a timetable for implementation to ensure that the works take place at an appropriate time during the 
built out of the development. No objections to the principle of this have been received by any of the 
Highway Authorities. The precise timing of the works and the detailed scheme would be agreed with 
highway officers at CCC. A light controlled junction was originally proposed at the junction of the Old 
Great North Road/A15 but following discussion with all the highway authorities it has been agreed to 
retain the current junction form although CCC has requested that traffic flows be monitored to determine 
whether it would be appropriate to amend the junction design in the future. A condition addressing this is 
recommended. 
 
Having considered all these matters, and notwithstanding the concerns raised, the impact of the 
development on the A15 is considered to be acceptable. 
 
(b) The Old Great North Road 
 
As indicated above, the Old Great North Road lies to the west of the site and connects to the A15 at the 
south. At its northern end the road goes underneath the A1(M) at which point it becomes a low key rural 
road leading to the village of Haddon, ultimately providing a connection onto the A605. 
 
The application originally proposed 5 new access points from the development onto the Old Great North 
Road. In light of the concerns which were raised by local residents regarding the principle of any new 
access points the number has been reduced to two, as shown on the updated Primary Movement 
Network Plan. This is considered by officers to be a reasonable approach as the Old Great North Road 
is an existing piece of infrastructure which is currently under utilised.  Only some 2% of its theoretical 
capacity is currently taken up. With the Great Haddon development as a whole (i.e. both the employment 
development and the core area) the traffic modelling predicts that its use will increase to some 70% of its 
theoretical capacity. It is appropriate to make use of a piece of existing infrastructure which is suitable for 
the proposed traffic volumes, particularly as it will still be within its total theoretical capacity.  
 
Given the nature of the road it is considered that a scheme of traffic calming will be required. The 
detailed scheme and the timing of this can be secured via a condition. Some representations have 
commented that traffic calming on the Great North Road is unwanted by residents. However, given that 
the road will become busier it is considered appropriate to install this. The detailed scheme will need to 
be agreed with CCC. 
 
It is also proposed that in the future a link will be created from the Great North Road through to junction 1 
of the Fletton Parkway via the employment area. The principle of this new road link was established 
when the outline planning permission for the employment area was granted. This permission includes a 
condition requiring the submission of a detailed design, which will allow cars to pass but not HGV’s to 
ensure that they exit the site via Junction 1 of Fletton Parkway. The condition states that this link should 
be put in place before more than 50% of the B1 floor space, 66% of the B2 floor space and 100% of the 
B8 floor space is built out. 
 
In light of the transport modelling work a similar condition is recommended for the core area. This states 
that not more than 4500 dwellings should be occupied without this road link going in. It should be noted 
that if for any reason the employment site were not to come forward then this link could not be put in 
place as the land required for the road through the employment area is not within this applicant’s 

70



 31 

ownership. This is, however, considered very unlikely given that works have commenced. In reality the 
trigger for the road link is likely to be met by the employment area first. 
 
 Objections to the Proposed Old Great North Road Link 
 
A number of objections to the principle of the road link were received. These were addressed in the 
employment area report and as set out planning permission has been granted for this link in principle 
and cannot be revisited here.  
 
Concerns have also been raised regarding the potential impact for ‘rat running’ through Haddon village. 
These concerns are noted and have been considered by Highway officers. They are of the view, 
however, that in reality it would not be an attractive route for rat running given the nature of the road and 
route to the A605. Secondly, only a limited number of people are likely to want to access onto the A605 
so for most this route would represent a substantial diversion which would add a number of miles to their 
journey. It is not, therefore considered that the application could be resisted on this basis. It is 
acknowledged that the route maybe used if there is an accident on the A1(M) but this would be the 
situation in any event and is not a reason to resist the application. The representation from HDC refers to 
the requirement for traffic management measures to address this. It is not clear what is meant by this or 
what could be put in place. It is also not for this application to address potential issues around the 
management of traffic in the case of an accident of the A1(M). 
 
Concerns have also been raised that the junctions and the bend under the A1(M) would become more 
dangerous as a result of increased traffic. No highway safety concerns have been raised by either 
Peterborough or Cambridgeshire Highways officers or by the Highways Agency. 
 
The potential impact of the development on the Old Great North Road is, therefore, considered to be 
acceptable. 
 
 (c) Impact on the A605 
 
The A605 runs east west and crosses the border into Northamptonshire a short distance beyond the turn 
off for Elton village. Given this, Highways officers at Northamptonshire County Council have been 
consulted twice by Council Highway officers and have raised no objections.  Given the location of the 
core area in relation the A605 and the direction most traffic will travel in, it is not anticipated that there 
would be any significant impact. 
 
Diversions of Footpaths/Bridleways 
 
There are two public footpaths and two bridleways (which link together to form part of the Green Wheel) 
running through the application site. It is proposed to divert the two footpaths so they run through the 
new open spaces to be created within the development. It was originally proposed to divert the Green 
Wheel away from Haddon Lake for ecological reasons. This diversion was not supported by either the 
Council’s Rights of Way Officer, Wildlife Officer or Natural England. It is, therefore, proposed to keep the 
Green Wheel on its current alignment around Haddon Lake before diverting it under the Central 
Boulevard. It will then return to its current alignment adjacent to the existing woodland. This approach it 
considered to be acceptable in principle.  
 
Notwithstanding any planning permission which may be granted, the applicant will need to formally divert 
the existing footpaths/bridleways under separate legislation/procedures.  
 
Sustainable Travel 
 
(i) Public Transport Provision. 
The public transport provision to support the development has been discussed in detail including 
meetings with Stagecoach who run the current bus service to Hampton. It is proposed that there will be 
two bus routes around the development as shown on the Public Transport Movement Network Plan. 
These will gradually come forward as the development progresses. In the short term when the number of 
occupations is low it is proposed that Great Haddon would be supported by a ‘Call Connect’ service i.e. a 
bespoke service which people can use as they need it. Over 90% of the dwellings within the new 

71



 32 

development will be within 400metres walk of a bus stop. Funding for the new service including the Call 
Connection element will be secured through the S106 Agreement (see section 5 part 12 below). This will 
also set out the service requirements and the delivery of bus stops which will have Real Time 
Information. 
 
HDC did request that the bus service connect with Yaxley but having discussed the proposal in detail 
this is not considered to be a viable option. The proposal is not unacceptable without such a link.  
 
It has been commented that buses should not be the only form of public transport to serve the 
development and reference has been made to the use of trains/trams. Whilst these comments are noted 
the Council has no policy in this respect so the developer cannot be asked to consider other options, 
which would also impact on the viability of the overall proposal.  
 
(ii) Walking and Cycling 
 
As part of the Great Haddon development new walking/cycling links will be created within the 
development. Key routes to link the development to the wider area and to allow for sustainable travel are 
considered to be:- 

(1) link to the employment area 
(2) Links to the Old Great North Road 
(3) Link to the A15 and Yaxley 

The applicant has shown these routes on the Dedicated Pedestrian/Cycle and Equestrian Routes Plan 
as leisure routes. There are a number of leisure routes in Hampton which historically have not been 
adopted by the Council or lit. Whilst this approach is acceptable for new leisure routes within the 
development it is considered that the key routes set out above will need to be adoptable and lit, 
especially that to the employment area. A condition specifically covering these routes is, therefore, 
recommended on any planning permission. 
 
CCC has requested funding towards wider pedestrian connections. This has been considered but in light 
of the overall viability of the scheme S106 funding (considered under section 5 part 12 of this report) has 
had to be prioritised. Such links whilst desirable are not essential and the scheme is not unacceptable 
from a sustainable travel perspective without them. 
  
(iii) Travel Plan 
 
The application is supported by a Travel Plan which has been agreed in principle with the Council’s 
Highway Officers and the Highways Agency. This set sets out measures to reduce car journeys 
associated with the development. It includes the appointment of a Travel Plan Coordinator for the 
development, free bus travel for three months and some contingency funding should the targets not be 
met. The Travel Plan will form part of the S106 Agreement associated with any planning permission 
which maybe granted. 
 
Construction Traffic 
 
It is recommended that a condition be imposed upon any planning permission which may be granted 
requiring the submission and approval of a Construction Management Plan (CMP) for the development 
of each parcel as it comes forward. This will ensure that other users of the site, including people using 
the bridleway are protected. Following discussion the applicant has agreed to accept a restriction on 
hours of delivery to the site so that these do not co-incide with peak traffic flows. Specific reference to 
this restriction is recommended in the condition for the avoidance of any doubt. 
 
It has been commented that there should be no access/egress during the construction phase of the 
development via the Old Great North Road or the A15. The haul routes will form part of the CMP and will 
be discussed with the relevant Highway Authorities at the time to ensure that they are appropriate and 
suitable. Given the nature of the development it would not be reasonable to impose a condition at this 
stage which prevents construction access from the A15. 
 
 
 

72



 33 

Other Transport Matters 
 
(i) Dry Leas  
A petition with 44 signatures was received following the first round of public consultation raising concerns 
that development at Great Haddon would increase traffic on the A1260 Nene Parkway to the detriment of 
residents who consider that their amenity is already affected by traffic noise and pollution. In addition, it 
asks that the Council look at ways of reducing traffic noise nuisance from the Parkway between junction 
31 and 32. 
 
The traffic flows associated with this application have been analysed by Highway officers who have 
advised that the predicted increase in traffic on the Nene Parkway as a result of the Great Haddon core 
area will not be significant. As such it is not considered there would be any significant increase in 
associated noise levels.  
 
The request that the Council actively look for ways to mitigate road noise is noted, but this needs to be 
reviewed separately outside the scope of this application given it is an existing issue. In view of officer’s 
conclusions about traffic levels from the development it is not considered reasonable to ask the applicant 
to contribute to any mitigation measures in this location.  
 
(ii) Response from the Peterborough Cycling Forum 
 
The Peterborough Cycling Forum has objected to the application on the grounds that low priority has 
been given to cyclists. The key walking and cycling links to the edge of the development are set out 
above. These include a direct adoptable cycle path to the employment area. Additional cycle routes will 
be provided within the development. With regards to a connection with Hampton the comments are 
noted. In this instance, however, there is limited scope to include a route because it would have to go 
through Orton Pit SSSI/SAC a site of international ecological importance (see section 5 part 6 below). 
The ecological constraints therefore have to take precedence. A more informal cycle route has, however, 
been accommodated. This has been agreed with Natural England. The comments on the surfacing are 
noted. This is a point of detail which can be reviewed when the link comes forward. 
 
The Forum has commented that there appears to be no cycle link along the Old Great North Road and 
onto the minor road to Haddon. As set out above, pedestrian/cycle links along the Great North Road will 
be considered further as part of a planning condition. No link is proposed along the Haddon Road as this 
is not considered necessary to support the development. 
 
Concerns have been raised about the cycle link to Stilton, via Junction 16. This will be reviewed when 
detailed proposals for the works to widen the initial section of the A15 come forward. 
 
The Forum has commented that the 3 metre wide footpath/cycleway proposed along the Central 
Boulevard is inadequate and that there should be hybrid cycle lanes along the road. This comment is 
noted but the Council’s Highway officers have accepted the inclusion of footpath/cycleways as these 
help less confident cyclists and therefore are likely to ensure more people cycle. There will be nothing to 
prevent the cyclists that want to from cycling along the road. It has been suggested that all roads within 
the development should be 20mph but this is considered unnecessary and the Council has no policy in 
this respect. Road speeds within each part of the development will be determined at the detailed design 
stage. 
 
The Forum has commented that the cycle parking standards should be adhered to at all times. This is a 
point of detail to be considered as detailed designs come forward but it is considered that cycle parking 
provision should be looked at pragmatically to ensure that the development as a whole works. It is not 
the only design consideration.  
 
Finally the Forum has commented that removal of the bus gate is a retrograde step. As set out above, 
this has been done to in response to the significant number of objections received from Yaxley residents.   

 
 
 
 

73



 34 

(iii) Representation from Sustrans 
 
Sustrans has objected to the application on the grounds that it does not consider the proposal to be  
compatible with policy CS14 of the Core Strategy in that it fails to address sustainable transport 
seriously. 
 
Policy CS14 is an overarching transport policy, the key elements of which are around reducing the need 
to travel especially by private car; delivering a sustainable transport package capable of supporting a 
bigger and better Peterborough; supporting the city’s Environmental Capital objectives; improved 
accessibility to facilities for residents and accident reduction. 
 
It is considered that the measures which have been set out above in terms of the provision of a private 
bus service, the role of the Travel Plan and its associated measures meet the requirements of policy 
CS14. The ecological constraints to the site in terms of the provision of additional cycle routes have to be 
acknowledged and in this instance outweigh the benefits which would be achieved via additional cycle 
routes.   
 
It has also commented that car parking should be kept to a minimum, that the whole area should be 
20mph and that the link to junction 2 of the Fletton Parkway should be removed to encourage 
sustainable travel along with the reinsertion of the bus gate. Car parking levels will be determined as 
each detailed application is considered in line with the relevant planning policy at that stage, learning 
lessons from other urban extensions including Hampton. Notwithstanding this officer’s do not consider 
that car parking should be unduly restricted as experience has shown that reduced parking provision 
does not lead to less car ownership even if that vehicle is not used for travel to work. People still wish to 
own cars and these need to be parked in a secure location. With regards to vehicle speeds it is not 
considered necessary for all roads within the development to be 20mph and the Council does not have a 
policy in this respect. The reasons for the removal of the bus gate have been set out above and it would 
not be acceptable in terms of transport impacts to remove the link with junction 2 of the Parkway, neither 
would residents of the surrounding area find such an approach acceptable. 
 
(iv) Comments from the Local Access Forum 
 
Matters relating to the Central Boulevard and the Yaxley loop road have been discussed in detail above. 
With regards to the diversion of the Green Wheel it is considered reasonable to divert this to under the 
new Lode Crossing in order to facilitate the development. It will now remain on its current alignment 
around Haddon Lake.  
 
The comment that the development is traffic dominated is noted but as set out above it does include 
sustainable traffic measures and is considered to comply with policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy.  
 
(v) British Horse Society Comments 
The comment from the British Horse Society that the green grid routes should be formalised on the 
definitive map as bridleways or restrictive byways is noted but this is a matter for consideration outside of 
the planning system. The Society’s comment that the cycleway routes be upgraded to bridleways is 
noted but this may not be appropriate in all instances and could not be insisted upon. As such the 
proposal is considered to be acceptable as submitted.  
 
(vi) Comments from Hampton Parish Council 
 
Concerns have been raised regarding the potential traffic impacts upon Hampton roads. Given the 
relationship between the two developments it is not considered that any significant volume of traffic is 
likely to cut through Hampton as other more direct routes are available. The transport modelling 
considers the capacity of the Western Peripheral Road. Highway officers have not raised any concerns. 
Any final comments from Hampton Parish Council will be set out in the update report. 
 
(vii) Comments from the Norman Cross Action Group 
 
The Norman Cross Action Group is of the view that it has not been demonstrated that the traffic 
problems likely to arise from the development can be addressed and it suggests in its response that 

74



 35 

housing numbers be reduced to 2500-3000. The traffic implications of the development have been set 
out above. As indicated, these impacts are considered to be acceptable. Furthermore the housing 
numbers cannot simply be reduced as suggested because such a substantial reduction would impact 
upon the deliverability of the housing growth set out in the Core Strategy and Site Allocations DPD both 
of which have been the subject to examination by an independent Inspector and found to be sound. 
 
It has objected to the number of junctions proposed on the A15 and the Old Great North Road. As set 
out above, the scheme has been amended to remove the secondary accesses indicated onto the A15 
and the number of accesses onto the Great North Road reduced from 5 to 2 to try and address the 
concerns raises. As discussed above, officer’s consider the proposed reduced number of junctions to be 
acceptable. 
 
Concern has been raised that the additional traffic lights will increase journey times, the risk of accidents 
and general inconvenience for residents of Stilton. There are also concerns that both Stilton and 
Folksworth maybe used for ‘rat running’. No concerns in this respect have been raised by the highway 
authorities and as set out above, it is proposed to retain the A15/Old Great North Road junction as a t-
junction. Therefore, the first additional set of lights will be the A15/Central Boulevard junction. 
 
It has been suggested that an outer ring road be created within the development. This is noted but the 
land take for such a proposal would be considerable. There is also no reason not to connect the 
development to the A15 and Great North Road in design terms. Highways officers have also not raised 
any objections. As discussed above, the Old Great North Road in particular is an under utilised piece of 
highway infrastructure.  
 
The concerns about potential rat running through Haddon village have been commented on above.  
 
The comments in respect of junction 16 are noted. However no concerns have been raised by the 
Highways Agency or Highway officers at CCC. This element of the proposal is therefore considered to 
be acceptable. 
 
The comment that at the detailed design stage it will need to be ensured that vehicles cannot park on the 
loop road is noted and it is agreed that the detailed design and associated highway constraints such as 
Traffic Regulation Orders will be important considerations. Funding towards Traffic Regulation Orders on 
both the Central Boulevard and Yaxley loop road will be secured as part of the S106 package. 
 
Any further comments from the Norman Cross Action Group will be set out in the update report. 
 
(viii) Other Representations 
Concerns have been raised that the development would result in more damage to the 
surrounding road network i.e. potholes. This is not a planning consideration. 
 
A concern has been raised that the development would be harmful to children playing on village roads. 
No highway safety concerns have been raised by Highway Officers in this regard. 
 
Concerns have been raised that the density of housing is likely to result in parking problems. As set out 
above parking will be determined as part of each detailed application on the basis of current policy at the 
time. It is not considered that the density of the development would prejudice the delivery of adequate 
parking provision. 
 
It has been commented that the road layout and rate of road adoption in Hampton is unacceptable and 
that existing problems should be sorted before new development is granted. Although these concerns 
are noted the Council could not resist this development on the basis of issues at Hampton. These 
matters need to be addressed separately. 
 
Summary 
 
It is acknowledged that the proposal will result in additional traffic on the surrounding road network. 
However in view of the Council’s growth agenda and the mitigation measures proposed both in terms of 
the physical measures such as traffic calming to Yaxley and a cap on development until the Fletton 

75



 36 

Parkway is widened and other measures such as the bus service and travel plan, the transport impacts 
of the development are considered to be acceptable and in accordance with policy CS14 of the adopted 
Core Strategy and policy PP12 of the Planning Policies DPD.  
 
3) District/Local Centres 
 
A new district centre and two local centres are proposed. Since the preparation of the initial assessment 
the Core Strategy has been adopted thereby establishing the principle of development at Great Haddon 
including the creation of new centres. This has changed the context in which the proposal should be 
viewed and is explained further below. In addition the NPPF has been introduced replacing the previous 
advice in Planning Policy Statement 4 and planning permission has been granted for three other 
supermarket sites within the city (ING, Maskew Avenue and the Peterborough Garden Park scheme). In 
light of this changing policy context and the other permissions issued the applicant has submitted an 
updated Retail Impact Assessment (RIA). 
 
The Council employed an independent Retail Consultant to aid the initial assessment of the scheme. 
The updated RIA has been reviewed by officers. 
 
The District Centre 
The application proposes a district centre with some 9200 square metres of retail floorspace. By way of 
comparison, this is more retail floorspace than at the Werrington Centre (with redevelopment) but less 
than at Bretton or Orton.  
 
The RIA sets out that this floorspace would be broken down into a food store with a maximum area of 
4200 square metres gross (2940 square metres net). The gross area is comparable with the new 
Morrisons at Stanground and less than the Sainsbury’s in the Bretton Centre. Of this floor area, some 
3700 square metres would be used for the sale of food goods (convenience goods) (2590 square metres 
net) and the remainder, some 500 square metres, for the sale of non food goods (comparison goods) 
(350 square metres net).  
 
Of the remaining amount of retail floorspace, some 5000 square metres, it is proposed that an additional 
500 square metres be used for the sale of food (convenience) and 1000 square metres for general retail 
uses (comparison) falling within Use Class A1 of the Town and Country Planning Use Classes Order 
2008 (as amended). The remaining balance, some 3500 square metres, would be kept flexible to 
accommodate other uses failing within use classes A2-A5, such as banks and estates agents (A2), 
restaurants (A3), public house (A4) and hot food takeaways (A5). 
 
It is also proposed that the District Centre include a number of other uses. These uses could include 
offices (B1a) (2000 square metres), community uses (D1) and leisure uses (D2), with a total floor area of 
some 11 163 square metres.  
 
1. Impact of the Proposed Convenience Floor space (Food Retailing) 
Policy CS15 of the adopted Core Strategy sets out the Council’s strategic approach to retail 
development. It states that proposals should be assessed in the context of national policy guidance, 
(PPS4 Sustainable Economic Development is specifically referred to as this was the correct policy at the 
time of adoption although as noted above it has been replaced with the NPPF), seeks to support and 
regenerate the city centre and where appropriate existing local and district centres. In the case of the 
new urban extensions CS15 states that retail development should serve the retail needs of the new 
communities. It sets out that consideration of this matter should take into account quantitative and 
qualitative need. The supporting text (paragraph 6.9.14) states that in the case of Great Haddon this is 
likely to result in the creation of a district centre and two local centres.  
 
The NPPF seeks to protect town centres and states that a sequential test should be applied to 
applications for town centre uses that are not in centre and not in accordance with an up to date 
development plan. It goes on to set out that an impact assessment should be required for proposals 
greater than 2500 square metres. This should consider the impact on existing and planned centres over 
a suitable period. Where a proposal fails to satisfy the sequential test or is likely to have a significant 
adverse impact it should be refused. 
 

76



 37 

The initial RIA gave consideration to the issue of the Sequential Test considerations but with the 
adoption of the Core Strategy the proposal is now considered to be in accordance with an up to date 
development plan which makes specific reference to the creation of new centres and new retail provision 
at Great Haddon. As such it would be inappropriate to give further consideration to this matter. The 
section has been removed from the updated RIA.  
  
In light of the policy guidance set out in the NPPF and policy CS15 of the Core Strategy the key issues in 
assessing the acceptability of retail provision at Great Haddon are considered to be:- 

a) The ‘scale’ of the proposed development, having regard to quantitative and qualitative 
considerations, including the appropriate role and function of the Great Haddon shopping 
centres; 

b) The ‘impact’ of the proposal on the vitality and viability of existing/planned centres. 
These matters are discussed below separately although they are closely interrelated. 
 
Scale 
Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy indicates that the scale of new retail development at Great Haddon 
should be appropriate to serve the needs of the new community to be created. Consideration of 
appropriate scale needs to have regard to both quantitative and qualitative need. 
 
i) Quantitative Need 
The Core Strategy retail policy is supported by the Peterborough Retail Assessment (2009) and 
subsequent updates to it, which assess the capacity within the city to support additional retail 
development. In terms of the potential retail capacity in Great Haddon the assessment concludes that 
the population could support between 1890 and 3780 square metres net of additional convenience (food) 
floorspace. The report goes on to acknowledge the advantages of an anchor food store that would serve 
the needs of the community and prevent leakage to other foodstores. No allowance was made for other 
factors which occur in reality such as trade inflows and outflows.  
 
The RIA sets out justification for the proposed retail provision taking into account the catchment area, 
based on a 10 minute drive time. This takes in most of the postcode sectors PE7 3 and PE7 8 extending 
south of Peterborough. By 2021 the assessment predicts that the foodstore at Great Haddon would draw 
some 80% of its trade from this catchment. The Assessment also looks at overall levels of population 
growth within these post code areas (which includes the development area of Hampton Leys), and 
associated sales densities and turnover. On this basis it concludes that there would be sufficient 
convenience goods expenditure to support a foodstore of the size proposed.  
 
Having considered the quantitative argument in the RIA it is not considered that there is a ‘prima facie’ 
quantitative need for the scale of the convenience floorspace proposed. However, this has to be 
balanced with qualitative need. 

 
ii) Qualitative Need 
As set out the above the amount of floorspace proposed would be less than Sainsbury’s at Bretton and 
comparable to the new Morrison’s at Stanground, using the gross floorspace figures. It is approximately 
one third of Tesco at Serpentine Green. If it is to succeed as a foodstore for Great Haddon it is 
considered that it needs to have a comparable range of shopping facilities to those in other District 
Centres. If the foodstore is too small the centre is likely to fail as residents will go elsewhere. It is 
considered that one of the patterns of convenience shopping in the south of Peterborough is likely to be 
the continued dominance of Serpentine Green in light of the overall size of Tesco and the other shopping 
facilities located within. The new store at Great Haddon, therefore, needs to be of sufficient scale and 
attractiveness to prevent Great Haddon residents from treating Tesco at Serpentine Green as their main 
destination for food shopping. In light of this, it is considered that there is strong qualitative case for the 
scale of the foodstore proposed. 
 
Impact upon the Viability and Viability of Other Centres 
It is considered that the proposed foodstore at Great Haddon is most likely to result in trade diversion 
away from other large foodstores as they are the most comparable existing facilities. The principal 
diversion and therefore impact is predicted to be from Tesco at Serpentine Green given that it is the 
nearest foodstore. However having reviewed the RIA it is not considered that the level of diversion would 
be such that it would impact upon the future vitality and variability of the store. 

77



 38 

 
The Retail Impact Assessment predicts some trade diversion away from city centre stores, notably Asda 
in Rivergate, which is also predicted to lose some trade from the new Morrison’s at Stanground. 
However, the store is still predicted to trade marginally above company average. As such it is not 
considered that the proposed new store at Great Haddon would have an unacceptable material impact.  
 
Since the submission of this application planning permission has been granted for three new additional 
supermarkets within the city. These stores would be located at the Peterborough Garden Parks 
(application reference 12/00290/OUT), Maskew Avenue (11/01321/OUT) and the former Royal Mail 
Sorting Office on Bourges Boulevard). Only one of these sites, the former sorting office, is located within 
a designated centre (in this case the city centre). The updated RIA considers these schemes and 
concludes that given their locations there would be no substantial relationship with Great Haddon, 
although it notes that these commitments will compete to some extent with the offer in the city centre. 
Notwithstanding this, as the Council has approved them since the Core Strategy has been in place it 
clearly has no concerns about cumulative impact. These conclusions are accepted by officers and it is 
not considered that these additional permissions make the size of foodstore proposed at Great Haddon 
unacceptable. 
 
A new store at Great Haddon is likely to attract some residents from the Ortons who currently shop at the 
Co-Op. However, Orton residents already have the opportunity to shop at a much larger store, namely 
Serpentine Green. It is, therefore, considered unlikely that a new store at Great Haddon would cause 
new large scale trade diversions. Although Officers’ believe the impact is likely to be greater than 
predicted in the RIA (3.6%) it is not considered that this would be of a scale to threaten the vitality and 
viability of the store. 
 
The impact of the proposed foodstore on the Co-Op in Yaxley in predicted to be in the region of 12%. 
However, the store is predicted to be trading at some 20% above the company average by 2015. As with 
the situation at the Orton Centre local residents already have a much larger foodstore in close proximity 
should they chose to shop there. As such, whilst the predicted trading level for 2015 could be viewed as 
optimistic, it is not considered that the viability of the store would be materially threatened by the 
proposed food store at Great Haddon.  
 
The other shops within Yaxley selling convenience goods, principally the is a small Spar which serves a 
‘top up’ shopping need only for Yaxley residents, are unlikely to experience direct competition with a new 
foodstore at Great Haddon. As such, it is not considered that this centre would be materially affected by 
the application proposal. 
 
Convenience shops at Sawtry (principally a small Co-Op) likewise serve a local catchment only and as 
such it is not considered that there would be direct competition from a new foodstore at Great Haddon. 
 
Summary 
As set out above it is not considered that an overriding quantitative need for a new foodstore of the size 
proposed at Great Haddon has been demonstrated. However, there is a strong qualitative argument to 
justify it and although the new store would divert some trade away from existing stores, principally Tesco 
at Serpentine Green, it is not considered that there would be an unacceptable material impact. In light of 
this, the size of the proposed foodstore is considered to be acceptable in accordance with the NPPF and 
policy CS15 of the Core Strategy. 
 
2. Response to Objection from DPP 
An objection has been received from DPP on behalf of Tesco at Serpentine Green. This sets out that the 
proposed quantum of retail floorspace proposed is over and above that required to support and address 
the local shopping needs of the new residents of Great Haddon with the applicant’s justification relying 
on (a) an estimate of the population and, therefore, available expenditure; (b) an overestimate of the 
market share for the proposed district foodstore and; (c) an underestimate of the market share of Tesco 
at Serpentine Green   
 
The objection goes on to argue that retail provision at Great Haddon should be phased so that it only 
increases as the population of Great Haddon does; that the proposal fails to taken into account existing 
shopping facilities in the catchment area which are well placed to serve non-localised needs of the 

78



 39 

emerging population at Great Haddon, particularly that of Serpentine Green. It concludes that as an 
already established centre, Serpentine Green should be encouraged to grow to accommodate the need 
that developments such as Great Haddon, and others in southern Peterborough, will generate. This will 
also allow the delivery of community facilities and infrastructure at Hampton. 
 
The objections raised by DPP have been considered and further advice taken from the Council’s 
independent retail advisor. The comments regarding the scale of the retail floorspace are noted. It is 
accepted that the RIA uses, as part of its justification, a wider catchment than that of Great Haddon 
alone. Whilst the proposed market share attributed to the new foodstore at 2015 could be considered 
ambitious, Tesco will still get its proportion. As such, it is not considered that there is a sufficient basis for 
Tesco to be concerned. The argument that Serpentine Green should grow to take new demand from 
Great Haddon is not supported as, in view of its existing size, it could impact on the city centre. 
 
Although there would only be a small population at Great Haddon in the early years as a result of which 
the foodstore is likely to under trade, it is considered that this is a preferable situation to a large number 
of houses and no shopping facilities. It is also considered that the early delivery of the foodstore is likely 
to aid the delivery of the early housing phases as it will help fund some of the infrastructure costs. 
 
As set out above it is accepted that there is not an overwhelming quantitative argument for the size of 
foodstore proposed but there are strong qualitative arguments, on the basis of which the proposal is 
being supported. 
 
The suggestion from DPP that the delivery of the foodstore should be phased as the population grows is 
not considered to be realistic or practical. A food operator would not invest on a phased basis. Such an 
approach could also prejudice the delivery of a good design and is likely to result in unacceptable waste 
(as part of a building would have to be dismantled/redesigned) which would not be sustainable.  
 
It is also not accepted that Great Haddon’s shopping needs should be met by an existing foodstore and 
this is not an approach supported by policy CS15 of the Core Strategy. Nor is it considered that this 
proposal would prevent the delivery of community facilities at Hampton, the delivery of which are 
controlled by the existing S106, and therefore completely separate to any development at Great Haddon. 
 
3. Phasing of the District Centre Foodstore Provision 
Matters relating to the size of the foodstore at Great Haddon, the phasing of the development and the 
scope for additional retail provision at Serpentine Green were all discussed during the examination into 
both the Site Allocations DPD and the Planning Policies DPD. The Inspector did not recommend any 
changes to the Site Allocations/ Planning Policies DPD. 
 
4. Public Representations 
One of representations received has commented that Serpentine Green does not have sufficient retail 
capacity/car parking to accommodate Great Haddon. As set out above, Great Haddon will have its own 
facilities and will not be reliant upon Serpentine Green. 
 
5. Impact of the Proposed Comparison Floor space (Non Food Retailing) 
 
As set out above, the balance of non food retail within the District Centre is some 5000 square metres. 
The RIA does not consider, if this floor space were all used for A1 (non food) retailing, whether it is of an 
appropriate scale or whether it would impact upon the vitality or viability of any other centre. Given the 
lack of assessment the applicant has agreed to a condition limiting the amount of non food (comparison) 
A1 floorspace to 1500 square metres (gross).  
 
Of this 1500 square metres, it is proposed that 500 square metres (350 square metres net) be located 
within the new foodstore. This provision is considered to be acceptable and of an appropriate scale to 
the overall size of the foodstore. A condition limiting the non food element within the supermarket to 500 
square metres (gross) is recommended.  
 
In terms of the remaining non food floorspace (1000 square metres gross) to be located elsewhere within 
the District Centre this would be substantially less than the provision at Serpentine Green, Bretton or 
Orton Centres and would essentially provide for local needs. In light of this it is not considered that this 

79



 40 

element of the proposal would adversely affect the vitality and viability of the city centre or any other 
centre. As well as a condition limiting the amount of comparison (non food) retail floor space a condition 
requiring that this be spilt into at least two units is recommended. Should the applicant subsequently 
wish to increase the amount of comparison retail provision in the District Centre then this will require the 
submission of a separate application, accompanied by an appropriate Retail Impact Assessment 
reflecting the policy approach at the time of submission. 
 
The remaining retail floorspace within the centre, some 3500 square metres, would be broken down into 
other uses within Use Classes A2-A5. Whilst this is a substantial provision the applicant has provided a 
draft layout of the District Centre showing how this provision could be accommodated.  These retail uses 
are likely to just serve local needs and unlikely to draw people from outside of Great Haddon. As such 
there are not the same issues about potential impacts on the vitality and viability of other centres. In light 
of this the balance of other retail floor space proposed is considered to be acceptable. It will also provide 
some flexibility for the future, given that the District Centre as a whole is likely to be built out over a 
period of time. 
 
6. Other Uses within the District Centre 
 
As set out above, in addition to the retail elements, the District Centre would include some 2000 square 
metres of floor space for office use and some 11 163 square metres of floor space which the applicant 
has indicated could be used for a range of other uses from community use, to a hotel, to leisure. In light 
of current policy there are no issues in principle with use of floorspace for offices, a hotel or community 
uses (subject to consideration of detailed design/layout issues).  
 
In terms of leisure uses the applicant has indicated that such uses could include a gym, cinema etc. The 
Planning Policies DPD (policy PP9 refers) sets out that the Council will apply a sequential test to 
applications for leisure uses which should in the first instance be located within centre. It goes on to state 
that an integral part of the sequential approach for development within centre is whether it is of an 
appropriate scale (in terms of gross floor area) in relation to the role and function of the centre within the 
overall hierarchy of centres and the catchment that it serves. At this stage no detailed sequential test has 
been submitted and it is considered that a number of the uses falling within Use Class D2 such as 
cinemas are potentially city centre uses which it would be inappropriate to locate within a District Centre 
without detailed justification. In order to protect the hierarchy of the centres, notably the city centre which 
is at the top, a condition excluding certain types of D2 from the allowable uses within District Centre is 
recommended.  
 
The Local Centres 
 
As set out above two local centres are proposed. Each would have up to 1150 square metres of retail 
floorspace (A1-A5). It is envisaged that each centre would have a small food store with a maximum of 
650 square metres gross floorspace. The majority of this floor space (550 square metres gross) would 
be used for food shopping (convenience) and the remaining balance for the sale of non food goods 
(comparison). As with the District Centre it is proposed that the remaining retail floor space within each 
local centre, some 500 square metres gross, would be used for ‘other’ retail uses falling within Use 
Classes A1-A5.  
 
The retail element proposed would be comparable to that at Hampton Vale and Hargate and would serve 
local needs. As such the local centres are considered to be an appropriate scale which would not affect 
the vitality and viability of any other centre. As with the District Centre it is recommended that the amount 
of retail floorspace be conditioned along with a requirement that it be provided in at least two units to 
avoid the potential for a single large unit, as this would not meet day to day shopping needs. 
 
The local centres would have a balance of floorspace, some 2757 square metres (gross), which could be 
used for offices or other community uses (D1). This approach is considered acceptable as it will allow 
future flexibility. A condition limiting the balance of floorspace and its use is recommended for the 
avoidance of any doubt. 
 
 
 

80



 41 

4) Impact on Visual Amenity 
 
It is acknowledged that the delivery of the urban extension will change the existing rural character of the 
site on a permanent basis. However, the quantum of development allocated in the adopted Core 
Strategy/ Site Allocations DPD and applied for under this application, namely up to 5350 dwellings could 
not realistically be delivered without such an impact. The ‘in principle’ decision to change the character of 
the site was taken with its formal allocation as a new urban extension. 
 
Relationship with Yaxley 
 
The application originally proposed two development tranches adjacent to existing properties in Yaxley.  
(with a buffer between existing rear gardens). Following initial discussions and in light of comments from 
the Inspire East Design Review Panel (May 2011) the applicant reduced the amount of development 
adjacent to existing properties in Yaxley, and reconfigured the tranches adjacent to the Yaxley loop road. 
This did not address the concerns raised and following further dialogue with the applicant tranche R37 
has now been removed in its entirety. A landscape buffer to separate the rear of these houses from an 
area of open space within Great Haddon remains. The tranches adjacent to the Yaxley loop road have 
been further reconfigured so that the overall housing numbers within the development do not change. 
The separation distance between the nearest tranche and existing property in Yaxley is some 180 
metres. 
 
Concerns have been raised by a number of local residents regarding the general relationship between 
Great Haddon and Yaxley in terms of the potential for coalescence and loss of identify. A number of the 
representations state that a green wedge should be created between the two settlements. 
 
As indicated under section 5 part 1 above this issue was considered during the examination of the Site 
Allocations DPD. Objectors put forward their justification for the inclusion of a green wedge on the basis 
of the above concerns. It was also argued that the buffer width should be substantially increased to 75-
100 metres. The applicant and the Council raised concerns that the designation of a green wedge or 
substantial increase in buffer width would impact upon housing numbers and therefore the ability to 
deliver the Core Strategy. The Inspector in his binding report came to the view that Great Haddon could 
be accommodated without threatening the separate identity and character of Yaxley and as such the 
designation of a green wedge or minimum buffer width was not required. He went onto to say that in light 
of the existing vegetation along the A15 he considered the successful assimilation of the new 
development with the A15 and the countryside beyond could be achieved.  
 
In light of the removal of tranche R37 and the conclusions of the Inspector it is considered that the 
relationship of the development with the village of Yaxley is acceptable.  
 
Impact on the Yaxley Conservation Area 
 
The Yaxley Conservation Area is located some 200 metres from the south eastern boundary of the site, 
and is centred around Main Street. It includes a number of Grade II listed buildings and the Grade 1 St 
Peter’s Church.  An assessment of the potential impact upon the Conservation Area was carried out in 
the supporting Environmental Statement (ES).  This concludes that the proposed development would not 
be visible from within the Conservation Area due to the screening effects of existing vegetation to the 
north west of the conservation area, the relative topography (the Conservation Area is lower than the 
application site) and the enclosure provided by properties and vegetation along Church Street.  
 
The ES sets out that the most significant views of St Peter’s Church are gained from within the Yaxley 
Conservation Area from rights of way to the south and south west of Yaxley which it concludes would be 
largely unaffected by the proposed development. The eastern edge of the proposed development (north 
of London Road) will be visible within the context of views of the church from the public footpath between 
Yaxley and Stilton in the short and medium term until the proposed mitigation planting becomes 
established. The ES sets out that development would not obstruct views of the church or encroach into 
its landscape setting. Views of the church are currently available from within the application site. It is 
accepted that these would be affected by the development but the impact is accepted given the 
allocation of the development. 
 

81



 42 

The Core Strategy allocates the site for development thereby establishing the principle. Taking into 
account the separation distances and the designation of open green space adjacent to Yaxley the impact 
of the development on the Yaxley Conservation Area is considered to be acceptable. No objections have 
been received from CCC. 
 
Relationship with the A15 
 
The A15 runs along the southern edge of the application site and is currently characterised by 
tree/hedge planting on both sides. Towards the south west of the road the land beyond the A15 falls 
away steeply into the Fens. 
 
As indicated earlier it is proposed to create a new junction onto the A15 which will be the main access 
into Great Haddon. A buffer some 35 metres in depth would be created within the site separating the 
new houses from the A15. Concerns have been raised by HDC and other objectors including the 
Norman Cross Action Group in relation to the impact which the development would have upon the 
character of this section of the A15 and its current rural feel. Councillor Oliver has also raised concerns 
that the junction design appears to reduce the buffer zone with the loss of trees. 
 
It is accepted that there would be a change in the character of the A15 along this section. Some change 
is inevitable given the allocation of the site. However, it is considered that the proposed buffer which is 
not insubstantial at 35 metres depth, and which would contain new tree planting, will provide a soft edge. 
Neither is it considered that the junction design potentially reduces the buffer depth. The impact on 
existing trees is discussed in detail under section 5 part 7 below. In light of the concerns raised by HDC 
the applicant has also removed the landmark buildings originally proposed at the entrance to the 
development in order to further reduce its visual impact. Officers consider the buffer depth and changes 
to the entrance into the development to be sufficient to mitigate the potential impact. As set out above, 
secondary access points into the development from the A15 have also been removed. 
 
In view of the creation of the buffer neither is it considered that the development would have any 
unacceptable visual impact from further south within the Fen area. The edge of Great Haddon will 
appear no different from the edge of Yaxley or other development and indeed because of the buffer the 
visual relationship is likely to be better. 
 
Impact on Norman Cross 
As set out under section 1 of the report the settlement of Norman Cross lies to the south west of the 
Great Haddon development. Within Norman Cross there is a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM), two 
Listed buildings and three other Listed structures.  
 
The application proposes minimum buffer planting of some 15-20 metres to the rear of Norman Cross. In 
light of this it is not considered that any unacceptable visual impact would result including with the listed 
buildings and structures.  
 
The relationship of Great Haddon with the SAM is considered under section 5 part 8 below. 
 
Impact from the East 
 
There will be views of the Great Haddon development from the Old Great North Road, especially where 
the new junctions are proposed and the existing residential properties along it which currently have a 
view over farmland. A buffer of zone 15-20 metres depth is proposed. It is considered that this buffer is 
sufficient to mitigate the visual impact of the development. It should be noted that residents do not have 
a right to a view. 
 
Given the relative levels of the site to the surrounding road network it is considered that there will be  
views of the development from the A605 and other surrounding villages such as Morburn. The building 
heights are standard and will be partly mitigated by additional screening. As such the visual relationship 
is considered to be acceptable.   
 
 
 

82



 43 

Impact of Hampton 
 
Some views of the Great Haddon development will be possible from part of Hampton. However, given 
the separation distances (most views will be across Haddon Lake) it is not considered that any 
unacceptable visual impact would result.  
 
Impact from Orton 
 
It is considered that there would be limited views of the Great Haddon core area from Orton to the north 
as the employment area buildings will be the more prominent visual feature. Given the relationship it is 
not considered at any unacceptable visual impact from the Ortons would result. 
 
Other Neighbour Representations 
 
In addition to the matters covered the following issues have also been raised:- 
 
The green space between the loop road and London Road should be kept as a nature habitat and walk 
as it has been for the last 50 years.  
As set out above, the Great Haddon site has been allocated for development and the Inspector 
concluded that a green wedge was not necessary. Development on the inside of the loop road is 
necessary to deliver the housing numbers and the removal of development in this area is not considered 
necessary to achieve a satisfactory relationship with Yaxley.  
 
Some of the best, most pleasant public footpaths and cycleways will be lost in the new development. 
The change to the character of these routes is noted but this is an allocated housing site and changes 
must therefore be expected. 
 
Stilton will loose its appeal as a village. Stilton is located on the eastern side of junction 16 of the  A1(M). 
As such it is not considered that it will lose its appeal as a village. 
 
The development would result in urban sprawl.  
As indicated this is an allocated site with distinct physical boundaries. It is not therefore considered that 
urban sprawl would result.  
 
Summary 
 
Taking all the above factors into consideration the proposal is considered to be acceptable in 
accordance with policies CS16 and CS17 of the adopted Core Strategy. 
 
5) Residential Amenity 
 
Impact on Amenity of Existing Residents 
 
Concerns have been raised that the proposed development would have an adverse impact upon the 
amenity of neighbouring residents. The issues raised in relation to transport have been covered under 
section 5 part 2 and visual amenity under section 5 part 4. This section therefore focuses on other 
potential impacts upon residential amenity. 
 
Noise 
A concern has been raised that additional traffic on the Old Great North Road would adversely affect the 
amenity of residents as this road currently functions as a buffer to the A1(M). Whilst it is acknowledged 
that more traffic will use the Old Great North Road, the usage will remain within the roads theoretical 
capacity. As such the impact is also considered to be within acceptable limits. No concerns have been 
raised by the Council’s Pollution Control Section. 
 
Some objectors have asked whether the developer is going to provide an acoustic fence to the A1(M). 
Whilst the development may result in additional traffic along the A1(M) it will not increase car numbers to 
the extent that it would be appropriate to ask the development to provide or contribute towards the 

83



 44 

upgrade of acoustic fencing along the A1(M). If there are issues with the performance or maintenance of 
the current acoustic fence then these need to be taken up directly with the Highways Agency. 
 
Construction Impacts 
It is recommended that a condition be imposed requiring the submission and approval of a ‘Construction 
Management Plan’ for each development tranche. This would cover matters such as the hours of 
working, hours of delivery, measures to minimise noise from construction activity and to control dust. 
 
Some of the objectors have said that the working hours and hours for deliveries should be limited to 8am 
to 6pm Monday to Friday and 9am to 1pm on Saturday with no working on Sunday or Bank Holidays.  
Concerns have also been raised that construction hours will be disruptive. These concerns are noted. 
The Construction Management Plan will deal with hours of working. These need to be appropriate to the 
location of the activity within the site. If there are no nearby residential properties they can be more 
flexible. The CMP would also seek to minimise the disruption caused by construction activities. 
 
Air Quality 
The supporting Environmental Statement covers the issue of air quality and concludes that there would 
be no adverse impact upon air quality within the vicinity of the site. Notwithstanding this, a concern has 
been raised by the Council’s Pollution Control Section that the development could have an adverse 
impact upon the air quality at Hoylake Drive, a small residential development located adjacent to junction 
3 of the Fletton Parkway and the B1091 in Stanground. In light of this concern an Air Impact Assessment 
was completed. This concluded that there would not be any unacceptable adverse impact on the 
residents of Holylake Drive. On the basis of the information supplied the conclusions of the report have 
been accepted by the Council’s Pollution Control Section. The applicant has confirmed that the 
updated/further transport modelling work which has been carried out does not alter the conclusions of 
this assessment. 
 
Other Matters 
Some concerns have been raised about loss of property value but this is not a material planning 
consideration and cannot, therefore, be taken into consideration in determining this application. 
 
Concerns have been raised regarding the potential impact of light pollution on the village of Stilton and 
surrounding area. Lighting associated with this development will generally be street lighting and any 
flood lighting associated with sports facilities. It is not considered that any unacceptable light pollution 
would result from this. The Council is moving towards the use of energy saving lights which reduce light 
pollution and the hours of use of flood lighting can be controlled. 

 
A concern has been raised about adverse impact upon the people living in the western part of Hampton. 
In view of the separation distance it is not considered that any unacceptable impacts would result. 
 
A concern has been raised regarding the creation of social problems given the intensive housing 
proposed. The overall housing number for the site is not considered excessive given its size and it will 
accommodate a mix of housing types and size.  
 
Summary 
Whilst it is acknowledged that the development will have some impacts on existing residents, not least 
because for a number of residents their immediate environment will change, it is not considered that 
these impacts are unacceptable.  As such the application accords with policy CS16 of the Core Strategy 
and policy PP3 of the Planning Policies DPD.  
 
.Amenity of New Residents 
 
Facilities 
As set out above, the application site includes a District and two Local Centres which will provide for the 
day to day needs of the residents in terms of retail and space for other community/leisure uses.  Three 
primary schools and one secondary school are proposed. The detailed delivery of these facilities 
including trigger points will be set out in the S106 Agreement. As such it is considered that the 
development will have sufficient facilities and provision for the future residents. Also see section 5 part 
12 below. 

84



 45 

 
Open Space 
Policy PP14 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD (formerly policy LT1 of the adopted Local Plan) 
requires that new development provide a range of open space in order that they can provide an 
appropriate level of amenity for future residents.  
 
The application proposes 15.42ha of playing fields. Sport England has commented that consideration 
should be given to locating all of the playing field area in a single location. Whilst this comment is noted 
such an approach would not be desirable from an urban design perspective, and does reflect any other 
site constraints. As such it has not been pursued. Detailed pitch layouts will come forward as reserved 
matters applications. Issues relating to management of pitches and community use will be dealt with at 
this time. Indoor sports facilities will be provided as part of the secondary school/community facility.  
 
Policy PP14 also requires the delivery of a range of other types of open space including allotments, 
informal parkland, amenity space and play space. Some 96.70ha of amenity open space is proposed for 
Great Haddon. Given the strategic nature of the proposal at present the open space provision has not 
been broken down further into the policy categories. This will be done via conditions and through 
detailed Development Briefs. The long term management and maintenance of public open space will be 
dealt with in the S106 Agreement. 
 
In addition the development will retain and open up two existing areas of woodland. New woodland 
planting is also proposed. In light of this the proposed open space provision at Great Haddon is 
considered to be sufficient to meet the needs of its future occupiers. Further, although it does not count 
towards the open space provision there will be a number of attenuation lakes on site, which will provide a 
more open feel to the development. 
 
The application proposes an area of land (parcel OS25) as an extension of the existing cemetery is 
Yaxley. It is proposed that this be secured as part of the S106 Agreement. However, should ground 
conditions subsequently mean that it is not a suitable site then a final contribution towards cemetery 
provision (to be spent anywhere in Peterborough) will be secured. 
 
Noise 
The application is supported by a Noise Assessment which concludes, subject to mitigation (buffer 
zones, orientation, and physical measures such as special types of glazing) that the development can 
afford the future occupiers a suitable level of amenity. A condition requiring that reserved matters 
applications for parts of the site are supported by a detailed noise assessment and scheme of mitigation 
is recommended. 
 
When the consultation was originally carried out concerns were raised by the Cambridgeshire Target 
Shooting Association, located to the south of the A15, on the grounds of noise and security. Following 
receipt of this objection the applicant was asked to undertaken a further noise assessment, the results of 
which were incorporated into the ES Addendum submitted in February 2011. This concluded that the 
noise from the rifle range on the proposed development was insignificant. These conclusions are 
accepted by officers. 
 
Relationship to the Employment Area 
As set out above, to the north of part of the Great Haddon core area is the Great Haddon employment 
area. Given the separation distances to the nearest residential tranches some 500 metres, and the fact 
that there is screening between them (some new woodland planting is also proposed as part of the core 
area) it is not considered that these buildings would have any unacceptable visual impact on the future 
houses. Noise from the employment site will be controlled via condition. Given the separation distance it 
is not considered that any unacceptable amenity impacts would result. 
 
Summary 
 
The detailed design of each tranche will come forward as the development progresses and this will deal 
with matters such as car parking provision, bin and cycle provision. In principle, however, at this strategic 
stage, it is considered that the development would afford the occupiers a satisfactory level of amenity in 
accordance with policy PP4 of the adopted Development Policies DPD. 

85



 46 

 
6) Ecology 
 
Impact on Orton Pit SSSI/SAC 
 
The application site lies to the south and south west of Orton Pit SSSI (Site of Special Scientific Interest)/ 
SAC (Special Area of Conservation), an area of international ecological importance for its population of 
Great Crested Newts and assemblage of Stoneworts (aquatic invertebrates). The SSSI/SAC are 
separate designations but generally overlap. Orton Pit is owned by O & H Hampton. Public access is 
currently limited and by authorised appointment only. 
 
The development could potentially impact upon the designated species of Orton Pit in the following 
ways:- 

(i) from its physical presence; 
(ii) from changes to drainage system; 
(iii) from an increased human population and their pets in close proximity to it. 

These impacts are assessed below.   
 
(i) Physical Impacts of the Development 
Stoneworts are light sensitive and any changes to the amount of light they receive as a result of the  
physical presence of development could potentially adversely affect them. In this instance, given the 
scale of the nearest buildings which will be residential dwellings and in light of the separation distance, a 
minimum of 85 metres, this is not considered an issue. No shadow analysis has been requested by 
Natural England. 
 
Stoneworts are also sensitive to changes in water quality. Pollutants or nutrients which could alter the 
water chemistry could have a detrimental impact upon them. The biggest potential impact is from 
increased nitrogen deposition, arising from the additional traffic associated with the development. The 
applicant has submitted a detailed assessment, based upon the predicted traffic flows associated with 
the development, which concludes that overall the average background concentrations of nitrogen are 
predicted to fall and there would be no adverse impact. This conclusion is accepted by Natural England, 
but it has requested for the avoidance of any doubt, given the predictive nature of the assessment, that a 
precautionary approach be adopted and a condition imposed upon any planning permission requiring the 
monitoring of nitrogen levels as the development is built out, along with a mechanism for securing a 
scheme of mitigation should the monitoring results indicate unacceptable adverse impact on the 
Stonewort populations. Natural England has viewed the updated information submitted and has 
confirmed its acceptance of the conclusions which this reaches.  
 
As referred to in section 5 part 2 above, widening works between junctions 1 and 2 of the Fletton 
Parkway will be required in the future. Before the widening works are carried out further more detailed 
assessment of the potential impacts on Orton Pit would need to be carried out. This reflects the 
approach taken when the improvement works between junctions 2 and 3 were implemented. 
 
(ii) Drainage 
The designated species within Orton Pit are also susceptible to changes in the drainage regime. The 
proposed surface water drainage system includes new attenuation ponds. The scheme does not result in 
any surface water from the development entering Orton Pit. The proposed drainage scheme also has the 
added benefit of reducing the potential for floodwater entering the reserve. Natural England is, therefore, 
satisfied that this aspect of the proposal would not have any adverse impact upon Orton Pit. The 
drainage regime will need to be monitored and maintained to ensure that it continues to work 
successfully.  
 
(iii) Population Impacts. 
Development of Great Haddon would result in more people living closer to Orton Pit resulting in the 
potential for increased disturbance by people and pets (dogs and cats); eutrophication arising from 
increased levels of dog faeces; and potential for fly-tipping, pollution and vandalism.  
 

86



 47 

At an early stage in the assessment of the application it was agreed with Natural England that public 
access into Orton Pit should be restricted. The measures required to achieve this have been set out in a 
supporting ‘Access Management Strategy’.  
 
A buffer area is proposed along the boundary of the site with Orton Pit in which there will be no housing 
or other associated built development. As indicated above this will be a minimum of 85 metres wide. 
Access from the buffer area into Orton Pit will be restricted by a combination of fencing including 
sections of ‘cat proof fencing’, thorny scrub and hedgerow planting, retention and enhancement of 
existing ditches and the creation of new wet ditches.  It was originally proposed to divert the Green 
Wheel from its current alignment along the edge of Haddon Lake to the other side of the new attenuation 
features but in light of concerns from Natural England and the Council’s Right of Way Officer it is now 
proposed to retain it on its current alignment until it crosses under the Stanground Lode (also see section 
5 part 2 above).   
 
Following discussion with Natural England it has been agreed that public access will be allowed through 
one part of Orton Pit known as the ‘gap land’. A footpath/cycleway link (3m wide) is proposed to 
accommodate the desire line between Great Haddon and Hampton. The route will be secured by 
fencing, including gates and measures such as enhancement of existing ditches to prevent access into 
the wider designated area. 
 
The Access Management Strategy considers the timing of the delivery of these measures. With the 
exception of the creation of the route through the gap land which it suggests should be linked to the 
delivery of the Western Peripheral Road/Central Boulevard connection, it proposes that substantial 
progress should be made prior to the any residential occupation although it does not consider that 
completion of these measures is necessary prior to any occupation given the limited number of residents 
at this stage. However, in the event that the works are not completed prior to the first occupation the 
Access Management Strategy sets out that a review of progress will be carried out with the Council and 
Natural England to assess the need for additional temporary management measures until such time as 
the final proposals can be implemented. Such measures could include additional temporary fencing, 
signage and monitoring of any temporary measures. The effectiveness of the temporary measures would 
be kept under review until the final measures are complete.  
 
A condition requiring the completion of the works prior to occupation is therefore recommended although 
it is considered that there is some flexibility given the small number of residents who will initially occupy 
the site. As such the approach suggested in the Access Management Strategy of reviewing the situation 
at the time of first occupation and the agreement of a scheme of temporary measures if deemed 
necessary is considered to be reasonable. It is, however, considered that the link through the gap land 
may be needed in advance of the road connection given its timing within the overall development (3500 
dwellings) and the condition has, therefore, been worded so that these works also take place in 
conjunction with the other measures although it is again recognised that there is scope for the Council to 
review the situation with the applicant and Natural England if appropriate. 
 
The Access Management Strategy sets out that the Great Haddon Consortium will be responsible for the 
management and maintenance of the access control measures through a management company to be 
established, details of which will be set out in the Section 106 Agreement. The site management 
company will be responsible for repairs to any breaches of fences or other physical control measures 
which should be implemented within two weeks of any damage being recorded. 
 
At present there is a system of wardening and voluntary participation in place at Orton Pit. Day to day 
management of the reserve is carried out by a part time warden whose responsibilities include checking 
water levels, screening for fish, seasonal strimming of the newt fence, habitat management, the carrying 
out of ecological surveys and monitoring. Volunteers meet at the site approximately 6 times a month.  
 
The Access Management Strategy acknowledges that monitoring and management of the new access 
control measures and liaison with the new community is unlikely to be achieved through the existing 
warden resource and acknowledges that additional management measures will be required once the 
agreed physical control measures have been implemented. The Strategy proposes the funding of an 
additional part time warden resource. Details of the role will be agreed through the S106 Agreement but 
it is anticipated that it will include the following:- 

87



 48 

• A weekly presence on site to monitor the physical access control measures and the level of 
unauthorised access from Great Haddon to build up an understanding of how people are 
accessing the reserve and to what extent; 

• Maintenance work on access management and habitat creation measures within the SAC buffer 
zones where required and work with volunteers to implement repair of any breaches to the 
access control measures 

• Liaison with and supervision of new volunteers to be recruited from the new residents. 
 
The Access Management Strategy also recognises the need to involve the new community being 
created at Great Haddon. The following measures are proposed to achieve this:- 

• Funding for a part time Education and Community Outreach Officer to engage with the new 
community; 

• Provision of an information pack for all new residents; 

• Provision of on-site interpretation and information. 
Precise details of these measures including the funding and timing of the Education and Community 
Outreach Officer post will be agreed through the S106 Agreement. 
 
Natural England has confirmed that these measures are acceptable subject to conditions requiring their 
implementation and maintenance. 
 
Appropriate Assessment 
In view of the proximity of the application site to Orton Pit an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ (AA) under the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 has had to be  undertaken to demonstrate that 
the development would not have an adverse impact upon the integrity of the site.  
 
The AA considers both the direct impacts of the development and ‘in combination’ effects when the 
proposal is considered in the context of other proposed developments including policy documents. It is 
the Local Planning Authority’s responsibility to complete the AA in consultation with Natural England as 
the ‘Competent Authority’. A very high level of certainty is required for the AA to be passed. If the AA is 
not passed planning permission cannot be granted and the impacts of the development would need to 
be assessed further.  The Appropriate Assessment for the application has been passed. 
 
Other Ecological Implications 
The main ecological impacts of the development are considered in the supporting Environmental 
Statement (ES) following the carrying out of detailed survey work and further assessment. The ES 
recognises that the nature of the site will change with the development and puts forward a range of 
measures to mitigate the impacts. 
 
(i) Great Crested Newts (GCN) 
There are a number of ponds of various shapes and sizes within the application area. Two ponds which 
it is proposed to remove have been found to contain Great Crested Newts (GCNs). The creation of 9 
new ponds is proposed which will mitigate against this impact and the ES confirms that these and the 
retained ponds will be actively managed to create new habitat.  
 
In light of concerns from Natural England that the ecological objectives for the retained ponds adjacent to 
Madam Whites Covert would conflict with the proposal for public access a plan has been provided 
showing how these ponds will be protected to deter public access. Natural England has confirmed that 
these measures address its concerns. 
  
If planning permission is granted it is recommended that a condition be imposed requiring the 
submission and approval of a GCN Strategy. This will set out how GCNs will be protected during the 
constructional and operational phases of the development including the provision of new habitat areas. 
The condition will also include a requirement for monitoring and the provision of additional reasonable 
mitigation measures should the monitoring show that these are required. Each reserved matters 
application will be required to set how the strategy is being complied with and, where appropriate, 
provide further details such as the precise location of newt fencing. This approach has been agreed with 
Natural England.  
 

88



 49 

Notwithstanding the above the applicant will also need to apply to Natural England for licenses before it 
can trap or translocate any GCNs located within 500 metres of any pond or Orton Pit.  
 
(ii) Bats 
The ES assesses the potential of the site for bats and has recorded a number of species within in it. The 
existing farm buildings at Spendelows Farm have been checked for bat roosting potential but no 
evidence of roosting was found. Notwithstanding this, these buildings are proposed for retention. 
 
The application site also contains a number of trees with medium to high bat roosting potential.  In 
addition the site is used for foraging with the corridor along the Stanground Lode acting as a commuting 
route. 
 
It is proposed that 23 trees with high roosting potential and 12 with medium potential be removed. The 
ES sets out that at the detailed design stage this will be reviewed to see if any additional trees can be 
retained. Where trees have to be removed it is proposed that these be felled in the autumn and 
rechecked for bat roosts prior to felling.  Licenses will need to be obtained from Natural England if a 
roost is found in any tree identified for removal before it can be felled. 
 
In order to minimise disturbance to bats it is proposed that there be no night time working. Along the 
corridor of the Stanground Lode an amenity grass strip some 50 metres in width either side of the stream 
will be created. There is the potential for some disturbance to light sensitive bat species to be caused by 
lighting in connection with the new Lode crossing. It is recommended that this matter be reviewed further 
at the detailed design stage, as it does not in itself make the proposal unacceptable. The ES sets out 
that consideration could be given to different types of lighting, such as directional, in order to minimise 
the potential spillage.  
 
It should also be noted, although not a mitigation proposal in respect of this application, that a 30 metre 
buffer to Orton Pit will be created within the employment area which will provide new foraging habitat for 
bats.    
 
(iii) Badgers 
There is evidence of badgers within the application site.  Whilst the proposal would result in the loss of 
existing habitat new foraging areas would be created. Where main roads are proposed the ES sets out 
that connectivity will be protected through the installation of badger tunnels. The ES also sets out that 
night working is to be avoided and holes/trenches covered at night. In light of these measures the 
potential impact upon badgers is considered to be acceptable.  
 
 (iv) Reptiles 
The ES sets out that a number of reptiles (grass snakes and common lizards) have been found within 
the site. The proposal would result in the loss of some existing suitable habitat. A strategy of trapping 
and translocation is proposed with receptor areas being created.  The impact of the development on 
reptiles is, therefore, considered to be acceptable. 
  
(v) Water Voles 
The Lode corridor and existing ditches have the potential for water voles. There is the potential for 
disturbance to this habitat especially through the proposed works to the Lode. A detailed specification 
will therefore be required setting out how these works will be managed. Further survey work will also be 
required. Once complete it is considered that suitable habitat within the site will remain. The impact of 
the development on water voles is, therefore, considered to be acceptable. 
 
(vi) Otters 
The surveys carried out for the ES did not find any evidence of otters within the site. Additional survey 
work will be required over the life of the development to review this situation and if otters are 
subsequently found additional mitigation measures put in place. It is, however, proposed to design the 
Lode bridge to include an otter shelf.  
 
(vii) Breeding Birds 
Concerns were raised by Natural England regarding the impact of the development upon breeding birds, 
particularly in respect of the Schedule 1 Species (barn owls, marsh harriers, Cettis Warbler, Kingfisher 

89



 50 

and Hobby) and the 6 UK Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) species (these are the Skylark, Grey Partridge, 
Yellowhammer, Linnet, Lapwing and Reed Bunting). The applicant has reviewed these impacts further. 
The ES sets out that although existing habitat will be lost this will be adequately compensated for 
through the creation of new areas of habitat and retained habitat adjacent to Orton Pit protected through 
the access control measures to Orton Pit SSSI/SAC. In light of this additional off site mitigation is not 
considered to be necessary. These conclusions have been accepted by Natural England.  
 
As indicated above and although not part of this application, a 30 metre buffer area running the length of 
Orton Pit will be created in the Great Haddon employment area which will provide further mitigation 
within the vicinity of the site.   
 
Concerns were raised by Natural England regarding the potential impact of noise arising from the 
development on breeding birds. An acoustic fence is proposed adjacent to Jones’ Covert as part of the 
delivery of the Western Peripheral Road which will mitigate the impact on this area. Further assessment 
has been carried out in respect of potential impacts on the woodland at Yaxley and Madame Whites 
Covert. This concluded that there would be no adverse impact on breeding birds in these locations. The 
findings of the assessment have been accepted by Natural England. 
 
(viii) Barn Owls 
The ES sets out that no works will be undertaken during the breeding session and that new habitat will 
be created. Although not part of this application, nesting boxes will be located within non publically 
accessible open space within the employment area. 
 
(ix) Brown Hare 
The ES concludes that brown hares regularly move through the site and that the retention of key habitats 
and creation of new corridors will be sufficient to protect the existing population.  
 
(x) Moth and Butterflies 
The ES sets out that Black Hairstreak butterflies have been found adjacent to Chamber’s Dole and 
Jones Convert. Whilst these areas are to be retained it proposes the active management of woodland 
within the application and the creation of new woodland and scrub areas to provide additional habitat.  
 
(xi) Aquatic Invertebrates 
The ES sets out that there are 6 ponds within the application site with medium to high potential for 
aquatic invertebrates. One pond with medium potential is to be lost. A new pond in the vicinity of the one 
to be lost is proposed. Aquatic invertebrate are also susceptible to changes in water quality. It is 
proposed that run off be channelled away from these ponds and a 5 metre buffer area created around 
them. 
 
(xii) Terrestrial Invertebrates 
The ES sets out that these have been found to the south of the A15. Notwithstanding this, some new 
suitable habitat will be created within the application site. 
 
(xiii) Stoneworts 
Potential impacts on Stoneworts from additional levels of nitrogen have been discussed above.  They 
are also present in Beeby’s Lakes which will be used for drainage (see section 5 part 9 below). In light of 
the measures proposed the potential impacts are considered to be acceptable.  
 
Having assessed the above, the impact of the development on species within the site is considered to be 
acceptable. Conditions requiring the preparation of a Biodiversity Strategy, to ensure that areas of 
habitat mitigation are provided as development progresses, along with the provision for updated survey 
work (surveys remain valid for approximately 2 years) are recommended. Each reserved matters 
application will then need to demonstrate how it is complying with this strategy.  
 
Water Quality 
A scheme of monitoring and associated mitigation is recommended to protect the quality of water going 
into the existing water courses within the site and the Beeby’s Lakes. This approach has been agreed in 
principle with both Natural England and the Environmental Agency.  This can be secured by a condition. 
 

90



 51 

Western Peripheral Road Services 
Some concerns were raised by Natural England in relation to potential services being located along the 
Western Peripheral Road and prejudicing the delivery of the mitigation measures approved in relation to 
that application. The applicant has advised that the necessary services can be accommodated within the 
highway corridor without an adverse impact on the mitigation measures for the road. For the avoidance 
of any doubt a condition requiring the location of services within a designed area is recommended on 
any permission.  
 
Changes to Water Levels of Beeby’s Lakes 
The Great Haddon development results in the need to lower the permanent water level in the Beeby’s 
Lakes, which are located on the eastern side of the A15, by some 500mm in order to provide additional 
storage capacity for surface water. The applicant has submitted an additional briefing note which 
assesses the ecological impacts of this. This concludes that the ecological results are likely to be 
positive as there will be additional habitat space created as a result and that there would be no adverse 
impact on the Stonewort community as this can readily adapt to changing water levels. This conclusion 
is accepted by Natural England and the Council’s Wildlife Officer.  
 
Public Representations 
Some concerns have been raised by members of the public regarding the potential impact of the 
development on wildlife. The impacts and the proposed mitigation measures have been set out above. In 
light of these, there are no objections from Natural England or the Council’s Wildlife Officer. As such the 
ecological impacts of the scheme are considered to be sufficient in accordance with policy CS21 of the 
adopted Core Strategy. 
 
7) Landscape Implications 
 
The application site is not affected by statutory or non statutory landscape designations. Neither are 
there any Tree Preservation Orders (TPOs). As set out in section 1 there are three groups of TPO trees 
within the gardens of properties at Norman Cross. These would not be affected by the proposed 
development. 
 
Trees/Woodland 
 
(i)General Tree Loss 
The supporting Environmental Statement identifies 150 individual trees within the application site. Of 
these, 1 is classed as a category A tree, 44 as category B trees and 69 as category C trees. The 
remaining trees (39) are category R. Category A trees are classed as those of a high quality and amenity 
value. Category B trees are of moderate quality and amenity value and category C trees of low quality 
and value. Category R trees are recommended for removal due to their condition. 
 
59 trees are identified for removal. This would include 3 category B trees and 24 category C trees. The 
remainder (32) are category R. Although there is a general presumption against the removal of category 
A and B trees the loss of the category B trees is considered to be acceptable in this instance given their 
location within the development. Category C trees are not classed as being a constraint to development. 
 
As well as individual trees the site contains two areas of woodland (Madam White Covert and woodland 
near Yaxley) and groups of trees along the boundary of the site with the Old Great North Road and the 
A15 and a group to the north of the track to one of the existing farms. There are also trees within the 
landscaping to the south side of the A15. 
 
Both areas of existing woodland will be retained and opened up for public access. The ES sets out that 
built development will not come within at least 20 metres of these woodlands. In additional 6 hectares of 
new woodland, to be located to the east and west of Two Pond Coppice/Chamber’s Dole, is proposed. It 
is intended that this new woodland will be available to the public.  A condition requiring a timetable 
setting out when key areas of open space/landscaping will come forward is recommended. Also 
recommended is a condition requiring the submission and approval of Woodland Management Plan (for 
the retained and new woodland).  
 

91



 52 

Approximately 0.5 hectares of scrub planting would be lost adjacent to the Yaxley woodland through the 
creation of the Yaxley loop road. The ES sets out that new scrub planting will be created as part of the 
development. The loss of this area is, therefore, considered to be acceptable. 
 
It is proposed to retain the group of trees to the north of one of the existing farms and to incorporate this 
into the detailed site layout. 
 
(ii) A15 Junction 
It proposed to retain the landscaping around the boundary of the site with the Old Great North Road and 
A15. The applicant has provided a briefing note in respect of the impact on the A15 landscaping as a 
result of the new access into the site. This concludes, on the basis of the initial junction design submitted 
with the application, that some 16 individual mature Poplar trees and 14 younger trees (Ash and Oak) 
would need to be removed, along with one group of trees (comprising Ash and Hawthorn). Three of 
these tree removals are recommended on arboroicultural grounds given their current condition. There 
would also be the removal of a narrow belt of scrub/woodland planting on the southern side of the A15. 
Subject to the final junction design the briefing note concludes that this tree loss would not unacceptably 
impact upon the character of this section of the road and that the loss will be adequately mitigated for by 
new tree planting.  
 
In view of the need to access this allocated site the tree loss is accepted. Appropriate new planting will 
be secured by condition when detailed proposals come forward. 
 
(iii) Chambers Dole and Two Pond Coppice 
Concerns were raised by the Natural Networks Partnership and the Wildlife Trust that the woodland 
areas of Chambers Dole/Two Pond Coppice are not within the application. These woodlands are within 
third party ownership. The ES/Access Management Strategy have demonstrated that they are not 
required to help mitigate the impact of development on Orton Pit SSSI/SAC. The application is not, 
therefore, unacceptable without their inclusion. 
 
It is possible that some people will try to access these woodlands. In response, the applicant is 
proposing new woodland and scrub planting to the east and west of this woodland. There is, however, 
little scope to introduce measures along the southern boundary as the Green Wheel runs adjacent to 
this. This potential impact is acknowledged but is not considered to make the development as a whole 
unacceptable. It is, however, recommended that a condition be imposed requiring the situation to be 
monitored and additional mitigation measures put forward if a problem is identified. The mitigation 
scheme could for example examine the scope for additional physical measures to prevent access such 
as fencing. In officers view this approach addresses the concerns raised by the Wildlife Trust. No 
representations to the application have been received from the owners of this woodland. 
 
Hedgerows 
 
The application site contains a number of hedgerows including some stretches which the supporting ES 
classifies as ‘important’ for ecological or historical reasons. 
 
The development will result in the removal of some 2800 linear metres of existing hedgerow, including 
some stretches of ‘important’ hedgerow. As part of the development new native hedgerow planting is 
proposed totalling some 3000 linear metres. In view of this mitigation the loss of existing hedgerow is 
considered to be acceptable.  
 
Protection During Construction 
 
In order to protect the retained trees, woodland and hedgerows within the site, and adjacent areas of 
woodland it is recommended that a condition be imposed upon any planning permission requiring that 
(where appropriate) the subsequent reserved matters applications be accompanied by detailed 
Arboricultural Impact Assessments and details of the tree protection measures.  
 
 
 
 

92



 53 

Other Matters 
 
A condition requiring the submission of an overarching Landscaping Management Strategy is also 
recommended. This will set out the overarching vision for different elements of the landscaping within the 
development. As with the employment area it is recommended that the detailed landscaping applications 
set out how they comply with this overarching strategy. 
 
Concerns have been raised regarding the protection of the woodland near Yaxely. As set out this 
woodland is to be retained and opened up for public use. It is considered that the proposed conditions 
set out under this section and the ecological section will ensure that it is adequately protected. 
 
8) Archaeological Impacts 
 
As set out under section 1 of this report there is a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) immediately to 
the south west of the application site. The monument marks the location of a former prisoner of war 
camp dating from the Napoleonic Wars.  
 
The application site has been subject to archaeological assessment. A desk based study was originally 
carried out which indicated the potential for pre-historic, Roman and later activity, although not to the 
extent that the archaeological remains should be considered a constraint to development. Further to this, 
a programme of additional archaeological assessment was agreed with the Council’s Archaeologist. A 
series of geophysical surveys were conducted along with target trial trenching. As set out in volume 1 of 
the supporting ES this revealed the presence of Iron Age and Roman settlement activity, a single Saxon 
sunken feature building, medieval or post medieval ridge and furrow across the majority of the site and 
post-medieval or modern features that may relate to the former prisoner of war camp. 
 
Following discussions with English Heritage a detailed geophysical survey was carried out around the 
northern and eastern extents of the SAM covering an area of some 54 hectares. Trial trenches were also 
sunk. This confirmed that no structures relating to the camp survived outside the scheduled area. The 
location of the prison cemetery was not positively identified.   
 
The application proposes a buffer area adjacent to the SAM some 90-100 metres in depth. It is intended 
that this buffer area be the location for two football pitches.   
 
English Heritage in its initial consultation response raised concerns that the burial ground associated 
with the SAM may extend into the application site and the proposed buffer area. This concern was raised 
in light of archaeological investigation by Channel 4’s ‘Time Team’ in 2009 (with an archaeological 
evaluation and geophysical survey undertaken by Wessex Archaeology and GSB respectively). This 
assessment, which was undertaken separately from the previous investigation, identified a number of 
burials associated with the camp situated in the north west corner of the SAM.  
 
Following discussions with the Council’s Archaeologist and English Heritage it was agreed that additional 
trenching to compliment the previous work would be undertaken to assess whether the burials extend 
into the application site. This trenching did not identify any burials and concluded that the present north 
west boundary of the SAM is contemporary with the camp. 
 
In light of this further assessment, the results of which are set out in the addendum to the original ES, 
English Heritage has confirmed that the width of the proposed buffer to the north and east of the SAM is 
acceptable. 
 
In its initial consultation response English Heritage also raised a concern about the proposal to locate 
football pitches within the buffer area given the potential for ancillary facilities for such a pavilion, 
changing rooms and car parking or associated works such as levelling and drainage. 
 
In light of the further assessment work carried out English Heritage withdrew its objection to the 
application but did state that its comments in relation to the siting of sports pitches within the buffer area 
remain valid. In response to this concern a specific condition is recommended to ensure that the pitches 
remain low key and do not have associated pavilions, parking etc. The wording of this condition has 
been reviewed by English Heritage and it has confirmed that it is acceptable. 

93



 54 

 
A standard condition requiring further archaeological assessment as phases of the development come 
forward is also recommended. 
 
In light of the additional assessment which has been carried out and the proposed conditions the 
archaeological impacts of the proposed development including the extent of the buffer area are 
considered to be acceptable in accordance with the NPPF and policy CS17 of the adopted Core 
Strategy. 
 
Public Representations 
 
A number of the representations received have commented on the relationship between the proposed 
development and the SAM. Comments have been made regarding the adequacy of the buffer area, the 
need for further assessment and the treatment of war graves including notifying the French Authorities. 
 
As indicated above the additional assessment which has been carried out did not locate any war graves. 
Therefore the extent of the buffer area is considered adequate. As no burials were found there is also no 
reason for the Council to notify the French Authorities.  Additional archaeological work will also be 
required during the course of the development so should any further archaeological finds be located 
these can be recorded as dealt with as appropriate. 
 
9) Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
Surface Water Drainage and Flood Risk 
 
A Surface Water Drainage Strategy has been submitted with the application. It is proposed to drain the 
site via a series of pipes and conveyance channels/lakes. Part of the site will drain directly into the 
Stanground Lode which runs through it whilst the remaining catchments will drain via the existing 
Beeby’s Lakes located on the eastern side of the A15 within the area known as Hampton Leys.  
 
The surface water drainage proposals are supported by a detail Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which 
includes technical information relating to flow levels and catchment areas within the site. The FRA has 
been assessed in detail by the Environment Agency (EA). Following the submission of further 
information the EA has confirmed that it has no objections to the development on the grounds of flood 
risk subject to the imposition of a number of conditions and satisfactory completion of the S106 
agreement in respect of long term ownership and maintenance. The wording of the recommended 
drainage conditions has been agreed with the EA. This includes conditions around the phasing of the 
drainage infrastructure to ensure at that adequate attenuation is provided as each part of the 
development is built out.  
 
No objections to the development have been received from the Middle Level Commissioners, the 
adjoining drainage authority or the Council’s Drainage Team in light of the conditions agreed with the EA. 
 
Public Representations 
 
A number of public representations have raised drainage concerns. In light of the work with the EA it is 
considered that surface water run off from the scheme can be adequately accommodated and 
attenuated. As set out above the drainage scheme will come forward in phases in line with the 
development. It would be unreasonable to require the developer to put in all the drainage attenuation at 
the start of the development as this is not needed to support it. In light of the assessment carried out and 
the on site attenuation which will be provided it is not considered that there scheme would increase the 
risk of flooding to existing homes. 
 
It has been suggested that a 1 in 100 year assessment is not reasonable and that the scheme should be 
based in a 1 in 200 year assessment. As set out above, flood risk has been considered by the EA in 
accordance with its standard requirements. It would be unreasonable to request an assessment which 
goes beyond this, neither could such a request be justified on a policy basis. 
 

94



 55 

The impact of the development on existing water supplies has been queried. Ensuring adequate water 
supply is a matter for Anglian Water outside of the planning process. Anglian Water will need to factor 
this development into its medium to long term planning. It has been consulted on the application and has 
not raised issues in terms of water supply.  
 
Foul Drainage 
 
It is proposed that foul drainage to the site be routed to an existing sewer in Orton Goldhay. Anglian 
Water has confirmed its acceptance of this connection point in principle and that adequate capacity is 
available within the system at this location. It is proposed that the foul drainage be routed through the 
site and along the corridor of the Western Peripheral Road towards the agreed connection point.  
 
Notwithstanding any planning permission which may be granted, the applicant will require approval from 
Anglian Water under separate legislation to connect up to the existing foul drainage network. Anglian 
Water will also be responsible for delivering any off site infrastructure improvements which may be 
needed to accommodate foul waste water from the development including any improvement to Flag Fen 
Sewerage Treatment Works (STW).  
 
10) Energy Efficiency/Sustainability 
 
As with other development across the city including the employment area a condition requiring that the 
development be constructed to a minimum of 10% above the relevant Building Regulation standard at 
the time of construction (unless this is zero carbon) is recommended in order to ensure that a 
contribution is made towards the Council’s Environment Capital agenda (policy CS10 of the Core 
Strategy refers). Given the build out programme it is likely that a large proportion of the development will 
be built out as zero carbon. In addition, the applicant is looking at the feasibility of a Combined Heat and 
Power (CHP) plant within the District Centre. If this does come forward (subject to further viability work) 
then it would further contribute towards the Council’s Environment Capital agenda. 
 
It will be for the developer of each tranche to demonstrate how they are complying with this condition. 
This approach (i.e. settling an overall target) allows flexibility in terms of the detailed delivery in order to 
take account of the most appropriate technology available at the time. 
 
Comment from Wildlife Trust 
The Wildlife Trust, whilst agreeing with the sustainability measures set out, consider that these could be 
improvement, for example through the provision of additional green infrastructure, creation of areas for 
wildlife and the incorporation of other ecological features. Whilst these comments are noted, for the 
reasons set out above and under section 5 parts 6 and 7 (ecology and landscaping) the development is 
considered to accord with policy. Additional provisions cannot therefore be requested.  
 
Public Representations 
 
A number of the representations received and raised matters relating to the sustainability of the site:- 
 
-CHP is not viable- homes should have solar panels etc.  
As set out above an overarching condition in respect of energy efficiency is proposed. This will allow 
each individual developer to chose the most appropriate technology at the time they build.  
 
 The development is a major opportunity to apply some world class low energy/low carbon design. 
However, the proposal does not reflect a practical approach to the Government commitments on Climate 
Change.  
Subject to the condition referred to above the development will comply with current policy. It would be 
unreasonable to apply a more onerous  requirement to this development. 

 
 There is no explanation as to how the developer is to meet the requirements of Building Regulations in 
terms of carbon reductions.  
As an outline application this level of detail cannot be required. Building Regulation requirements are 
also separate to planning. 

 

95



 56 

The development as a whole (employment and residential) is unsustainable  
This is an issue of principle. As set out under section 5 part 1 it is an allocated site and matters such as 
these cannot be reconsidered here. 
 
Development with junctions would result in increased exhaust gas emissions and pollution along this 
short section of road. 
 The principle of development is established. Some pollution associated with junctions has to be 
accepted. 
 
Development is contrary to Peterborough’s aspirations to be Environment Capital/No sustainable energy 
policy 
For the reasons set out above the development is considered to comply with policy CS10. 
 
No details on what is going to be delivered 
 As set out above a condition is recommended. As an outline application it would not be appropriate to 
require specific details at this stage. Technology will also change over the life of the development so 
flexibility is required. 

 
11) Other Technical Matters  
 
Minerals Extraction 
 
The Minerals and Waste Core Strategy proposals map identifies the site as a mineral safeguarding area. 
The purpose of mineral safeguarding areas (MSA) is to ensure that mineral resources are adequately 
taken into account in all land use planning applications. The presence of a MSA does not preclude other 
forms of development taking place, but flags up the presence of minerals so that this can be considered 
and minerals usage not unknowingly or needlessly sterilised.  
 
In this instance, subsequent to the Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD being prepared the Core 
Strategy and Site Allocations DPD have been adopted which allocate land at Great Haddon for 
employment and residential development. As such there are no mineral and waste implications. 
 
As a result of the previous consent for mineral extraction, part of the site was identified as a Regionally 
Important Geological Site (RIGS). RIGS do not have the same statutory protection as other designations 
such as SSSIs etc but Local Planning Authorities are encouraged to protect them through the planning 
process. Policy CS21 of the adopted Core Strategy states planning permission will not normally be 
granted for development which would be likely to have an adverse effect on a RIGS unless there are 
demonstrable reasons for the proposal which outweigh the need to safeguard the nature conservation of 
the site. In the case of Great Haddon it is allocated for development within the same document so the 
potential impact upon the RIGS has been accepted and cannot be revisited here. It is, however, 
recommended that an informative be put on the permission advising the developer to contact 
GeoPeterborough when the new attenuation ponds are constructed, in order that the geology can be 
recorded.   
 
Ground Conditions 
The supporting Environmental Statement covers the issue of ground conditions. On the basis of the soil 
samples taken it concludes that the overall risk of ground contamination is low. In particular levels of 
arsenic are below those which would be of concern for residential development. Neither does the site lie 
within an area currently assessed to be at risk of radon occurrence. No radon protective measures are, 
therefore, recommended. The ES does note, however, that there are some potential areas of 
contamination given the historical use of the site (in connection with the discussed oil pipeline, the former 
World War Two Hostel Site, the backfilled ponds and in relation to the farmsteads). It is therefore 
recommended that a condition be imposed requiring further investigation and the agreement of any 
appropriate remedial works before any development is undertaken within the vicinity of these areas. 
 
In assessing the potential impact of off site sources of contamination the ES concludes that an historical 
landfill site to the south west poses no significant hazard and that no special protective measures are 
required to be incorporated into the construction of the dwellings or commercial buildings. The 
conclusions of the ES are accepted by the Council’s Pollution Control Section although it is recommends 

96



 57 

a condition requiring the approval of a scheme of remedial measures to deal with any unsuspected areas 
of contamination which may be uncovered during the development of the site. 
 
Fire Hydrants 
 
Cambridgeshire Fire and Rescue Service has requested that fire hydrants be secured via a condition or 
through the S106 Agreement. As individual developments come forward there will be a requirement 
under the Building Regulations to provide fire hydrants. It is not, therefore, considered necessary to 
control the matter under the planning process. 
 
12) S106/Community Infrastructure Provision 
 
The applicant has agreed to enter into a S106 Obligation and negotiations are currently ongoing. 
Following a detailed assessment of the viability of the scheme, which the Council is being advised on by 
consultants Deloitte LLP, a Section 106 package of some £75 million has been agreed in principle by 
officers. This comprises the following key elements:- 

•••• £37.1 millions for schools. 2x 2FE primary schools £4.5 million each, 1 x 3FE £6.8million and 
a 7FE secondary school £21.2million); 

•••• £22.5 million for highway improvements and public transport provision. This includes the 
construction of the Yaxely loop road, contribution towards Fletton Parkway widening, works to 
junction 2, traffic calming through Yaxley and funding of a bus service. 

•••• Travel Plan 

•••• £6.7million toward community facilities.   

•••• £6.22 million for landscape and sports facilities 

•••• £716, 000 ecology works 

•••• Provision of a cemetery site/ contribution of £75 000 

••••  £178 640 for community safety measures 

•••• £10 000 towards cost of a Gypsy and Traveller site (not located within Great Haddon) 

•••• £263 000 Section 106 monitoring fee 
 
In light of the detailed and agreed viability assessment an initial affordable housing provision of 7.5% is 
proposed. 
 
The scheme is not fully policy compliant as there would be a shortfall in affordable housing provision 
(policy CS8 of the adopted Core Strategy requires 30%). Discussions are, therefore, ongoing with the 
applicant to agree details of an escalator mechanism under which profits from the scheme, above a set 
level, will be shared with the Council until such time as the development becomes policy compliant. 
 
It is proposed to use a review mechanism based upon ‘sales floor space value’ (£ per square foot). The 
threshold at which profits will be spilt is currently under discussion. At this stage Members are being 
asked to approve the principle of the approach being taken to secure this uplift. Details of the review 
mechanism will be reported back to Planning and Environmental Protection Committee once discussions 
are finalised. 
 
It should be noted that if the viability of the scheme does not improve during its build out then the 
threshold at which profits are shared with the Council will not be hit. If this is the case then there would 
be no additional money. As such the affordable housing provision would remain at 7.5%. 
 
Public Representations 
 
A number of the public representations relate to community aspects of the scheme. 
 
- School Places. A number of the representations received have commented that this development 
should make provision for Yaxley children, especially in respect of the secondary school places. Under 
the planning system the developer can only be required to mitigate for the impact of their development 
and not to address existing deficiencies. As set out above, the school provision proposed is considered 
to be sufficient to meet the requirements of Great Haddon. As such the proposal as it stands is 
acceptable.  
 

97



 58 

Notwithstanding this discussions are going on with CCC regarding secondary school places within 
Hampton and Yaxley with a view to building a new secondary school located within Hampton Leys. 
 
 Yaxley cannot accommodate any further demand for facilities as a result of the development.  
The Great Haddon development will have sufficient provision for services as it is built out. It is not, 
therefore, considered that it would place any unacceptable burden on Yaxley. 
 
-Conflict regarding the infrastructure demands at Hampton which will be exacerbated by Gt Haddon.  
As set out, Great Haddon will have its own provision for services. It is not, therefore, considered that it 
will place an unacceptable burden on Hampton’s infrastructure. 
 
 Concern regarding anti social behaviour in Yaxley. 
 It is not clear why this is a concern. Great Haddon will have its facilities. 
 
Proposal does not appear to include a medical facility/Impact on local facilities.  
The land use allocations within the local and district centres allow for the delivery of medical facilities as 
the scheme is built out. 
 
 Concerned about the impact of the new primary school on the local community. Village schools are part 
of the community don’t wish to loose them. 
 Great Haddon will have its own schools. It is not anticipated that it will impact on Yaxley schools. 
 
Destruction of community sprit through increased crime leading to higher Council tax bills.  
Great Haddon will its own separate community. It is not clear why this would result in destruction of 
community spirit at Hampton or Yaxley. 
 
Concern that no church or recreation centre.  
Whilst a church is not specifically included within the application there is nothing to stop one from coming 
forward. As set out above the S106 Agreement will require the provision of community facilities. New 
facilities are also likely to come forward through private investment as the scheme is built out.  
 
Should be more affordable housing. 
 The level of affordable housing proposed reflects the overall viability of the scheme and current 
economic conditions. As indicated there will be a mechanism to increase the percentage during the 
building of the development if overall viability is improved. Given the current emphasis on delivering 
development this is considered to be a reasonable approach. 
 
Concern that the development will not be viable in the current economic climate.  
The overall viability of the scheme has been discussed above. 
 
 Current infrastructure including the new hospital cannot cope, how can it cope with more houses.  
As set out above Great Haddon is an allocated site. Issues around health are part of a wider 
consideration in light of the proposed growth of the city and not relevant to the determination of this 
application. 
 
The plans refer to schools but not other community facilities.  
Community provision is discussed above. 

 
Consider that 30% social housing is not acceptable, 15% is a more realistic target. 
 The proposed affordable housing provision is discussed above. 
 
The development would benefit from a swimming pool and gym. This would be in line with government 
targets to reduce obesity and improve the fitness of the population. There is no other swimming pool 
close by. 
 There is no policy in place under which the developer could be required to provide a swimming pool. 
The scheme is not unacceptable without one. 
 
 Consideration should be given to the provision of a community centre so that all in the area have a 
contact point to enjoy clubs, events and celebrations. 

98



 59 

 As set out above the development will have community facilities which will be developed as it is built 
out. 
 
Yaxley residents do not benefit from any amenities built in new developments. Yaxley should have its 
amenities updated. 
 This application can only be required to meet the needs arising from its population. Issues with the 
existing level of amenities in Yaxley need to be discussed directly with CCC. The proposal cannot 
mitigate current deficiencies locally. 
 
Yaxley is a forgotten village. It is about time the County Council did something.  
This is an issue for CCC outside of the scope of the current application. 
 
Council’s should concentrate on existing villages, not keep expanding.  
This is an issue of principle which cannot be taken into consideration given that Great Haddon is an 
allocated housing site.  
 
If this application is approved the district and local centres should be constructed first before any houses 
are built so that Yaxley residents and community are not deprived of their own services and facilities.  
It is not realistic for all of the district and local centres to be built out in advance of any development. The 
delivery of these facilities will be controlled by the market. 
 
Concerned that Peterborough City Council has not honoured its commitment to Hampton to provide 
community facilities. 
 This is not a matter which can be taken into consideration with the determination of this application. 
 
There is insufficient infrastructure in the wider city area to accommodate Gt Haddon. 
 As set out this is an allocated site, issues around wider infrastructure have been considered as part of 
the allocation process and cannot be considered further here. The infrastructure improvements directly 
related to the development are set out above. The Council has also confirmed its commitment to the 
widening of Fletton Parkway between junction 17 of the A1(M) and junction 2 of Fletton Parkway. 
 
13) Other Responses to Representations Received 
 
The representations received in relation to the application have largely been covered under the relevant 
sections of the report above. The following have not been and so are specifically covered below:-  
 
Piecemeal Submission/Master Planning 
Objectors have raised concerns that the documents and drawings are unclear as to the true intentions of 
the scheme and that there should be a clear master plan.   
 
It is recognised that this is a complex application with a lot of supporting information. There have also 
been in depth technical discussions on a number of aspects of the scheme particularly transport and 
ecology. It is, therefore, inevitable that information will have been submitted over a period of time. The 
purpose of the addendum to the Environmental Statement and the updated Design and Access 
Statement and Planning Statement has been to draw together the submitted information into a more 
usable form for reconsultation.  
 
Neither is it accepted that the documents and drawings are unclear as to the true intentions of the 
scheme or that there is a need for a masterplan. If planning permission is granted the key parameter 
plans and documents will be approved at this outline stage and this information will be used to inform the 
associated planning conditions and reserved matters submissions.  
 
Inadequate Consultation 
Concerns have been raised that the public consultation on this application has been inadequate. The 
consultation process has been set out in section 4 above and is not, therefore repeated here. The 
statutory requirement for consultation on planning applications is the display of site notices and 
advertisement in the newspaper (as this is an application for major development and also accompanied 
by an Environmental Impact Assessment (the Environmental Statement)). There is only a requirement 

99



 60 

for a 21-day consultation. There is no statutory requirement to send individual neighbour notifications or 
to hold public consultation events.  
 
The consultation which has been carried out on the application has been substantially in excess of the 
statutory requirements. Furthermore, as a result of criticism from the first round of public consultation 
significantly more letters were sent out to Yaxley residents to advise of the second round of consultation. 
Flyers for the public consultation events were also put in local publications to make sure as many people 
as possible were aware of them. In addition, the time given for responses has been in excess of the 
statutory requirement. Furthermore, the Council has continued to accept representations outside of the 
formal consultation periods. 
 
During the consultation period officers have also met on three separate occasions with the Norman 
Cross Action Group (in September 2010, January 2011 and February 2011). As outlined, the Norman 
Cross Action Group and Parish Councils have also been reconsulted as part of the final rounds of 
technical consultation. 
 
It is not, therefore, accepted that consultation has been inadequate. 
 
Decision Process 
Concerns have been raised that Peterborough Councillors will be making a decision affecting 
Huntingdonshire District Council residents and it has been suggested that a referendum should be held 
to determine the application with a binding result. Due process has been followed in the consideration of 
the application and officers from HDC and CCC have been involved throughout. There has also been 
extensive consultation with local residents in Huntingdonshire. 
 
Name of Development 
The NXAG has objected to the use of the name Great Haddon. This is not a planning consideration. 
 
Scheme Does not Accord with Policy/Is unsound 
The impacts of the development have been assessed in detail above, and are summarised in section 6 
below. The scheme is considered to comply with policy for the reasons given. 
 
Conditions 
It has been suggested that all conditions relating to the development should be agreed by CCC, HDC 
and Yaxley Parish Council. Relevant conditions have been shared with CCC and HDC and they have 
had the opportunity to comment. It is not appropriate to consult them on all conditions. Neither is it 
appropriate for a Parish Council to be consulted in relation to the detailed wording of conditions.  
 
Park and Ride 
A number of the representations received have commented that provision should be made for a park and 
ride facility. Although the development does not actually give rise to the need for a park and ride 
consideration was given to this in early iterations of the scheme but it was removed as Council highway 
officers’ did not consider the location to be suitable (it was located on the south side of the A15) 
 
Human Rights 
Concerns have been raised that the development would have an adverse impact upon human rights. 
The impact of the development on the amenity of the surrounding residents has been assessed in this 
report. The impacts are considered to be acceptable and have been mitigated where possible. These 
impacts also have to be balanced against the contribution which the development would make towards 
delivery of new houses in Peterborough. Furthermore the site has been allocated in the Adopted Core 
Strategy and Site Allocations DPD. The principle of development in this location is, therefore, accepted. 
In establishing the acceptability of the principle of development both the Core Strategy and Site 
Allocations DPD has been through a clear and transparent process including examination in public. It is 
not, therefore, considered that the application could reasonably be resisted on the grounds of human 
rights impacts.  
 
Impact on Hampton Vale and yet to be built out parts of Hampton 
This is a separate application for a separate development on an allocated site. This is not, therefore, a 
relevant consideration. 

100



 61 

  
 Will the benefits be delivered. Experience of other schemes shows they are often not. 
Whilst the comment is noted this is not a matter which can be taken into consideration. 
 
People who live in Haddon will continue to commute to London 
This is not a relevant consideration. 
 
 Record of Peterborough City Council planning is not good i.e. Eagle Way is blocked with cars, 
Hempsted.  
This is a separate application to be considered on its own merits. Any potential issues with other 
developments cannot be taken into consideration in the determination of this application. 
 
 Need sufficient parking to prevent the problems at  Hampton. 
This development will be built out in accordance with the relevant parking standards at the time. Parking 
standards for residential development have just been increased. 
 
Proposal would be a waste of tax payers money 
This is not a planning consideration. 
 
There is a mismatch between the number of houses and number of jobs created 
This is an issue of principle which cannot be revisited here. It should be noted that the new development 
will create jobs both during the construction phase and then in the district/local centre and schools. 
 
The proposed scheme demonstrates the worst practice in contemporary urban design and planning 
thinking and will serve as another out of town commuter estate. 
The site is allocated so the principle of locating the development here cannot be revisited. This is only an 
outline application. If approved the submission and approval of detailed development briefs will be 
required. Detailed applications for each tranche will also need to be submitted and approved. This will 
deal with issues of urban design.  
 
The houses that are being built are the slums of tomorrow 
This is only an outline application. If approved the submission and approval of detailed development 
briefs will be required. Detailed applications for each tranche will also need to be submitted and 
approved. This will deal with issues of urban design.  
 
Peterborough should stop interfering with Huntingdonshire. 
This is not a relevant consideration, the application is for development on an allocated site within the 
Peterborough District. 
 
Adverse impact on house prices 
This is not a material planning consideration. 
 
Potential house buyers in the area cannot presently raise the necessary mortgages to buy existing 
property for sale so how are 5350 new houses going to be sold 
The site is allocated as part of the Council’s Core Strategy. There is a clear message from Central 
Government that new housing is required to meet housing demand. 
 
Adverse impact on local businesses that may already be struggling in the current economic climate 
It is not considered that this development would have an adverse impact on local businesses. 
 
The developer did not update the web site at all during 2010. If they don’t care now, how caring will they 
be during construction. 
This is not a relevant planning consideration. 
 
Development by O & H at Hampton has been an unmitigated disaster.  
This is not a relevant planning consideration. 
 
Object to the removal of application H130 in the Site Allocations DPD. 
This is not a relevant planning consideration. 

101



 62 

 
6 Conclusions 
 
Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been assessed in 
the light of all material considerations, including weighting against relevant policies of the development 
plan and specifically:  
 

• The Great Haddon urban extension is allocated in the adopted Core Strategy and the adopted 
Site Allocations DPD. The principle of development is therefore acceptable in accordance with 
the policies CS1, CS2, CS3 and CS5 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy SA1 of the Site 
Allocations DPD. 

 

• Following detailed assessment of the transport modelling the impact of the development on the 
surrounding highway network is considered to be acceptable in accordance with policy CS14 of 
the Adopted Core Strategy, policy PP12 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

  

• Through the provisions of the Travel Plan and funding for the bus service, to be secured as part 
of the S106 Agreement, the development is considered to make adequate provision for 
sustainable travel in accordance with policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy; 

 

• The amount of retail floorspace in the new district and local centres is considered to be 
appropriate for the scale and the size of development and it would not unacceptably impact upon 
the vitality and viability of any existing centre. The proposal therefore accords with policy CS15 of 
the adapted Core Strategy. 

 

• It is accepted that as a result of the development the existing rural character of the site would be 
permanently altered. However, a strategic decision has been made to develop this site in the 
adopted Core Strategy. In this context, the visual impact of the development is considered to be 
acceptable in accordance with policies CS5 and CS16 of the adopted Core Strategy. 

 

• Following review of all aspects of the development the impact of the development on the amenity 
of neighbouring residents is considered to be acceptable in accordance with polices CS14 and 
CS16 of the Adopted Core Strategy and policy PP3 of the Planning Policies DPD. 

 

• Subject to detailed design it is considered that the development will be able to afford future 
residents an acceptable level of amenity in accordance with policy PP4 of the adopted Planning 
Policies DPD. 

 

• The potential impacts of the development on Orton Pit SSSI/SAC can be acceptably mitigated via 
the creation of a buffer zone and through the access control measures proposed. The 
development is, therefore, considered to be acceptable in accordance with policy CS21 of the 
adopted Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

• Other ecological impacts of the development can also be acceptable mitigated so the 
development accords with policy CS21 of the adopted Core Strategy and the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 

• The impact of the development on existing trees and hedgerows within/adjoining the site is 
considered to be acceptable subject to the imposition of conditions requiring more detailed 
assessment as development comes forward and protection measures. New landscaping will also 
be planted, including the provision of new hedgerows. The development is, therefore, considered 
to be acceptable in accordance with policy CS21 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP16 
of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. 

 

• In light of the archaeological assessment carried out and the proposed buffer zone the 
relationship of the development with the SAM is considered to be acceptable. Further 
archaeological assessment will be required by condition as the development progresses. It is 

102



 63 

therefore considered to accord with the National Planning Policy Framework, policy Cs17 of the 
adopted Core Strategy and policy PP17 of the Planning Polices DPD. 

 

• Following assessment of the submitted information it is considered that the site can be 
adequately drained and will not give rise to an increased risk of flooding in accordance with policy 
CS22 of the adopted Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework; 

 

• Via the imposition of a condition it is considered that the development will make a contribution 
towards the Council’s Environment Capital objectives in accordance with policy CS10 of the 
adopted Core Strategy. 

 

• Subject to the completion of a S106 Agreement it is considered that the development will make 
sufficient contribution towards the infrastructure requirements arising from it. It therefore accords 
with policies CS12 and CS13 of the adopted Core Strategy. 

 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering recommends that the application be approved subject 
to (a) the following conditions, (b) a further report to Planning and Environmental Protection Committee 
to agree the review mechanism for the S106 and (c) the satisfactory completion of an obligation under 
the provisions of Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990   

 
C1 Application for approval of reserved matters namely access, appearance, landscaping, layout and 
scale shall be made to the Local Planning Authority no later than ten years from the date of this 
permission.  Such development shall be begun no later than twelve years from the date of this 
permission or, if later, two years from the approval of the last such matter to be approved.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the development meets the policy standards required by the development plan 
and any other material considerations including national and local policy guidance and in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).   
 
C2 Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to in condition C1 above, relating to the 
access, appearance, landscaping, layout and scale of the site, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority in respect of any part of the development of the site before any 
development commences within that part of the site.  Development shall be carried out as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development meets the policy standards required by the development plan 
and any other material considerations including national and local policy guidance and in accordance 
with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  
 
C3 Development shall be undertaken in accordance with the access arrangements and land use 
allocations shown on the Development Framework Plan (plan no. PST021-DFP- 101 Rev A) and 
approved Parameter Plans (plan Nos PST021-DFP-102 Rev B Primary Movement Network Plan; 
PST021-DFP-101 Rev C, Dedicated Pedestrian/Cycle and Equestrian Routes; PST021-DFP-103 Rev B 
Public Transport Movement Network; PST021-DFP-106 Rev A Building Heights; PST021-DFP-108 Rev 
B Landscape Framework; PST021-DFP-107 Rev A Open Space Provision).  
 
Reason:  To restrict the development to that applied for and for which the environmental, transport and 
infrastructure impacts have been assessed and to ensure that the development meets the policy 
standards required by the development plan and any other material considerations including national 
and local policy guidance 
 
C4 Not more than 5350 dwellings shall be built pursuant to this outline planning permission. 20% of all 
dwellings shall be constructed as Life Time Homes and 2% as Wheelchair Housing. The plans and 
particulars of each relevant reserved matters application shall demonstrate compliance with these 
standards.     
 
Reason: In order to comply with the provisions of the outline planning permission including the 
assessment of the transport issues and environmental impacts of the development and to meet housing 

103



 64 

need in accordance with Policies CS1, CS5 and CS8 of the Adopted Core Strategy and Policy SA1 of 
the Adopted Site Allocations DPD.  
 
C5 Prior to the commencement of development updated strategic phasing plans shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To allow consideration of the impacts of the development and to ensure the timely delivery of 
the necessary infrastructure needed to support the housing development in accordance with CS5 of the 
adopted Core Strategy.  
 
C6 Prior to the commencement of development within any phase or the submission of any reserved 
matters applications within that phase, as identified by the strategic phasing plans, a Development Area 
Brief shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Development 
Area Brief should be separated into two sections, the first dealing with the provision and delivery of 
strategic infrastructure within that phase and the second section with detailed advice to third party 
developers. The strategic section should include, in so far as is relevant to the particular phase, but not 
be limited to the following:- 

• Existing features of the site including topography and details of any substantial recontouring or 
remodelling within the phase as a whole; 

• Identify any primary infrastructure including key roads, open spaces, walking and cycling 
connections and drainage as identified on the approved framework and parameter plans and set 
out the phasing for their delivery making reference where appropriate to the S106 and any 
relevant conditions (unless the relevant condition has been separately discharged);  

• Phasing of development tranches within the Brief Area; 

• Design rationale and objectives for key infrastructure areas as identified in the previous bullet 
point; 

• Road hierarchy including typical landscaping treatment; 

• Quantum of open space including its intended use; 

• Identification of public transport provision including any bus only areas, bus lanes, bus stops; 

• Identification of key walking/cycling routes including where relevant connections off site; 

• Individual tranche boundaries and land uses including the maximum housing numbers for each 
tranche; 

• Identification of how affordable housing is to be delivered, including numbers and tenure; 

• Provision to be made for lifetime homes and wheelchair housing; 

• The urban design and architectural rationale for the development phase; 

• Illustrative master plan for each phase;  

• Storey heights; 

• Residential and commercial densities; and 

• Palette of materials including street furniture for the public realm 
 
The second section should include, in so far as is relevant to that particular phase, but not be limited to 
the following:- 

• Details of retained trees and hedges within individual development tranches; 

• Palette of appropriate species and mix for new landscaping within the public realm;  

• Details out how the proposed urban design and architectural rationale for the development area 
is to be achieved. This shall include design principles and parameters for buildings including the 
nature of the features which achieve this i.e. window design, chimney design, brick detailing etc, 
roofscapes, materials etc 

• Palette of boundary treatments; 

• Car parking standards and design principles;  

• Garage sizes; 

• Provision for bin storage and collection; 

• Privacy distances; 

• Cycle parking standards and the design of shelters/stands for flatted schemes; 
 
Development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the relevant approved Development Area 
Brief. Each reserved matters application shall be accompanied by a statement setting out how the 
scheme complies with the requirements of the relevant Development Area Brief along with elevations 

104



 65 

and design rational plan to demonstrate this compliance. In the case of life time homes and wheel chair 
housing the scheme shall be accompanied by plans/particulars demonstrating how the relevant 
standards are to be achieved. 
 
Reason: To secure the comprehensive and co-ordinated development of each part of the site in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, policies CS5, CS16, CS17, CS19 and CS22 of 
the Adopted Core Strategy and policies PP02, PP04, PP13, PP14, PP16 and PP17 of the Planning 
Policies DPD.  
 
C7 Plans and particulars to be submitted as reserved matters for each parcel of land as identified on the 
approved Framework Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A shall include details of existing and 
proposed site levels including the finished floor levels of all new dwellings/ buildings and any associated 
parking. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual and residential amenity in accordance with policy Cs16 of the adopted 
Core Strategy and polices PP3 and PP4 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C8 Prior to the submission of the first Development Area Brief an Open Space Strategy,(which shall 
include a plan showing the location and range of open spaces to be provided covering all formal and 
informal areas), based upon parameter plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Strategy shall include a schedule of the 
open spaces identified below and the anticipated timing of the delivery of the open space within the 
development). It shall make specific reference to the following types of open space/play provision:- 
· Playing fields and sports pitches including associated facilities;  
· Major areas of Children/Teenagers play areas and equipment including the provision of, NEAPS and 
MUGAs  
·Allotments;  
· Existing woodland and new woodland planting;  
· Strategic Green infrastructure linkages including pedestrian and cycle links;  
· Other areas of open spaces and landscaping e.g. the SAC/SSSI buffer;  
 
As set out under condition 6, the subsequent Development Area Briefs shall include an outline 
specification of all open space areas including detailed timings for delivery. Housing development within 
the next phase shall not commence until the open space within the previous phase has been delivered in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that there is an appropriate range of open space within the development and 
to ensure that this is delivered in a timely manor in order to provide for the needs to the new residents in 
accordance with policy CS19 of the adopted Core Strategy polices and polices PP04 and PP14 of the 
Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C9 Notwithstanding the submitted information, the development shall achieve as a minimum an energy 
efficiency of 10% above the Building Regulations standard in place at the time of reserved matters 
submission, unless this requires a zero carbon development. Prior to the first occupation of any 
dwelling/building within each tranche a statement/assessment which demonstrates how this has be 
achieved shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
As an alternative to the above energy efficiency requirement, a proposal which exceeds other 
requirements in Policies CS10 and 11 of the Adopted Core Strategy and which is considered by the 
Local Planning Authority to be of greater benefit in achieving those policy objectives may be submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for consideration as part of each reserved matters application.  
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to deliver energy efficiencies in accordance with policies CS10 and CS11 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy. 
 
C10 Prior to the submission of any reserved matters applications a scheme for the phasing of the 
surface water drainage infrastructure including that located off site (Beeby’s Lakes) based upon drawing 

105



 66 

number 15188/400/05 Rev F shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. This scheme shall include amongst other matters:- 

- Identification and details of primary infrastructure required to support Great Haddon and the 
timescales and trigger points for the delivery thereof. This shall include works to the Beeby’s 
Lakes, connections from Great Haddon to the Beeby’s Lakes and any temporary drainage 
arrangements, including timescales and trigger points, required in connection with the phasing of 
the development prior to the permanent solution being delivered; 

- Detailed design (including calculations) in respect of the primary infrastructure including as 
appropriate supporting calculations for any temporary measures; 

- Statement setting out the timing of the delivery of secondary infrastructure linking into the primary 
infrastructure and individual development tranches; 

- Agreement of maximum impermeable area for each tranche needed to support the approved 
Flood Risk Assessment reference 15188/400/01 Rev F.  

The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme including the 
timescales and trigger points set out therein.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the site can be adequately drained as development comes forward and to 
prevent an increased risk of flooding both on site and to third parties in accordance with policy CS22 of 
the Adopted Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
C11 The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the approved Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) reference 15188/400/01 Rev F. In particular: 

1. Surface water run-off shall be limited to predevelopment rates as set out within the FRA and drawing 
number 15188/400/05 Rev F; 

2. No development comprising of a building, road or land raising shall take place within Flood Zones 2 
and 3 other than those watercourse crossings detailed within Sections 5.7.1 and 5.8.1 of the FRA; 

3. Watercourse crossings shall be designed in accordance with 5.7.1 b of the FRA. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the site can be adequately drained as development comes forward and to 
prevent an increased risk of flooding both on site and to third parties in accordance with policy CS22 of 
the Adopted Core Strategy and National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
C12 Prior to the submission of any reserved matters applications for tranches within catchment 2 as 
identified on drawing number 15188/400/05 Rev F, a scheme for dealing with overland surface water 
flow routes within the catchment including implementation and phasing shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include formal means of 
conveyance of surface water for events exceeding the 3.33% annual probability rainfall event.  
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and each 
reserved matters application within the catchment shall demonstrate compliance with the agreed 
scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site can be adequately drained as development comes forward and to 
prevent an increased risk of flooding both on site and to third parties in accordance with policy CS22 of 
the Adopted Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
C13 Prior to the commencement of development within each phase (as identified under condition 10 
above) a detailed scheme for the provision of surface water drainage shall be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include as appropriate: 

- A statement detailing how the scheme complies with the approved overarching Flood Risk 
Assessment (as approved under condition 11) and overarching Drainage Strategy (as approved 
under condition 10); 

- Drainage calculations, supplementing those provided under condition 10 as required (for the 
primary drainage elements) and a statement in respect of the impermeable area for the 
development area as indentified on the approved Framework Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 
Rev A ; 

106



 67 

- An Implementation Strategy including detailed construction timings. This should include details of 
any temporary measures and outfalls to facilitate the phasing of the development (as approved in 
principle under condition 10) including the trigger for their removal; 

- For tranches accommodating existing water courses or those adjacent to them, as identified on 
the approved Framework Plan ref. PST021-DFP-101 Rev A, a scheme of works to the 
watercourse including details of any channel works including culverting/construction of weirs; 
means of bank stabilisation and restoration; erosion management;  

- Additional SUDs features in line with Section 6.7 of the approved FRA; 
- For tranches within catchment 2 a statement confirming how the development complies with the 

overall strategy for the catchment (as approved under condition 12) including details of any 
measures identified via that strategy; 

 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
implementation programme.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the site can be adequately drained as development comes forward and to 
prevent an increased risk of flooding both on site and to third parties in accordance with policy CS22 of 
the Adopted Core Strategy, the National Planning Policy Framework and to comply with the EU Directive 
2000/60/EC: the Water Framework Directive . 
 
C14 The submission of Reserved Matters applications shall be accompanied by the following information 
in relation to surface water drainage: 
 

- Detailed design (including calculations) based upon the table on drawing number 15188/400/05 
Rev F and complying with the details submitted and agreed in relation to condition 10; 

- Details of finished floor levels for tranches adjacent to the northern tributary of the Stanground 
Lode, Stanground Lode and new ribbon lake (OS14) namely R7-10, NC1, PS1, northern sections 
of tranches R11-18; 

- Details of any outfalls, weirs, pumps, culverts or any other conveyance feature; 
- Details of pollution management from roads and other hard surfacing.  

 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
implementation programme.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the site can be adequately drained as development comes forward and to 
prevent an increased risk of flooding both on site and to third parties in accordance with policy CS22 of 
the Adopted Core Strategy, the National Planning Policy Framework and to comply with the EU Directive 
2000/60/EC: the Water Framework Directive . 
 
C15 Monitoring of the quality of the water from the development entering existing water courses 
(principally the Stanground Lode, its northern tributary and Beeby’s Lakes) shall be carried out in 
accordance with a methodology to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  
 
An initial survey, the methodology of which shall be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 
shall be undertaken prior to commencement of development on site to establish a base line, the results 
of which shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Monitoring shall be carried out on an annual basis for the first five years following the first occupation of 
any building. The applicant shall submit a single annual monitoring report for the site to the Local 
Planning Authority for written approval. The timing of the monitoring and the submission of the 
monitoring report shall thereafter be reviewed and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   
 
Provision shall be made to enable the Local Planning Authority to consider if any remedial measures are 
necessary as a result of evaluating the submitted monitoring results, including a provision for the Local 
Planning Authority to serve notice on the applicant requiring a scheme of remedial measures. The 
remedial measures shall be fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development. 
Within two months of receiving such written notice, the applicant shall submit such a scheme of remedial 

107



 68 

measures (including a timeframe for implementation) and the approved remedial measures shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved scheme and programme.  
 
Reason: In order to protect the quality of water in existing watercourses in accordance with policy CS21 
of the Adopted Core Strategy, and to satisfy the EU Directive 2000/60/EC: the Water Framework 
Directive. 
 
C16 Prior to the commencement of development a foul drainage strategy including details of the 
locations of any pumping stations and any phasing thereof shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the first occupation of any unit. Reserved matters application will be required for 
the detailed design of any pumping stations.  
 
Reason: In order to ensure adequate foul drainage provision and to ensure no harm is caused to 
features of ecological interest (Orton Pit) policies CS12 and CS21 of the Adopted Core Strategy.  
 
C17 Prior to the commencement of development a reserved matters application(s) setting out a detailed 
scheme of access management measures, based upon the principles set out in the approved Access 
Management Strategy for zones 1 and 2 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
The approved scheme shall thereafter be implemented in its entirety prior to the first occupation of any 
dwelling or other building. For the avoidance of doubt, this shall include the measures to the ‘gap land’, 
with the exception of the new semi natural habitat and new scrub planting immediately adjacent to the 
Western Peripheral Road as shown on drawings numbers 2914LO-003.1 and 2914LO-003.2 which shall 
be implemented in accordance with the construction programme for the road.  
 
In the event that the access management measures for zones 1 and 2 are not completed prior to the first 
occupation of any dwelling or building a progress review shall be carried out. This review shall include as 
appropriate other temporary access management measures along with a timetable for their 
implementation and subsequent removal. The conclusions of the review and details of any temporary 
measures shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The temporary 
measures shall thereafter be maintained and monitored until the permanent access management 
measures are fully completed. These monitoring and management measures shall be agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority as part of the progress review. If the above measures are not to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority development shall cease on site until such time as the 
permanent access management measures are completed. 
 
The monitoring and management of the permanent Access Management Measures and features shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the measures set out in the approved Access Management 
Strategy and any other maintenance which maybe required to maintain the effectiveness of the physical 
access management measures.  
 
A reserved matters application(s) shall be submitted for all of the access management measures 
specified in the approved strategy as these relate to land parcels OS6, OS13, OS14 and OS37 as 
identified on the approved Framework Plan PST021-DFP- 101 Rev A.  
 
For the avoidance of doubt, there shall be no lighting within these tranches unless it is demonstrated that 
there would be no adverse impact on Orton Pit SSSI/SAC.  
 
No built development shall encroach within the land parcels referred to above as identified on the 
approved framework plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A.   
 
Reason: In order to prevent unauthorised public access into Orton Pit SSSI/SAC in order to protect the 
integrity of the site, and to provide new ecological habitat as set out in the supporting Environmental 
Statement Volume 4, Chapter 6, the Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2010, National 
Planning Policy Framework and policy CS21 of the Adopted Core Strategy. 
 

108



 69 

C18 Prior to the commencement of development an overarching Great Crested Newt Strategy shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include a time schedule 
for the works. The plans and particulars submitted for each relevant reserved matters application shall 
demonstrate compliance with the Strategy and include where appropriate specific measures within 
individual tranches. Development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 
and specific measures. 
 
Monitoring of the strategy and the mitigation measures therein, including the specific measures within 
individual tranches shall be carried out during the build out of the development and for five years 
thereafter. The applicant shall submit a single annual monitoring report for the site, to include the 
individual development tranches, to the Local Planning Authority for written approval for the first five 
years following the commencement of development. The timing of the monitoring and the submission of 
the monitoring report shall thereafter be reviewed and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
If after evaluating the submitted monitoring results the Local Planning Authority considers remedial 
measures are necessary it will serve notice on the applicant requiring a scheme of remedial measures. 
The remedial measures shall be fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed 
development. Within one month of receiving such written notice, the applicant shall submit such a 
scheme of remedial measures (including a timeframe for implementation) and the approved remedial 
measures shall be implemented in accordance with the approved scheme and programme.  
 
Reason: In order to safeguard, enhance and manage the ecological interests of the site and to inform the 
translocation, protection of species and habitat creation/enhancement in accordance with the 
Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2010, National Planning Policy Framework and policy 
CS21 of the Adopted Core Strategy 
 
C19 Prior to the commencement of development, an overarching Biodiversity Strategy shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plans and particulars 
submitted for each reserved matters application/appropriate discharge of condition applications shall 
demonstrate compliance with the Strategy and include specific measures set out within individual 
tranches.  
 
The overarching Strategy shall include but not be limited to details of the following:    
 
a) appointment of a suitably qualified Ecological Clerk of Works and details of ecological supervision;  
 
b) details of phasing of habitat creation and clearance; 
 
c) details of habitat and species protection measures during the construction and operational phases of 
the development. This shall include details of measures to mitigate the impact of noise on woodland 
birds and off site works including works to Beeby’s Lakes and culvert under the A15, details of measures 
for buffering of all ponds that support Stoneworts by at least 50m from construction activity and the incorporation of 
these areas into green space in order to maintain their integrity to support Stoneworts and other aquatic plant 
species. 

 
d) details of habitat creation and enhancement, including: measures to ensure connectivity of habitat 
where appropriate that avoids conflict with new roads and fences; the phasing of delivery, the 
management/maintenance regime for these areas particularly areas of new habitat creation and 
measures to individual development plots to enhance biodiversity. This shall include measures to 
mitigate the impact of noise on woodland birds, measures to eradicate swamp stonecrop from Long 
Lake, details of the design and management of the new Great Crested Newt ponds to be created to 
maintain favourable off site provision where appropriate including to Beeby’s Lakes and culvert under the 
A15. 
 
e) areas of habitat creation and enhancement shall provide opportunities for great created newts, 
reptiles, badgers, bats, water voles, brown hares, otters, butterflies including black hairstreak and moths, 
breeding birds including owls, Stoneworts, aquatic and terrestrial invertebrates and (aquatic) plants;  
 

109



 70 

f) Proposals for the translocation of protected species in particular reptiles, great crested newts and any 
other protected species that may be subsequently identified; 
 
g) A methodology and strategy for the submission and approval of updated survey work during the build 

out of the development including specific measures in relation to bats; 
 
h) A scheme of monitoring for the retained/ enhanced areas of habitat creation and wider biodiversity 
measures within the scheme, including any specific measures set out within individual development 
tranches. The monitoring period shall be not less than the build out period of the development and five 
years thereafter. The applicant shall submit a single monitoring report, to include individual development 
tranches, annually for the first five years following commencement of development and thereafter 
reviewed with appropriate report monitoring periods agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; 
 
i) A provision shall be made to enable the Local Planning Authority to consider if any remedial measures 
are necessary as a result of evaluating the submitted monitoring results, including a provision for the 
Local Planning Authority to serve notice on the applicant requiring a scheme of remedial measures. The 
remedial measures shall be fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the proposed development. 
Within one month of receiving such written notice, the applicant shall submit such a scheme of remedial 
measures (including a timeframe for implementation) and the approved remedial measures shall be 
implemented in accordance with the approved scheme and programme.  

 
The above is not expected to duplicate the Access Management Strategy or the Great Crested Newt 
Strategy but should make cross-reference to these documents where appropriate. 
 
Reason: To safeguard, enhance and manage the ecological interests of the site and to inform the 
translocation, protection of species, habitat creation, remedial measures and to promote the biodiversity 
of the site in accordance with supporting Environmental Statement Volume 4, Chapter 6, policy CS21 of 
the Adopted Core Strategy and the Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2010.  
 
C20 Prior to the commencement of development, clearance works or remediation works within each 
parcel of land as identified on the approved Framework Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A, up to 
date survey work shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
updated survey work shall be carried out in accordance with the methodology set out in the Biodiversity 
Strategy and the Great Crested Newt Strategy. Surveys shall be carried out for Great Crested Newts, 
Reptiles, Breeding Birds, Water Voles, Bats, Badgers, Brown Hairs, Butterflies/Moths. Aquatic and 
Terrestrial Invertebrates, and aquatic plants. If development does not thereafter commence within 2 
years of the survey date new surveys will need to be undertaken in accordance with the above process. 

 
Reason: In order to protect species within the development area from harm in accordance with National 
Planning Policy Framework, policy CS21 of the Adopted Core Strategy and the Conservation of Habitat 
and Species Regulations 2010. 
 
C21 Prior to the first occupation of any development to the north of OS27 as identified on the approved 
Framework Plan ref. PST021-DFP-101 Rev A, or the first public use of Stage 3 of the Western 
Peripheral Road/Central Boulevard, whichever is the earlier, a scheme to monitor Nitrogen Oxide (NOx) 
concentrations and nitrogen deposition within Orton Pit SSSI/SAC shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The monitoring shall commence no later than 3 months after the 
approval of the scheme and continue for a period of 5 years after the complete build out of the 
development. All monitoring shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and submitted 
in the form of a single report at intervals to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority.  Should the 
Local Planning Authority consider that any remedial measures are necessary as a result of evaluating 
the submitted monitoring results, the Local Planning Authority will serve notice on the developer 
requiring a scheme of remediation. Within one month of receiving such written notice, a scheme of 
remediation, including a programme for implementation, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The remedial measures shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved scheme. 
 

110



 71 

Reason: To validate predictions regarding nitrogen deposition made in the Environmental Statement and 
to ensure the integrity of Orton Pit SSSI/SAC is protected in accordance with the National Planning 
Policy Framework and the Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2010. 
 
C22 Notwithstanding the submitted information, any services routed along the Western Peripheral Road 
shall be located within the hatched area identified on drawing no. (drawing number to be confirmed in the 
update report). 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that there is no risk to the delivery of the ecological mitigation measures 
associated with the western peripheral road in order to protect the integrity of Orton Pit SSSI/SAC in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, policy CS21 of the adopted Core Strategy and 
the Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations 2010. 
 
C23 No tree, hedgerow or woodland shown as being retained on drawing numbers 2489LO/11A Rev D 
(Tree Retention and Removal Plan Fig 8.11),  2489LO/12 Rev C (Hedgerow Strategy Fig 8.12) and 
3223_101A (Junction Arrangement, Vegetation Impact on A15) shall be felled, topped, lopped or 
grubbed in any way without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. If any retained tree 
as shown on the approved drawings is damaged or removed during a development phase, a revised 
scheme and implementation timetable shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter take place in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To secure the retention of trees, hedges and woodland as identified in the Environmental 
Statement in accordance with policy CS21 of the Adopted Core Strategy and policy PP16 of the 
Planning Policies DPD.  
 
C24 Prior to the commencement of development within each phase an overarching Landscape 
Management Strategy, including details of phasing for the strategic landscape areas within that phase 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plans and particulars 
submitted for each reserved matters application which include public landscaping shall demonstrate 
compliance with the Strategy and include specific measures set out within individual tranches. The 
Strategy shall include the following details: 
 
Long term design objectives for the course of the development and 5 years thereafter; 
Management responsibilities for the course of the development and 5 years thereafter; 
Maintenance schedules including replacement planting for any trees/shrubs which fail for the course of 
the development and 5 years thereafter; 
Woodland Management Plan for area of retained woodland and new woodland planting including clear 
objectives and details of interim works; 
 
The Landscape Management Strategy shall be implemented in accordance with a timetable contained 
therein. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the enhancement of 
biodiversity in accordance with policies PP16 of the Planning Policies DPD and policy CS21 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy. 
 
C25 The hard and soft landscaping scheme to be submitted as a reserved matters shall include the 
following details: 

• Proposed finished ground and building slab levels;  

• Planting plans including trees, species, numbers, size, density of planting and proposed time of 
planting as well as means of protection and maintenance;   

• An implementation programme (phased developments); 

• Hard surfacing materials; 

• Boundary treatments; 

• Refuse areas; 

• Cycle parking provision for any flatted schemes. 
 

111



 72 

The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved reserved matters 
application prior to first occupation/ use. In the case of soft landscaping works these shall be carried out 
no later than the first planting/seeding season following the occupation/use of the development 
 
If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree or shrub that tree or shrub or any 
tree or shrub planted in replacement for it is removed uprooted or destroyed or dies or becomes in the 
opinion of the Local Planning Authority seriously damaged or defective another tree or shrub of the same 
species and size as that originally planted shall be planned at the same place unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written consent to any variation. 
 
 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the enhancement of 
biodiversity in accordance with policy PP16 of the Planning Policies DPD and policy CS21 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy. 
 
C26 The plans and particulars for each reserved matters application or any discharge of condition 
application for those tranches containing and/or located adjacent to any retained trees/hedgerows 
(including outside of the application site) shall include:          
 

• An arboricultural method statement (to be carried out in accordance with section 7.2 of British 
Standard 5837-2005 or any subsequent revision to this); 

• An arboricultural impact assessment (to be carried in accordance with section 6 of BS 5837-
2005 or any subsequent revision to this); 

• A tree/hedgerow protection plan (to be carried out in accordance with section 7.1 of BS 5837-
2005) 

 
The above shall include an assessment of the impact of buildings, hard standings, drainage 
infrastructure and any other utilities. 
 
The tree/hedgerow protection measures shall be erected prior to the commencement of any works 
including site clearance and thereafter retained until construction work are completed unless the written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority is given to their removal. 
 
The development shall be built out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:  In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the enhancement of 
biodiversity in accordance with policy PP16 of the Planning Policies DPD and policy CS21 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy. 
 
C27 Prior to the commencement of any junction/access/widening work on the A15 which will result in the 
loss of existing planting outside of the application site, a scheme of replacement planting including 
details of tree species, densities, sizes, proposed timing of planting as well as means of protection along 
with a management/maintenance regime, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
The development/works shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details with the 
new planting taking place in the first available planting season following the works. 
 
If within a period of five years from the date of the planting of any tree or shrub that tree or shrub or any 
tree or shrub planted in replacement for it is removed uprooted or destroyed or dies or becomes in the 
opinion of the Local Planning Authority seriously damaged or defective another tree or shrub of the same 
species and size as that originally planted shall be planted at the same place unless the Local Planning 
Authority gives written consent to any variation. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the enhancement of 
biodiversity in accordance with policies LNE 9 and 10 of the Adopted Local Plan (First Replacement) and 
policy CS21 of the Adopted Core Strategy. 
 

112



 73 

C28 Notwithstanding the submitted information, prior to the commencement of development a scheme 
for the protection of the east, western and southern edges of the retained woodland of Two Pond 
Coppice and Chamber’s Dole shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. This scheme shall include measures such as new ditches, shrub planting and fencing.  
 
These measures shall thereafter be implemented prior to the first occupation of any dwelling.  
 
If in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority these measures subsequently appear inadequate or to 
be failing, within in a period if 5 years from the occupation of any dwelling the Local Planning Authority 
shall request from the developer a scheme of additional mitigation measures including a timetable for 
their implementation. The scheme shall be submitted within 3 months of any such request being made 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the retained woodland outside of the application area from human activity in 
the interests of visual amenity and biodiversity in accordance with policy PP16 of the Planning Policies 
DPD and policy CS21 of the Adopted Core Strategy. 
 
C29 The plans and particulars to be submitted as reserved matters shall include details of the following, 
as appropriate:- 
 

• Details of the new vehicular accesses into the site 

• Details of new footpaths and cycleways including how these tie in to the existing foot/cycle ways 
and bridleways; 

• Details of the internal access roads/cycleways/footways and junctions within the site including 
where appropriate Urban Traffic Management Control; 

• Car parking, circulation areas and loading and unloading areas 
 
C30 No part of the development shall be occupied or brought into use until the roads/footways and cycle 
ways linking that part of the development to the existing public highway have been implemented in 
accordance with the approved details. Nor shall any dwelling/unit be occupied or brought into use until its 
access and parking have been laid out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason; In the interests of providing a safe means of access to the development which does not 
prejudice the safety of the users of the existing public highway in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Adopted Core Strategy and polices PP12 and PP13 of the Planning Policies DPD.  

 
C31 Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed scheme of improvements to the A1(M)/J17 
trunk road shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme 
shall generally conform to the arrangements shown in outline on Peter Brett Associates drawing 
15188/100B/037-A dated 12 April 2011. 
  
Scheme details shall include drawings and documents showing the following: 
 

i. how the improvement interfaces with the existing highway alignment and carriageway markings 
including lane destinations,  

ii. full construction details relating to the highway improvement. This should include any modification 
to existing structures or proposed structures, with supporting analysis,   

iii. full signing and lighting details where applicable,  
iv. confirmation of full compliance with Departmental Standards (DMRB) and Policies (or approved 

relaxations/departures from standards), 
v.  Evidence that the scheme is fully deliverable within land in the control of either the Highway 

Authority or the Applicant; 
vi. an independent stage 2 Road Safety Audit (taking account of any stage 1 Road Safety Audit 

recommendations) carried out in accordance with Departmental Standards (DMRB) and Advice 
Notes, and  

vii. An Appraisal Summary Table (A.S.T.) in accordance with the requirements of the D.E.T.R. 
publication “A New Deal for Trunk Roads in England: Guidance on the new approach to appraisal 
– July 1998” 

 

113



 74 

No part of the development shall be occupied until the highway improvements referred to above have 
been fully implemented in accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the A1(M) A1 ,and J17 , will continue to fulfil their purpose as part of the 
Strategic Road Network in accordance with the Highways Act 1980, Circular 02/07 ‘Planning and the 
Strategic Road Network’, policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP12 of the adopted 
Planning polices DPD 
 
C32 Prior to the commencement of development a detailed design for the vehicle activated queue 
warning system on the Fletton Parkway between junctions J1 and J17 of the A1(M)and J3 of the Fletton 
Parkway including a reduction in the speed limit to 60mph on this section of the Parkway shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The detailed design scheme shall 
generally conform with the arrangements shown in outline on Peter Brett Associates drawing 
15188/200/25 dated 30 May 2012.   
 
The scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved details and be fully 
operational prior to the occupation of any of the approved development. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the A1(M) A1 ,and J17 , will continue to fulfil their purpose as part of the 
Strategic Road Network in accordance with the Highways Act 1980, Circular 02/07 ‘Planning and the 
Strategic Road Network’, policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP12 of the adopted 
Planning polices DPD 
 
C33 Not more than 1000 dwellings shall be occupied until a ‘type c merge’ onto an urban road with a 
60mph speed limit broadly in line with that shown on Peterborough City Council drawing   Type c merge 
5086281-PC-09-999-008 Rev B dated 10 May 2012, has been implemented in full and is operational.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the A1(M) A1 ,and J17 , will continue to fulfil their purpose as part of the 
Strategic Road Network in accordance with the Highways Act 1980, Circular 02/07 ‘Planning and the 
Strategic Road Network’, policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP12 of the adopted 
Planning polices DPD 
 
C34 Not more than 1700 dwellings shall be occupied until a scheme to improve the A1139 Fletton 
Parkway between junctions 1 and 2 as shown in outline on Peterborough City Council drawing type c 
merge 5086281-PC-09-999-008 Rev B dated 10 May 2012, has been implemented in full and is 
operational.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the A1(M) A1 ,and J17 , will continue to fulfil their purpose as part of the 
Strategic Road Network in accordance with the Highways Act 1980, Circular 02/07 ‘Planning and the 
Strategic Road Network’, policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP12 of the adopted 
Planning polices DPD 
 
C35 Prior to the commencement of the construction of the ‘central boulevard’ namely the access road 
through the site connecting with the Western Peripheral Road to the north and the A15 to the south, as 
shown on the approved Framework Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A, a detailed design shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in the form of a reserved matters 
application. The detailed design shall accord with the principles set out in the Central Boulevard Design 
Note at Appendix 1 (Note- appendix 5 of this report).  The development shall thereafter be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of good urban design and to 
ensure it meets the needs of needs of the development in capacity terms in accordance with policy CS16 
of the Adopted Core Strategy and policies PP02 and PP12 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C36 No more than 3500 dwellings shall be occupied until the Western Peripheral Road/Central 
Boulevard link between Junction 2 of A1139 Fletton Parkway and the A15 as shown the approved 
Framework Plan PST021-DFP-101 Rev A has been constructed in accordance within the approved 
details (Condition 34 refers) and is ready for use.  
 

114



 75 

Reason: In order to accord with the transport assessment in terms of impact on the existing highway 
network in accordance with Policy PP12 of the Planning Policies DPD, the Conservation of Habitat and 
Species Regulations 2010. 
 
C37 Prior to any works to junction 2 of the A1139 Fletton Parkway a detailed scheme of junction 
improvements based upon the principles shown on drawing number 15188-200-228 Rev B shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The submitted details shall include 
but not exclusively: 
 
- The interface with and tying into existing highway infrastructure and also future infrastructure to be 
delivered as indicated on the following drawings: 
 
- Preliminary Scheme Layout A1139 Fletton Parkway Junction 17 to 1 Improvement  Option 2 – 
Drawing number 8389/01/01. 
 
- A1139 Fletton Parkway Junction 1 to 2 – Drawing number 5096274/HW/GA/001/A. 
 
- Details of the form of construction of the highways, drainage, signing, lining, lighting, new 
structures/modifications to existing structures. 

 
- Full Stage 1 and 2 safety audits. 

 
- Details of all traffic signals, position of heads and poles, ducting, controllers, controller maintenance 
bays and controller specifications (including UTMC if necessary). 
 
The work shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation 
of the 3500th dwelling.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the junction is of an appropriate design to support the development in 
accordance with Policy PP12 of the Planning Policies DPD.  
 
C38 Prior to the occupation of 4500 dwellings a new vehicular link between the Old Great North Road 
and the Great Haddon employment area shall be constructed in accordance with details to be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The detailed junction design shall include 
measures to prevent HGV access from the Great Haddon employment area onto the Old Great North 
Road.   
 
Reason: in order to accord with the transport assessment in terms of impact on the existing highway 
network in accordance with Policy PP12 of the Planning Policies DPD.  
 
C39 Prior to the commencement of the construction of the ‘Yaxley Loop Road’ namely the access road 
connecting with the existing A15 to the north and south of Yaxley, as shown on the approved Framework 
Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A, a detailed design shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority in the form of a reserved matters application.  The road shall thereafter 
be constructed in accordance with the approved details and open to public use, prior to the first 
occupation of xx dwellings or any building within the district centre (Note- trigger point to be confirmed in 
the Update Report). 
 
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of good urban design and to 
ensure it meets the needs of needs of the development in capacity terms in accordance with policy CS16 
of the Adopted Core Strategy and policies PP02 and PP12 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD 
 
C40 Highway works on the A15 London Road through Yaxley, between the southern and northern 
extents of the proposed Yaxley loop road as shown on the approved framework plan reference PST021-
DFP-101 Rev A, shall be completed as follows: 

• Prior to commencement of a development a scheme of ‘soft’ traffic calming measures for the A15 
London Road  through Yaxley shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The measures shall thereafter be implemented prior to the first public use of 

115



 76 

the loop road. (Jo- what you mean by soft calming measures? I’d recommend you approve these 
to ensure that that they are what you want)  

•  Annual monitoring of traffic flows on the A15 London Road through Yaxley will be undertaken 
from the first public use of the Yaxley bypass until 10 years post build out of the residential 
development, the results of which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority at the end of each monitoring period . Prior to the first monitoring being 
undertaken a methodology for the monitoring shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority. The monitoring shall thereafter take place in accordance with the approved details. (Jo 
I think you need to request the submission and approval of the results otherwise it will be 
pointless. We think you also need to a set out how you want the monitoring to be done again so 
you retain the control)  

• In the event that two-way traffic flows on the A15 London Road through Yaxley, in between 
junctions with Brunel Drive and B1091 Broadway, exceed 704 vehicles per hour in the morning or 
evening peak hour on more than twelve occasions per year, the Local Planning Authority will 
require the developer to carry out a review of the traffic calming and the need for additional traffic 
calming measures, the results of which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. (Jo if other development is consented then the flows would be likely to do up 
anyway. We can’t in a condition link this development to others.  

• If in the view of the Local Planning Authority additional traffic calming measures are required a 
scheme based upon the principles shown on drawing number  15188/200/015, along with a 
timetable for implementation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The traffic calming shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details and implementation timetable.  

 
Note:- This condition maybe amended if it is subsequently agreed with CCC that it would be more 
appropriate to deal with more of the matters set out here within the S106 Agreement. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that an effective traffic calming scheme is implementation at an appropriate 
stage in order to meet the modelling predictions in accordance with PP12 of the Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C41 Notwithstanding the submitted information prior to its implementation, a detailed traffic calming 
scheme/road improvement scheme for the existing Old Great North Road between the A15 and parcel 
OS4 as identified on the approved Framework Plan reference PST021-DFD-101 Rev A shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of doubt the 
road improvement scheme shall include a 3metre wide footpath/cycleway. The scheme shall be 
implemented in accordance with a timetable to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The timetable shall be submitted within 1 month of a request being made in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that an effective traffic calming scheme/road improvement is implementation 
at an appropriate stage in order to meet the modelling predictions and to allow for sustainable travel in 
accordance with police CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP12 of the Planning Policies 
DPD. 
 
C42 Notwithstanding the submitted information, prior to its implementation a detailed scheme for the 
widening of the A15 between junction 16 of the A1(M) and the Old Great North Road junction shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter 
be carried in accordance with accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of xx 
dwellings (Note- trigger to be confirmed in the Update Report). 
 
Reason: In order to accord with the traffic modelling predictions in accordance with policy PP12 of the 
adopted Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C43 Notwithstanding the submitted information traffic flows using the junction of the Old Great North 
Road with the A15 shall be monitored from the commencement of development until 5 years post 
building out in accordance with a methodology to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority before any monitoring commences. The results of the monitoring shall be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority for approval on an annual basic in accordance with the approved 
methodology. The Local Planning Authority may at any time, on the basis of the annual monitoring 

116



 77 

results, require a review of the junction design to assess whether it should be altered. If the Local 
Planning Authority is of the view that such alterations are appropriate these should thereafter be carried 
out in accordance with a detailed scheme and implementation timetable to be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to monitor and control traffic movements on the local and strategic road network in 
accordance with policy PP12 of the Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C44 Notwithstanding the approved parameter plan (reference PST021-DFP-104 Rev B- Dedicated 
Pedestrian/Cycle and Equestrian Routes) direct and lit footpath/cycleway links, built to an adoptable 
standard in accordance with the relevant Peterborough City Council standard in place at the time of 
installation, shall be provided between the following:- 

1) A connection between the Great Haddon core and employment areas, through parcels OS4 and 
OS7 as shown on the approved Framework Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A connecting 
to the adjacent highway; 

2) A connection along the Old Great North Road between the A15 and parcel OS4 as shown on the 
approved Framework Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A (see condition 40 above); 

3) A connection parallel to the A15 between parcel R32 and OS27 as shown on the approved 
Framework Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A and tying into the existing cycle route 
through Yaxley 

Prior to the implementation of any route a detailed scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Implementation shall take place in accordance with the approved details 
and a timetable to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The timetable 
shall be submitted within 1 month of a request being made by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of sustainable travel and to ensure that the model share targets within the 
transport modelling/travel plan can be met in accordance with policy CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy.  
 
C45 Prior to the commencement of development a scheme for the location and timing of the installation 
of automated traffic counters shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details.   
 
Reason: In order to allow the volume of traffic entering and leaving the site to be monitored as set out in 
the Framework Travel Plan in accordance with policy CS14 of the Adopted Core Strategy  

 
C46 Prior to the commencement of development, remediation and other operations an overarching  
Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Construction Management Plan shall include but not be limited to the following: 
 
a) a scheme for the monitoring, reporting and control of construction noise and vibration, including hours 
of working and scope for remedial action identified as a result of any monitoring, of construction noise, 
vibration and dust emanating from the site during the construction phase;  
 
b) a scheme for the control of dust; 
 
c) a scheme of chassis and wheel cleaning for construction vehicles and cleaning of affected public 
highways. The vehicles cleansing system shall be a static system that is capable of washing the wheels 
and underside of the chassis. The access roads shall be hard surfaced between the cleaning facility and 
the highway and must be kept free of mud/debris at all times.   
  
d)  A contingency plan including, if necessary, the temporary cessation of all construction operations, to 
be implemented in the event that the approved vehicle cleansing scheme fails to be effective for any 
reason; 
  
e) A scheme of working hours for construction and other site works including deliveries.  

 
f) A routing agreement for construction traffic. 
 

117



 78 

g)A scheme of HGV haul routes into and through the main development sites and construction accesses 
from the existing local highway network including the method of segregating construction traffic from 
general core area traffic/pedestrians and cyclists. 
 
h) Means of protecting the water environment from sediment and pollution from drainage, ground works, 
construction vehicles and oil/chemicals; 
 
i) Appointment of a suitably qualified Ecological Clerk of works and details of ecological supervision;  
 
j) Scheme for dealing with complaints. 
 
Prior to the commencement of development on any individual tranche as identified on the approved 
Framework Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A a site specific construction management plan which 
shall confirm compliance with the overarching Construction Management Plan and provide details of the 
following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:- 
 
i) Construction access including details of the measures to ensure that all construction vehicles can enter 
the site immediately upon arrival and also the method of segregating construction traffic from general 
traffic/pedestrians and cyclists (as required). 
 
ii)A scheme for parking of contractor’s vehicles and details of the location of contractor’s welfare/site 

office facilities. 
 
iii) A scheme for access and deliveries showing adequate space for vehicles to park, turn, load and 
unload clear of the public highway or the main employment area access roads. 
 
iv) Details of the location and layout of all materials storage and plant storage compounds. 
 
V) details of the means of enclosure of the application site for the construction phase, including details 

of all types of fencing proposed and a plan showing the location of all the fencing; 
 
The above shall be prepared in conjunction with and make reference to the Great Crested Newt and 
Biodiversity Strategies for the site and the tree protection details as appropriate. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, there shall be no deliveries to the site during peak hours (namely 8-9am and 

4-6pm). 
 
The development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved Overarching and Site 
Specific Construction Management Plans at all times. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of neighbouring residents; in the interests of highway safety and 
convenience; and to protect the ecological interest of the site including Orton Pit SAC/SSSI, in 
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and  policies CS14 and CS21 of the adopted 
Core Strategy. 
 

C47 Prior to the commencement of any development within 50m of the following areas/features as 
shown on drawing number 15188/115 an assessment of the nature and extent of contamination shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:- 

• Oil Pipeline 

• Hostel Site 

• Former sewage works 

• Existing Farmsteads (Yaxley Lode Farm and Splendous Farm) 

• Backfilled Ponds 

118



 79 

 This assessment must be undertaken by a competent person, and shall assess any contamination on 
the site.  Moreover, it must include:  

(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;  

(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to human health and property (existing or proposed)  

No development shall take place within these areas until a detailed remediation scheme to bring them to 
a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and 
other property has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation 
criteria, an appraisal of remedial options, a proposal of the preferred option(s), and a timetable of works 
and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated 
land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land 
after remediation.  

The remediation scheme shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the approved timetable of 
works. Within 3 months of the completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
validation report (that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out) must be submitted 
to the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: In order to protect human health and property from contamination to make the land suitable for 
its intended use in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and policy PP20 of the 
adopted Planning Policies DPD. 
 

C48 In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development 
that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing within 7 days to the Local Planning 
Authority and once the Local Planning Authority has identified the part of the site affected by the 
unexpected contamination development must be halted on that part of the site, unless otherwise agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority..  
  
A competent assessment must be undertaken, and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme, together with a timetable for its implementation, must be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  

The measures in the approved remediation scheme must then be implemented in accordance with the 
approved timetable. Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
validation report must be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to protect human health and property from contamination to make the land suitable for 
its intended use in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and policy PP20 of the 
adopted Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C49 The reserved matters application(s) for any residential development within the following areas as 
identified on the approved framework plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A shall be accompanied by 
a noise assessment and set out any appropriate mitigation measures to protect amenity. The 
development shall thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the 
occupation of the building/dwelling to which they relate:- 
- Development tranches R1, R2, R6, R7, R9, R13, R24, R27 and R28 adjacent to the A1(M)/Great North 
Road; 
- Development tranches R32, R33, R34 and R35 adjacent to the A15; 
- Development tranches R12, R14, R21, R22, R26, R30, R31, R33 and R34 and any residential 
accommodation within district centre tranches DC1, DC4 and local centre tranches NC3 and NC4 
adjacent to the Central Boulevard; 
- Development tranches R17, R18, R19, R20, R36 and any residential accommodation within district 
centre tranches DC3 and DC7 adjacent to the Yaxley Loop Road; 
- Any residential accommodation with the district and local centres as identified on the approved 
Framework Plan reference PST021- DFP-101 Rev A. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of future residents in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework and policy PP04 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. 

119



 80 

 
C50 The rating level of noise emitted from the proposed local/district centres for individual applications 
shall not exceed 35dB LAeq, 1 hour between 07:00 and 23:00 Monday to Friday and 30dB LAeq, 5 minutes at any 
other time.  The noise levels shall be determined at the nearest residential dwelling.  The measurements 
and assessment shall be made according to BS:4142:1997 or any standard replacing this. The reserved 
matters application(s) for these areas shall include a statement which shall be agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority which specifies the provisions to be made for the control of noise emanating 
from the site in accordance with the above noise limits. These provisions should include physical and/or 
administrative measures.  
 
If there are justifiable reasons for an alternative noise level that justification shall be submitted with the 
reserved matters application and considered by the Local Planning Authority. 
 
The development shall thereafter be operated in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of future residents in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework and policy PP04 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C51 Any development proposing commercial/public kitchen(s) or cooking facilities such as development 
falling within uses classes A3-A5 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes Order) (As Amended) 
2008 or any subsequent revision to this, schools or community facilities, shall submit a scheme for the 
ventilation and extraction of cooking fumes to, and shall have received written approval from, the Local 
Planning Authority for agreement prior to the first occupation of the unit/building. The equipment shall 
thereafter be installed in accordance with the approved details prior to the first occupation of the unit 
/building 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of noise sensitive development in accordance with National 
Planning Policy Framework and policy PP04 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C52 Prior to the submission of the associated reserved matters application for any unit within the local or 
district centre details of the proposed opening hours and hours of delivery shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall thereafter operate in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the amenity of future residents in accordance with National Planning Policy 
Framework and policy PP04 of the adopted Planning Policies DPD. 
 
C53 No development shall take place within any parcel of land as identified on the approved Framework 
Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A until the applicant, or their agents or successors in title, has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work, in accordance with a written 
scheme of investigation which has been submitted by the applicant and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that archaeological remains are (recovered or)not disturbed or damaged by 
foundations and other groundwork but are, where appropriate, preserved in situ, in accordance with 
National Planning Policy Framework, policy CS17 of the adopted Core Strategy and policy PP17 of the 
Planning Policies DPD.  
 
C54 A buffer zone shall be provided between the Napoleonic Prisoner of War Camp Schedule Ancient 
Monument and the adjacent development tranches (R27, R28 R29 and R32) in accordance with the 
provisions of the approved Framework Plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A prior to the occupation of 
the adjacent development tranches This buffer shall thereafter be retained in perpetuity and kept free of, 
inter alia, lighting, flood lighting, fencing, parking, access roads, buildings including changing rooms, 
sheds and containers. Any playing pitches within OS28 which may subsequently be laid out shall consist 
only of white lining and associated goal posts. Any seating shall be limited to a small number of park 
benches located in positions which afford views across the playing fields and SAM. Details of any 
seating, any levelling or other ground works including any proposed drainage to the pitches shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any such works are 
undertaken as part of a reserved matters application. In the event that archaeological remains are 

120



 81 

subsequently uncovered development shall cease within the affected areas a programme of 
archaeological work has been submitted in accordance with C50. Thereafter the development shall 
proceed only in accordance with the approved archaeological scheme. 
 
Reason: In order to protect the Napoleonic Prisoner of War Camp Schedule Ancient Monument (Ref CB 
268) and it’s setting from damage/ disturbance and to allow any remains to be protected in situ where 
appropriate in accordance with the National Planning Policy Statement and policy CS17 of the Adopted 
Core Strategy”.  
 
C55 The retail floor space provision within the District Centre, as identified on the approved framework 
plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A shall not exceed the following:- 

• 4200 square metres Gross Internal Area (GIA) for a single supermarket. Of this no more than 
500 square metres gross shall be used for comparison retailing (non food). The net retail 
sales for convenience goods shall not exceed 2590 square metres and that for comparison 
350 square metres. 

• 500 square metres GIA convenience floor space outside of the supermarket; 

• 1000 square metres GIA comparison floor space outside of the supermarket to be spilt 
between a minimum of two units; 

• 3500 square metres GIA for A2 to A5 uses (as identified in the Town and County Planning 
Use Classes Order as amended 2008 or any Order subsequently superseding this) outside of 
the supermarket with no single unit exceeding 500 square metres. 

Thereafter no co-joining of floorspace shall take place unless approved on application to the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to provide facilities for the future residents of the Great Haddon development and to 
protect the viability and viability of existing neighbouring retail centres including Peterborough City 
Centre in accordance with the submitted Retail Assessment dated February 2011 as updated in 
December 2012, the National Planning Policy Framework and policy CS15 of the Adopted Core 
Strategy. 
 
C56 The balance of non residential floorspace within the District Centre, excluding retail uses which are 
addressed under condition C52 above, shall not exceed 13 813 square metres. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 2008 as amended (or any Order 
subsequently superseding this) the floor space shall be limited to the following use or uses:- 

• B1a (office) 

• C1 (hotels) 

• C2 (excluding hospitals) 

• D1 (excluding exhibition halls) 

• D2 (excluding cinemas, dance and concert halls, skating/carting rinks or tracks, casino, bingo 
hall) 

• Garden Centre 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that city centre functions are not located within the District Centre unless it is 
demonstrated that the location and scale is appropriate to the district centre function in accordance with 
the National Planning Policy Framework and policy PP09 of the Planning Polices DPD 
 
C57 The retail floor space provision within each of the Local Centres, as identified on the approved 
framework plan reference PST021-DFP-101 Rev A shall not exceed the following:- 

• 1150 square metres Gross Internal Area (GIA) retail floor space of which no more than 
450 square metres shall be used for convenience floorspace and no more than 200 
square metres for comparison retail floorspace; 

• The remaining 500 square metres (GIA) shall used for A2-A5 uses (as identified in the 
Town and County Planning Use Classes Order as amended 2008 or any Order 
subsequently superseding this) which shall comprise a minimum of two units. 

. Thereafter no co-joining of floorspace shall take place unless approved on application to the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order to provide facilities for the future residents of the Great Haddon development and to 
protect the viability and viability of existing neighbouring retail centres including Peterborough City 

121



 82 

Centre in accordance with the submitted Retail Assessment dated February 2011 as updated in 
December 2012, the National Planning Policy Framework and policy CS15 of the Adopted Core 
Strategy. 
 
C58 The balance of non- residential floorspace within the Local Centres, excluding retail uses which are 
addressed under condition C54 above, shall not exceed 2757 square metres. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 2008 as amended (or any Order 
subsequently superseding this) the floor space shall be limited to the following use or uses:- 

• B1a (office) 

• D1 (excluding exhibition halls) 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate uses are located within the local centres given their function 
in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and policy PP09 of the Planning Polices 
DPD 
 
 
 
 
Informatives 
1. Please find attached for your information advice from Anglian Water 
 
2. Please find attached for your information advice from the Environment Agency. 
 
3. With reference to conditions 19 and 20 the applicant is advised that every effort should be made to 

retain trees identified through the survey work as having medium to high bat roosting potential. 
Where this is not possible, a detailed inspection of each tree to be removed should be made to 
identify whether a roost is present. Where a roost is identified, detailed mitigation will need to be 
provided and licenses obtained from Natural England. Where it is not possible to undertake a full 
tree inspection i.e. by tree climb (the justification for which will need to be provided), emergence 
surveys must be undertaken. 

 
4. The applicant is reminded that the granting of planning permission does not remove the applicant’s 
responsibility towards the protection of certain wild animals and plant species (including Great Crested 
Newts, Bats and Badgers) contained within other legislation such as the Conservation of Habitat and 
Species Regulations 2010 and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and other European 
Directives. 
 
5. The applicant is reminded that under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) it is an 
offence to take, damage or destroy the nest of any wild bird while it is being built or in use. You should 
assume that nesting birds will be present on site between 1 March and 31 August inclusive unless a 
survey has shown it is absolutely certain that nesting birds are not present. Planning approval for a 
development does not provide a defence against prosecution. The protection of nesting wild birds 
remains unchanged. 
 
6. The development will result in the creation of new street(s) and/or new dwelling(s) and/or new 
premises and it will be necessary for the Council, as Street Naming Authority, to allocate appropriate 
street names and property numbers.  Before development is commenced, you should contact the 
Technical Support Team Manager - Highway Infrastructure Group on (01733) 453461 for details of the 
procedure to be followed and information required.  This procedure is applicable to the sub-division of 
premises, which will provide multiple occupancy for both residential and commercial buildings. 
Please note this is not a function covered by your planning application but is a statutory  obligation of the 
Local Authority, and is not chargeable and must be dealt with as a separate matter. 
 
7.This development may involve the construction of a new or alteration of an existing vehicular crossing 
within a public highway. 
These works MUST be carried out in accordance with details specified by Peterborough City Council. 
Prior to commencing any works within the public highway, a Road Opening Permit must be obtained 
from the Council on payment of the appropriate fee.  

122



 83 

Contact is to be made with the Transport & Engineering - Development Team on 01733  453421 who 
will supply the relevant application form, provide a preliminary indication of the fee payable and specify 
the construction details and drawing(s) required 
 
8.The development is likely to involve works within the public highway in order to provide services to the 
site.  Such works must be licensed under the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991.  It is essential that, 
prior to the commencement of such works, adequate time be  allowed in the development 
programme for; the issue of the appropriate licence, approval of temporary traffic management and 
booking of road space.  Applications for NR & SWA licences should be made to Transport & Engineering 
– Street Works Co-0rdinator on  01733 453467. 
 
9. The development involves extensive works within the public highway. Such works must be the subject 
of an agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980.  It is essential that prior to the 
commencement of the highway works, adequate time is allowed in the  development programme for; 
approval by the council of the designer, main contractor and sub-contractors, technical vetting, safety 
audits, approval of temporary traffic management,  booking of road space for off-site highway and 
service works and the completion of the  legal agreement.  Application forms for S278 agreements 
are available from Transport & Engineering - Development Team on 01733 453421. 
 
10. The attention of the applicant is drawn to the need to make a formal application to the Council for an 
agreement under Section 38 of the Highways Act 1980 if it is the intention that any of the highways 
proposed as part of this development are to be adopted. Prior to the commencement of the construction 
of these highways, adequate time must be allowed in the development programme for technical vetting, 
approval of temporary traffic management, booking of road space for any off-site highway and service 
works and the completion of the Section 38 agreement.  Application forms for Section 38 agreements 
are available from Transport & Engineering - Development Team on 01733 453421. 
 
11. It is an offence to deposit anything including building material or debris on a highway which may 
cause interruption to any user of the highway (including footways). In the event that a person is found 
guilty of this offence, a penalty may be imposed in the form of a fine. It is the responsibility of the 
developer and contractor/s to ensure that no building materials or debris are placed on or remain within 
the highway during or after the construction period. 
 
12. It is an offence to deposit anything including building material or debris on a highway which may 
constitute a nuisance. In the event that a person is found guilty of this offence, the local authority may by 
notice require the person who deposited it there to remove it forthwith and if he fails to comply the local 
authority may make a complaint to a magistrates' court for a removal and disposal order under this 
section. In the event that the deposit is considered to constitute a danger, the local authority may remove 
the deposit forthwith and recover reasonable expenses from the person who made the deposit. It is the 
responsibility of the developer and contractor/s to ensure that no building materials or debris are placed 
on or remain within the highway during or after the construction period. 
 
13. The applicant is reminded that a formal order in respect of the proposed diversion of the bridleway 
will need to be made. Please contact the Council’s Rights of Way Officer on 01733 453472 for further 
information. 
 
14. The applicant is reminded, notwithstanding any planning permission which may be granted, that a 
newt license will need to be obtained from Natural England. 
 
15 The applicant is advised to notify GeoPeterborough before carrying out any works involving the 
excavation of deep holes for the purpose of recording the geological interest on the RIGS. Please 
contact Jonathan Larwood jonathan.larwood@naturalengland.org.uk.  
 
16. With regards to condition 31 the Highway Agency has advised that subject to detailed design there 
should be a sign on both sides of the carriageway and the signs and detector loops will need careful 
positioning not necessarily in the locations shown on the submitted drawing. 
 

 
 

123



 84 

 
Appendix 1: Summary of Consultation on the Application 
 
The following summary has been prepared to set out the consultation which has been undertaken in 
respect of Great Haddon against the Local Planning Authority’s statutory requirements:- 
 
Statutory Requirement  

• The display of site notices 

• Advertisement in the local press (given that the application is accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement) 

• A period of 21 days for comment 

• This requirement does not change with larger applications. 
 
Two periods of formal public consultation have been carried out in relation to the Great Haddon 
applications. 
 
First Period of Consultation 

 

No of Notification Letters 1541 

No of Site Notices  24 

Consultation Dates 8 December 2009- 19 January 2010 (6 weeks) 

Other Publicity 
Events/Actions 

Two public events- Yaxley on 7 January 2010 
between 2pm to 8pm attended by some 60 people. 
Serpentine Green on 12 January 2010 between 2pm 
and 8pm attended by some 150 people. 

No of Representations 
Received 

- 1429 copies of a standard letter received. 
- A petition with 44 signatures received from residents 
of Dry Leas.  
- 541 Individual letters.  

Other Representations received at the formal close of the 
consultation period continued to be accepted. 

 
Second Period of Public Consultation 
 

No of Notification Letters  7423 including to all residents of Yaxley 

No of Site Notices 46 

Consultation Dates 23 February 2011- 25 March 2011 (4 weeks) 

Other Publicity 
Events/Actions 

- Press release sent to the ET 
- Great Haddon page of Council’s web site updated. 
- Two public events. Serpentine Green on 28 February 
2011 and Yaxley on 1 March 2011 between 2.30 and 
8pm. Approximately 180 attended the Serpentine 
Green event and 250 the Yaxley event. 
- To publicise the above event a note was added to all 
the consultation letters sent out. Furthermore, 5000 
flyers were sent out with the Yaxley Gazette and an 
article placed in the Stilton Gazette. The events were 
also publicised on the ‘Your Hampton’ web site. 

No of Representations 
Received 

- 934 letters received. Of these 792 are a copy of a 
standard letter.  
-132 individual letters relating to both the core and 
employment applications. 10 letters relates solely to 
the employment.  

Other  Representations received after the end of the formal 
consultation period have continued to be taken into 
consideration.  
 
Officers have met with the Norman Cross Action 
Group on 3 occasions- September 2010, January 

124



 85 

2011 and February 2011. The latter meeting was to 
advise the group that a reconsultation period would 
start shortly. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

125



 86 

 
Appendix 2:  Representation from the Norman Cross Action Group 
 

 
 

126



 87 

 
 

127



 88 

 
 

128



 89 

 
 

129



 90 

 
 

130



 91 

 

131



 92 

 
 
Appendix 3: Summary of representations received following first round of public consultation:- 
 
Petitions 
A standard letter was circulated to residents in Yaxley, this asked two questions with a yes/no response:- 
(1) whether residents objected to the development plan; 
(2) whether residents objected to stopping traffic along the A15.  
In total 1429 of these letters were received. 1392 people objected to the development plan i.e. the 
principle of development at Great Haddon, the remainder (37) did not. 1422 letters object to the stopping 
of traffic along the A15, the remainder (7) do not. The letters were received in batches during January 
2010. 
 
A petition with 44 signatures received from the residents of Dry Leas objecting to Great Haddon on the 
grounds that it will increase traffic on the A1260 Nene Parkway and consequently the already 
unbearable traffic noise and pollution. In addition it requests that Peterborough City Council actively 
looks for ways of reducing the traffic noise nuisance from the A1260 Nene Parkway between junctions 
31 and 32 (see section 7b). 
 
Two petitions were received against the proposed site for gypsies and travellers. One petition has 41 
signatures, the other 73. The petition objects to the location of the proposed site on the following 
grounds:- 
- Impact on the landscape; 
- Increased noise and litter; 
- Highway issues due to traffic and narrow lanes; 
- Sewage treatment; 
- Lack of pavements/street lights; 
- Car dependant site; 
- Security and safety of isolated properties; 
- Location and ability to access schools, shops and hospitals. 
 
Individual Letters 
541 individual letters were received in respect of both the core area and the employment area raising the 
following concerns. Issues relating directly to the employment area are not referred to below as these 
were addressed in the report to Planning and Environmental Protection Committee for that application.  
For ease of reference the comments have been divided into subsections:- 
 
Principle of Development 

• Object to the principle of development at Great Haddon; 

• The development is not wanted; 

• There is no need for the development; 

• Loss of countryside/arable land; 

• Impact on food production; 

• Concern that this is a Greenfield development. There must be alternative brownfield sites 
available. 

• Peterborough should not be allowed to expand on Greenfield land. 

• The Council should look to improve and extend existing city facilities before merely agreeing to 
yet more housing development. 

• The plan is ill conceived and ill thought through; 

• The proposal will not make sure that the city grows in the right way; 

• Permission should not be granted for Great Haddon until Hampton is completed. Want to avoid a 
hotch potch of half completed developments; 

 
Transport 

• Object to the proposed installation of the bus gate to the north of Yaxley; 

• Concern that the bus route is too short to have any meaningful impact; 

• There is only one bus service per hour along the A15 so question why want to impose restrictions 
on car users; 

132



 93 

• The bus gate will not be an incentive to use public transport; 

• The bus service is expensive and unreliable; 

• Object to a bus only route as this has failed elsewhere in the city; 

• Concerned that the additional bus services for the new community will be at the cost of reducing 
services enjoyed by local villages; 

• Concern that the bus gate would be a big inconvenience to residents; 

• The proposed bus gate would be a waste of money; 

• The proposed bus gate would unfairly increase the cost of travel and time for local residents; 

• The bus gate has been proposed with little warning or consultation of local residents; 

• Concern that the bus gate would result in more traffic along Broadway, Yaxley; 

• Concern about increased traffic through Farcet as a result of the development particularly the 
proposed bus gate; 

• Concern about increased traffic through Stanground; 

• Object to the proposed diversion of the A15; 

• Development will adversely affect the A15 which is already a busy road; 

• Additional strain on village roads as a result of the A15 closure; 

• To protect Yaxley access into Great Haddon from the A15 should be removed. Access could be 
from the old A1 or Fletton Parkway; 

• Pedestrians would be in danger from increased through traffic; 

• The access points of Broadway and Ferndale are already congested during peak periods; 

• Strongly object to the proposed changes to the Great North Road and the building of a new road 
only 30 metres from house.  

• There is no need for a connection to Fletton Parkway. The new road could be routed round the 
back of existing properties within the development site; 

• Members of PCC previously advised that a new link from the employment land to the Old Great 
North Road would not be permitted; 

• The proposed link to the employment land will create a rat run. There is a dangerous blind bend 
near the Haddon underpass; 

• The Old Great North Road will be used heavily as a raceway; 

• Concern about the impact of the development on the village of Haddon. It is a small village 
without footpaths or street lights. An increase in traffic would be dangerous and an accident 
waiting to happen.  The planning officers should visit Haddon before making any decisions; 

• Better use should be made of the existing Old Great North Road which should be made a dual 
carriageway; 

• A new road should be created within the development to link the employment land with the core 
area. The Western Peripheral Road should then be restricted to prevent HGV access; 

• Increased vehicles will result in increased congestion; 

• The proposal would create a bottle neck at the new traffic lights on London Road and Gt Haddon; 

• The development would create heavy traffic to the east side of Hampton Vale. Traffic is already 
at a stand still at peak times; 

• Traffic around Hargate School is already at a dangerous level; 

• The traffic assessment does not take into consideration the completion of Hampton Vale; 

• The development would result in increased traffic around junction 2 of the Fletton Parkway and 
short cutting through Orton Malbourne to the city; 

• The proposal would increase rat running through Hampton Vale; 

• The original Yaxley Bypass has not been considered as part of this development; 

• Concerned if the Yaxley bypass is built in the position shown, it would raise environmental issues 
and be too close to housing resulting in noise issues. Heavy landscaping would be required 
before the road is completed. Traffic speeds will need to be limited as should HGV movements; 

• The Yaxley Bypass which was supposed to be delivered as part of Hampton has never 
materialised; 

• Proposal should include a bypass around Yaxley; 

• Great Haddon should not be developed in the same poor way as Hempsted; 

• Concern that the development would result in additional traffic on the A1260 Nene Parkway. The 
level of noise from the Parkway is already unacceptable and there are no sound reduction 
measures in place. 

• Concern about proximity of the loop road to children accessing the schools; 

133



 94 

• Works to the junction between Hampton Vale and Serpentine Green have not yet been 
completed. There are safety concerns over the current arrangement; 

• Put in a Park and Ride for the city with one base at Gt Haddon; 

• The A15 from the A1(M) to Fletton Avenue should be a dual carriageway or at least three lanes 
to ensure that it can cope with the demands of cars, lorries and buses going to and from the city; 

• The layout of Great Haddon needs to be replanned to incorporate a bus loop; 

• Concern about the distance to bus stops within the new development; 

• The schools should be on the bus loops; 

• There needs to be an underpass/bridge over the A15 for children going to the new secondary 
school from Yaxley; 

• Traffic calming measures will be unpopular, expensive and detrimental to the area; 

• Most people living in Gt Haddon will work in and around Peterborough, therefore they will want to 
access the Fletton Parkway (A1139). This will result in traffic jams between junctions 1 and 2. To 
enable some cars to go north or east it would be an advantage to extend the old A1 (after it 
passes under the A1(M). A new road link through the development should be provided to connect 
to the internal access road system; 

• Would support the inclusion of cycle lanes from Hampton to Norman Cross; 

• Consideration should be given to installing a driverless train system on Great Haddon and 
Hampton similar to the system in Singapore; 

• Proposed road design is not practical. 

• Concern about impact on property/life if the closure of London Road does not happen. There has 
been a huge increase in the amount of traffic using London Road over the last few years and 
Hampton Leys has not yet been built. It is very difficult now to get out of the driveway. 

 
Environment 

• The bus gate would result in increased mileage and pollution including reduction in air quality, 
which would be contrary to Peterborough’s Environment Capital objectives; 

• The proposed bus gate would increase Peterborough’s carbon footprint; 

• The proposed bus gate is contrary to Government objectives for reducing CO2 omissions and 
reducing mileage; 

• Object that no environmental impact study has been undertaken regarding the increased car 
journey distance (resulting from the bus gate); 

• The proposed bypass running through the development would cause environmental issues (noise 
fumes etc) and be a risk to pedestrians; 

• There is reference to traffic calming on the Great North Road. Currently there is none. If these 
measures are put in, it will increase noise, increase fuel costs and increase pollution. This is what 
the conservationists are urging us to avoid; 

• Proposals to use the loop road will add congestion and noise pollution as well as carbon 
monoxide to the air for the people who live along the road; 

• No road surface improvements proposed as part of A1260 – existing traffic causes 
noise/nuisance/pollution, additional traffic will exacerbate this; 

• Combined Heating and Power System not financially viable as it won’t be used 24/7. Each 
dwelling should utilise solar panels and ground source heating generated by neighbouring 
employment site; 

• SUDS may affect Stanground residents; 

• Health impacts of noise, dust and pollution during construction. 
 
Impact on Surrounding Areas/Residential Amenity 

• Concerned that the village of Yaxley would merge with the new township/lose its identity; 

• Concern that the new housing would result in a loss of privacy to existing residents on London 
Road. The buffer zone will not be wide enough; 

• Detrimental impact on the surrounding villages and the resident’s quality of life; 

• Additional noise, dust and pollution will adversely affect existing residents along the Old Great 
North Road; 

• Is the developer going to provide a proper acoustic fence along the A1(M)? 

• Yaxley cannot accommodate any further demand for facilities as a result of the development; 

• Conflict regarding the infrastructure demands at Hampton which will be exacerbated by Great 
Haddon; 

134



 95 

• Concern will increase anti-social behaviour in Yaxley; 

• New schools should be open to Yaxley residents; 

• In building this development there needs to be a benefit to the community; 

• Proposal does not appear to include any provision for medical care. Concerned about impact on 
local heath centre in the period between the first houses being occupied and the proposed 
medical centre being operational; 

• With primary schools having falling numbers concerned about the effect of three new primary 
schools on the local community. Village schools are part of the community and don’t wish to lose 
them; 

• Loss of visual amenity to existing properties adjacent to the development; 

• The proposed bus gate would isolate Yaxley from Peterborough and have an adverse impact 
upon local businesses; 

• Little consideration has been given to the environmental impacts of the development on Yaxley 
and Farcet. The current weight limit of 7.5 tonnes is not enforced. Why is the Planning 
Department encouraging more HGVs through these villages without studying the impacts; 

• The destruction of community spirit which will happen will eventually increase crime rates which 
of course leads to increased council tax bills and a further downward spiral of the area which has 
suffered enough already; 

• Question the benefit to local residents of the proposal. It appears only negative ones exist, more 
traffic, more risk leaving the property, more noise, more pollution and difficulties when accessing 
Yaxley or Peterborough via the A15 potentially conflicting with neighbours; 

• The developers have not considered the people who live in the area. They do not live in the area 
so the development will not affect them. 

• Concern about loss of property values; 

• Impact on character of Norman Cross Village; 

• Object to loss of an established way of life; 

• Noise and traffic disturbance from a major new junction on London Road; 

• Object as the development would result in urban sprawl. 
 
Infrastructure/ Community 

• Will there be new sewage provision or will the development rely on existing infrastructure; 

• Will there be a permanent police facility; 

• Concern that there will be inadequate school places; 

• Concern about the water table and potential for flooding given that the development is to be built 
on open land; 

• Concern regarding flooding given the high level of the water table; 

• There is no mention of the proposal on Hampton Vale, Hargate and the yet to be built Hampton 
Leys; 

• What guarantee is there that the benefits of the scheme will be delivered. Experience of other 
schemes shows they often aren’t; 

• Disgrace that Peterborough City Council has not provided sufficient school places for Hampton; 

• Proposal will have a detrimental impact on Serpentine Green and businesses such as Kiddicare; 

• People who live in Great Haddon will commute to London and Cambridge. 

• Every year the water board advise that there is a shortage of water. Where is the water going to 
come from for these new homes; 

• Concern that there would be no church or recreation centre at Gt Haddon. Don’t seem to be 
creating a sustainable environment despite Government concerns over public health and fitness. 
No church prevents a community centre for worship and community cohesion. 

• The increase in population will put a strain on resources particularly health care; 

• There is insufficient infrastructure in the wider city area to accommodate Great Haddon. 
 
Gypsies and Travellers Site 

• Object to the proposed site for gypsies and travellers. Concerns about crime and vandalism; 

• The proposed gypsy and traveller site is unsuitable. It is too far away from schools, medical 
services and lacks basic facilities. More suitable sites are available; 

• No need for the provision as other sites are underused. 
 

135



 96 

Housing 

• There should be more rented housing (35-40%); 

• New homes are built to a poor quality and size; 

• There are empty houses in Hampton. Concerned if new houses are built these will also be empty; 

• Too much housing in a small space. 
 

Ecology/Landscape 

• Loss of wildlife; 

• Proposal would adversely affect Great Crested Newts; 

• The development would adversely impact upon birds; 

• Air Pollution may affect Orton Pit SSSI; 

• Concern about the protection of the wooded area near Yaxley. Loss of habitat would be tragedy; 

• Landscaping scheme should preserve view from Great Fen Project to the Fens; 

• Absence of buffer zone south of Shell Garage; 

• Landscape buffer should be incorporated between Yaxley, Norman Cross and Great Haddon; 

• The development will result in the loss of green space for recreation; 

• Harmful impact upon the landscape character; 

• Loss of trees; 

• Concern regarding the impact of the development on the Scheduled Ancient Monument; 

• There is an historic site within the development. This should be left open, not enclosed by 
housing; 

• Insufficient separation between wildlife and human activity; 

• Object to the loss of countryside there is little open space before the A1(M). 
 

Other 

• Consultation/communication on the application has been inadequate; 

• All of the residents of Yaxley should have been informed of the proposal; 

• Record of PCC planning is not good i.e. Eagle Way is blocked, cars on the street, Hempsted; 

• Concern about Great Haddon proposals given the development at Hempsted.  

• Great Haddon needs sufficient parking spaces close to each house in order to prevent the 
problems associated with parking on the road which has occurred in parts of Hampton; 

• Adequate parking provision is required. Lessons should be learnt from Hampton where cars park 
everywhere. Parking bays are too small and there is inadequate visibility. Streets need to be of 
sufficient width; 

• Acoustic Scheme and Integrated Transport Assessment not included; 

• If the plans go ahead will the lessons be learnt from Hampton i.e. the need for adequate parking 
provision; 

• Loss of trade from businesses that rely on passing trade on the A1; 

• Concern that the development would not be viable in the current economic climate; 

• Question where all the people in the development will work; 

• Question the number of new jobs ‘9000’ referred to. How will the new schools, shops and 
warehouses deliver this; 

• There is a mismatch between the number of houses and number of jobs to be created. This 
many houses will require more jobs; 

• The proposal would be a waste of tax payers money; 
 
Comments in Support 

• The development would be of benefit to the area (except the gypsy and traveller site); 

• No objection in principle; 

• Support the provision of a householder recycling centre; 

• The park land to the rear of London Road would be pleasant. 
 

 
Head Teacher of Yaxley School- Objects to the proposed closure of the A15 from Yaxley to 
Peterborough. Redirecting traffic through Farcet and Stanground would cause a burden on an already 
overburdened road and roundabout and cause danger to the students there. Redirection south will cause 

136



 97 

a burden on the A1 and for the commuters using the road. Lorries will be forced through Yaxley 
endangering children. Add to this the effects of fuel, time and CO2 emissions. 
 
Manager of Serpentine Green- Proposal would impact on the free movement of staff and customers 
who travel from Yaxley and beyond. 
 
RPS on behalf of Anglian Regional Co-Operative- Object on transport and infrastructure grounds. A 
more detailed objection will follow in due course.  
Note- to date nothing further has been received.  
 
Little Hampton Service Station, London Road- Object to the application as the proposal would 
seriously damage the viability of this business and ultimately lead to job losses and the loss of this 
facility. Will seek legal advice regarding the damage caused to the business and the pursuit of 
compensation.  
 
Yaxley Mini Market- Object to the development on the basis of the diversion of the A15 and the 
proposed bus gate. Will be seeking legal advice regarding compensation. 
 
Petrol Filling Station London Road- Object to the proposed bus gate as this will result in a significant 
loss of trade. Passing trade would effectively be removed.  
 
Cambridgeshire Target Shooting Association (CTSA)- The CTSA is located on the south side of the 
A15 and would be adjacent to the proposed development. Object to the proposals on the grounds of 
noise, safety and security.  

- Whilst noise levels from the small bore target shooting are very low, the Police have permissions 
allowing them to use the range resulting in high noise levels. These would present an 
unacceptable risk to people living in adjacent dwellings. 

- Do not want to be exposed to any safety risk from unauthorised persons gaining access to the 
range whilst it is in use. Also concerned about safety of access with increased traffic flows. 

- Need to ensure security of the site to prevent any unwanted outside interest in the firearms and 
associated equipment used legally on the site. 

 
On basis of the above would recommend that no dwellings are built within 1 mile of the CTSA range. 
Would also recommend that professional advice is sought regarding noise levels from Police firearms to 
validate this recommendation. 
 
Friends of the Earth- Object to the proposals on the following grounds:- 

1) Poor commitment to green aims and visions. The objectives are qualified by terms such as 
‘encouraging’, ‘facilitating’ etc. A number of the objectives also rely on there being sufficient S106 
funding. All of the green measures should be firm proposals; 

2) The plans place too much emphasis on the use of the private car. Cycle routes are poorly located 
and provided. Pedestrian routes to Peterborough are poor. The proposals make only token effort 
to improve bus journey times along the A15. Consider that a Park and Ride site is required within 
the employment land. 

3) The sustainable energy proposals are too weak. It is insufficient to encourage solar hot water 
installations. These should be mandatory within the proposals. The proposals for a CHP are 
welcomed but concerned that the fuel source will not be sustainable. Pre-pipping should be 
included within the proposals. Question why a wind turbine site has not been included. Similarly 
why is there no micro generation of energy provision.  

4) The proposed affordable housing commitment (15%) is too low. If the country is coming out of 
recession should revert to 30%. 

5) The proposal appears to encroach into the west side of the site of special conversation interest. 
Request that this is checked by the Local Authority; 

6) Open Space. Note the reference to the development being 40% open space but some woodland 
is not publically accessible. It is suggested that the developer investigate its purchase to permit 
limited public access.  

7) Cycle parking including within dwellings should be encouraged. 
8) Disappointed that the proposed Recycling Site is only intended as a Materials Resource Facility. 

 

137



 98 

Phil Newby- Concerned that the sustainability proposals are not very bold or visionary nor do the actual 
commitments appear to be very strong. Much will depend on the way the design code is written and 
passed down through further sales. Some of the individual elements of the strategy have been included 
as S106 items which is a concern. The delivery and scale of the district heating system is a good 
example. As the code levels tighten the heating ring is likely to be an essential and enabling piece of 
infrastructure that will be commercial necessity. As such, installation within the early phases will make 
long term sense and would not seem to be a S106 item. 
 
Peterborough Play Partnership- Wish to see best possible play spaces created at Great Haddon. Wish 
to see play spaces designed into the development and not bolted on. Providing infrastructure in a timely 
manner will be vital. 
 
Cllr Maddie Banerjee, Huntingdonshire District Councillor- The Great Haddon development will 
have maximum impact on the village of Yaxley.  Suggest the following mitigation measures:-. 

- The A15 London Road should not be blocked for the bus only lane.  The effect will be 
devastating.   

- The matured trees on London Road from Norman Cross to Peterborough create an avenue and a 
beautiful view.  The developer should not cut down any tree on London Road;  

- People who live in Norman Cross and Yaxley on London road are Huntingdonshire tax payers.  
There should be a buffer between their houses and the new development and this should be 
planted properly by condition; 

- The new community that will come to live in Great Haddon will be using the Doctor’s Surgery in 
Yaxley and Church services in Yaxley.   

- The entrance to the village from London Road is Broadway.  Suggest that another entrance in the 
south of the village through Waterslade Road is provided. S106 money could be used.  

- The new community should also have their connection with Broadway and Waterslade Road, so 
that they can come to Yaxley for the doctors and the church; 

- People living in Great North Road in Haddon should also have a buffer between their houses and 
the new development.  Moreover they will have the new dual-carriageway built behind their 
houses.  Noise attenuation measures should be conditioned; 

- The Gypsy and Travellers pitches suggested in the development plan was 5 pitches.  But now I 
hear there will be more pitches.  It would be madness to spoil the whole area before it is built.  
Nobody wants more pitches.  Please keep it just 5 or 6.  

 
Letter received from Shailesh Vara MP. This raises the following concerns:- 

- A number of residents are not aware of the proposals as they have been occupied by other 
matters over Christmas. In the long term it would be good for the Council to show it has gone out 
of its way to allow residents to be heard; 

- Given the number of houses proposed hope that proper and detailed infrastructure to match the 
additional need will be created. As well as schools, roads etc it is vital that community facilities 
are made available for any future residents. Given experiences at Hampton want assurances that 
facilities like youth centres are built as the development progresses rather than at the tail end of 
the project by which time several thousand people will have been living in the development 
without facilities; 

- It is important that jobs created are long term and not merely whilst the houses, roads etc are 
being built; 

- Changes to the use of the A15 will cause considerable problems for local residents. Would like to 
see this particular aspect of the plan reviewed as these changes will significantly impact on the 
length and time of journeys made by local people. 

- The proposals will diminish the green space between Yaxley and Peterborough in effect creating 
a Greater Peterborough. This is ominous and many residents living in towns and villages outside 
Peterborough will feel that this is a dangerous precedent to set; 

 
In addition 6 letters were received from Shailesh Vara MP forwarding letters from his constituents. 
These raise the following issues/concerns:- 
- The applicant’s publicity events in May/June 2008 does not appear to have been well publicised. 

If had been aware of the event would have attended; 
- Object to the proposed closing of the A15 between Yaxley and Hampton to all vehicles except 

buses. The desire/needs of Yaxley residents has been misinterpreted.  Yaxley residents do not 

138



 99 

want extra traffic on Broadway nor their access to Hampton, Peterborough and the surrounding 
area affected; 

- The closure will result in residents in Yaxley having to travel further at a time when people are 
being encouraged to drive less to reduce vehicle emissions. 

- In lots of cases using public transport is not practical. The existing bus route through Hempsted 
does not work; 

- The growth in this particular area is unnecessary as there are units and offices standing empty all 
over Peterborough. Why build more. Brownfield sites should be used first; 

- Concern regarding the proposed gypsy site and the impact on the road between Haddon and 
Bullock Road toward Elton; 

- The proposed gypsy and traveller site is adjacent to protected wildlife (great crested newts), SSSI 
and would, therefore, be in direct conflict with the developer’s statement to keep human activity 
away from protected wildlife. Also, the site is too far away from amenities; 

- Concern as to what constitutes a pitch. The site is likely to grow far beyond the initial plans; 
- Concern about litter, burnt out vehicles that would be present near to the site and the impact that 

would have on the wildlife and general appearance of the landscape. Would there be sufficient 
policing in the area to cope with any problems arising; 

- The gypsy and travellers site does not meet Government rules. The problems caused by bad 
siting are many; access, rubbish, extra vehicle activity, policing, piles of scrap metal etc; 

- Concern over the changes to the roads through Haddon itself and a proposed bus route. The 
road through Haddon is single track and would be too narrow to take a bus route. The hill up to 
Haddon is a blind bend and is dangerous at the best of times. Can foresee accidents occurring, 
with increased traffic using the village as a cut through to avoid congestion or as a daily road to 
Oundle; 

- In the 1990s Peterborough City Planner had said that a link between the A1139 and Norman 
Cross via the Old Great North Road would never be allowed on the grounds of bad planning. 
Connecting the A1139 to Norman Cross would then create a rat-run with again another 
dangerous blind bend near the A1(M) underpass; 

- Suggest an alternative road route is provided through the development and to the Parkway 
thereby avoiding Haddon village; 

- Potential for the development to result in rat running through Haddon village to the A605. This is 
a single track road without footway etc and not designed to take the volume of traffic likely to use 
this route. If 10% of vehicles use this route that is an extra 250 movements per day; 

- The peace and quiet of Haddon village will be destroyed and life will change for the worse; 
- The proposed industrial area will cause environmental pollution to the Haddon area from all sorts 

of emissions, leakages and noise. What will be the impact of TV reception with large box type 
warehouses that all too often block signals; 

- Assume that ‘New Road’ as appears on the OS map where it is situated leading from Tollgate 
House to Orton Southgate will be open to public use. If so, why couldn’t this have been opened 
before. This road would reduce mileage from Haddon to Orton Southgate considerable;  

- Have always thought Haddon was ‘Great’ without having the name added to it; 
- Concern about the impact on wildlife. At present have a good representation of Great Crested 

Newts, Muntjac and Roe deer. When the A1(M) upgrade was implemented, there was a special 
tunnel inserted to allow deer and badgers to cross the road. This will all have been in vain;  

- At which point does the cross over of Councils occur- i.e. Peterborough City Council and 
Huntingdonshire District Council. Will they interact or go merrily on their own separate ways as 
they currently do? 

- The proposed bus gate would severely affect the existing petrol filling station on London Road as 
passing trade would be removed. A local service would also be lost; 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

139



 100 

 
 
 
Appendix 4- Central Boulevard Design Detail 
 

1. Architecture 

• Bespoke house design 

• High quality materials and finishes including front boundary treatment 

• Buildings to junctions need dual frontages 

• Consistent/common palette of materials 
 
2. Active Frontages 

• Front doors, windows and balconies onto the street; 

• Ground floor commercial adjacent to the district centre 

• Habitable rooms i.e. living rooms fronting onto the street 
 

3. Scale 

• Pedestrian proportion of the street should be more than 50% 

• Minimum 3 storeys 
 

4. Central Median 

• Minimum width of 5 metres 

• A space which can be used by pedestrians and cyclists 

• No barriers 

• Avenue tree planting continuous between junctions 
 

5. Street Trees and Spacing 

• Closely spaced i.e. 11 metre, apart from where adjacent to parking spaces 

• Alternating pattern of 2-3 species to differentiate different character areas along the 
boulevard 

• Deciduous species  

• Foliage above eye level to ensure visual connections across the street 
 

6. Footpaths/Cycleways and crossing points 

• Edge of footpath defined by on street parking bays and trees 

• Minimum width of 3m footpath/cycleway along length 

• On street cycle parking adjacent to the district centre 

• Uncluttered footways i.e. no signage/lighting in middle of pavement 

• Pedestrian realm identified by materials/ distinct from the road 

• Provision of regular uncontrolled crossing points- clearly marked through the use of materials 
including across the central median 

 
7. Lane Widths 

• 2.7-3.65m lane widths to discourage speeding 
 

8. Intersection Design 

• No safety barriers 

• No overhead traffic signals 

• Signage kept to a minimum 

• Uncluttered footways 

• Minimal overall dimensions to reduce the impact of the junctions and to allow easier 
pedestrian crossing 

• Signalised crossing for pedestrians 

• Use of different materials to break up black top  
 

9. Rear of the Boulevard 

• Provision of usable garden space 

140



 101 

• Provision for stage of refuse bins and means of access to highway for collection 

• Adequate parking provision 

• Natural surveillance of parking areas 

• Minimal use of parking courts- exception not norm 
 
 
 
Copy to Councillors Scott OBE S M, Seaton D A, North N V 
 

141



142

This page is intentionally left blank



143



144

This page is intentionally left blank



 1 

Planning and EP Committee 19 March 2013                     Item No. 5.2 
 
Application Ref: 12/01236/MMFUL  
 
Proposal: Removal of existing structures and development and operation of a 

materials recovery and recycling facility, comprising a relocated 
household waste recycling centre, a materials recycling facility, an 
anaerobic digestion facility and ancillary development including 
offices/welfare/education centre, operatives car park, weighbridge, 
commercial vehicle park and surface water attenuation lagoon 

 
Site: Dogsthorpe Landfill Site, Welland Road, Dogsthorpe, Peterborough 
Applicant: Mr Mat Nicholson 
 FCC Environment 
Agent: Mr James Cook 
 Stratus Environmental 
Referred by: Head of Service  
Reason: Largescale development which has potential to impact on the environment  
Site visit: 28.08.2012 
 
Case officer: Mrs T J Nicholl 
Telephone No. 01733 454442 
E-Mail: theresa.nicholl@peterborough.gov.uk 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions   
 

 
1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal 
 
Site and Surroundings 
 
The proposed facility would be located on land which presently forms part of the overall 
Dogsthorpe landfill site.  The site comprises an existing vehicle parking area, equipment storage 
area, other land which is not used and a proportion of the restored landfill.  The site is generally flat 
and measures approximately 4.7 hectares.  The vegetation on site is grassland and there are 
several immature self set trees and bushes. 
 
The site is bound to the north by an existing skip hire business operated by a third party and a 
disused clay pit.  Beyond these to the north is the Welland Road and Eye Road roundabout 
(A47T).  To the north of the A47 is the continuation of the clay pit which is designated as a Site of 
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
 
Immediately to the east is the active landfill site operated by the applicant.  Eye village lies 
approximately 1.2 km to the east of the application site. 
 
To the south east of the application site is the Peterborough Garden Park retail development.  To 
the south is the A15 (T) and beyond this the urban area of Peterborough.  The nearest residential 
property is located on Belvoir Way approximately 160 metres to the south. 
 
To the immediate west is a concrete batching plant operated by Cemex and beyond this a grain 
store/flour mill comprising substantial buildings.  To the west of the grain store Welland Road 
crosses over the A15.   
 
Proposal 
 
The proposal is for a waste recycling centre (termed an “eco park”) and comprises the following; 
 

145



 2 

• Removal of existing structures on site 
•  Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) and pre-treatment building (for the Anaerobic 

Digester (AD) located in one purpose building portal framed building 
• A Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC) under a covered open sided building 
• An anaerobic digestion (AD) facility comprising pre-storage tanks, digester tanks (x2), a 

digestate tank together with associated plant and machinery including a feedstock 
clamp. 

• Combined heat and power units and associated plant (generating up to MWe of power) 
•  Ancillary parking and turning areas, gatehouse and weighbridge, offices and visitor 

centre 
• Surface water lagoon 
 
Definitions: 
 
Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) = Dry recyclables such as plastics, paper, card, cans, glass etc 
collected from households/businesses and delivered to the facility in lorries.  The materials will be 
sorted/separated within the building and baled ready for transfer to specialist reprocessors.  Any 
non-recyclable material is baled for use as solid fuel or taken into the landfill. 
 
Household Waste Recycling Centre (HWRC) = Place where householders/individuals can take 
their recyclables/non recyclables and deposit into different skips/containers depending on the 
material.  The materials are then taken elsewhere for recycling. 
 
Anaerobic Digester (AD) = Facility for turning waste food/putrescible material into non waste 
product such as fertilizer, gas (which can in turn be converted to electricity and heat) through an 
anaerobic process which takes place within the proposed tanks.  Digestate is the product that 
emerges from this process.  This can be used to be spread as a fertilizer on the landfill site or on 
nearby agricultural land.  The digester tanks are where the anaerobic process takes place.  All of 
the processing from delivery of waste through to production of digestate tanks place within 
buildings/tanks.  The feedstock clamp is a storage area for maize (or possibly other feedstocks) 
that can be used/mixed with the waste food to aid the digestate process. 
 
Dimensions: 
 
MRF and Pre-Treatment building = 106 metres long x 81.3 metres wide x 11 metres high to the 
ridge of the roof (9 metres to the eaves) 
 
HWRC – the area to be used measures 74 metres x 64.5 metres and the recycling containers 
would be covered by steel canopies of 6.5 metres in height (each canopy supported by a single 
central row of steel pillars) 
 
AD plant; 
Digestate Tank = circular 34.5 metres diameter with conical roof with outlet in the top – 13.9 
metres tall overall 
 
Primary Digester tanks (x2) = circular 31.5 metres diameter with domed roof – 15.1 metres tall 
overall 
 
Pre-storage tanks (x3) = circular 9.3 metres diameter with conical roof – 5 metres high overall 
 
Feedstock clamp = 75 metres long x 25 metres wide x 5 metres high 
 
Odour control unit comprising two steel framed buildings measuring 12.1 metres long x 2.4 metres 
wide x 2.9 metres high, cylindrical tank measuring 10.5 metres high and chimney measuring 20 
metres high. 
 
Combined heat and power units comprising two steel framed buildings measuring 12.1 metres long 

146



 3 

x 2.4 metres wide x 2.9 metres high and a chimney stack measuring 18 metres high. 
 
The proposed facility will manage up to 206,000 tonnes per annum of municipal, commercial and 
industrial waste and has the potential to generate up to a maximum of 1.5MWe of power.  The 
electricity can be used to power the wider facility and/or the local distribution network.  The nearest 
sub station to which the facility could potentially connect is on Welland Road. 
 
Access to the site would be as existing, off the Welland Road/A47 roundabout. 
 
The application is accompanied by and Environmental Assessment. 
 
2 Planning History 
 
Various history associated with the landfill site. 
 
 
3 Planning Policy 
 
Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan polices below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2012) 
 
Section 1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
Approving development proposals that accord with an up to date development plan without delay 
 
Section 11 - Contamination  
The site should be suitable for its intended use taking account of ground conditions, land stability 
and pollution arising from previous uses and any proposals for mitigation. After remediation, as a 
minimum, land should not be capable of being determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 
Section 11 – Nature Conservation and Biodiversity 
The planning system should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by 
protecting and enhancing valued landscapes and geological interest, recognising wider benefits of 
ecosystems, minimising and where possible providing net gains in biodiversity, preventing new and 
existing development from being at risk of or contributing to unacceptable levels of pollution and 
mitigating/remediating despoiled land where appropriate. 
 
Section 10 - Development and Flood Risk  
New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to the impacts of climate 
change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by directing it away 
from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-specific 
Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test. 
 
 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
 
CS21 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation  
Development should conserve and enhance biodiversity/ geological interests unless no alterative 
sites are available and there are demonstrable reasons for the development. 
 
CS14 - Transport  
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents. 

147



 4 

 
 
 
Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
 
MW02 - Strategic Vision and Objectives for Sustainable Waste Management Development  
Growth will be supported by a network of waste management facilities which will deliver 
sustainable waste management.  The facilities will be 'new generation' which will achieve higher 
levels of waste recovery and recycling in line with relevant targets.  They will also be of high quality 
design and operation, contributing towards addressing climate change and minimising impacts on 
communities in Cambridgeshire and Peterborough.  There will be a network of stand alone facilities 
but also co-located facilities in modern waste management 'eco-parks'. The network will manage a 
wide range of wastes from the plan area, contributing to self sufficiency but also accommodating 
the apportioned waste residues from London or authorities in the East of England.  Any long 
distance movement of waste should be through sustainable transport means - such facilities will be 
safeguarded via Transport Zones.  A flexible approach regarding different types of suitable waste 
technology on different sites will be taken and Waste Consultation Areas and Waste Water 
Treatment Works Safeguarding Areas will be designated to safeguard waste management sites 
from incompatible development.  A proactive approach to sustainable construction and recycling 
will be taken and strategic developments will need to facilitate temporary waste facilities to 
maximise the reuse, recovery and recycling of inert and sustainable construction waste throughout 
the development period.  Where inert waste cannot be recycled it will be used in a positive manner 
to restore sites.  The natural and built historic environment will continue to be protected with an 
increased emphasis on operational practices which contribute towards climate change and 
minimise the impact of such development on local communities. (Policy CS2 sets out a list of 
strategic objectives to support this vision; those of relevance will be discussed in the body of the 
report). 
 
MW15 - The Location of Future Waste Management Facilities  
A network of waste management facilities will be developed across Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough.  The spatial distribution of the network will be guided by various economic and 
environmental factors (the relevant details of which will be discussed in the main body of the 
report). 
 
MW29 - The Need for Waste Management Development and the Movement of Waste  
Proposals for new or extended waste management development will be permitted where they meet 
a demonstrated need within Cambridgeshire and Peterborough. Applicants will be required to enter 
into binding restrictions on catchment area, tonnages and/or types of waste. Permission may be 
granted for development involving importation of waste from outside the Plan area where it is 
demonstrated it is sustainable. 
 
MW34 - Protecting Surrounding Uses  
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated 
(with mitigation where necessary) there is no significant harm to the environment, human health or 
safety, existing or proposed neighbouring land uses, visual intrusion or loss of residential/other 
amenity. 
 
MW35 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity  
Mineral and waste management development will only be permitted where there will likely be no 
significant adverse affect on local nature conservation or geological interest.  Where it is 
demonstrated there are overriding benefits to the development compensation and/or mitigation 
measures must be put in place.  Proposals for new habitat creation must have regard to the 
Peterborough Biodiversity Action Plan and supporting Habitat and Species Action Plans. 
 
MW14 - The Scale of Waste Management Provision  
Sets out the amounts of waste provision and timescales for the various types of waste 
management facility to be provided for by the Waste Planning Authority by 2026. 

148



 5 

 
MW16 - Household Recycling Centres  
A network of household recycling facilities easily accessible to local communities will be developed 
through the Site Specific Proposals Plan, including amongst broad location areas, a site in 
Peterborough.  New developments will contribute towards the provision of household recycling 
centres, consistent with the RECAP Waste Management Design Guide and additionally through 
POIS or CIL (in the event this supersedes the current mechanism). 
 
MW22 - Climate Change  
Minerals and waste proposals will need to take account of climate change over the lifetime of the 
development, setting out how this will be achieved.  Proposals will need to adopt emissions 
reduction measures and will need to set out how they will be resilient to climate change.  
Restoration schemes which contribute to climate change adaption will be encouraged. 
 
MW24 - Design of Sustainable Minerals and Waste Management Facilities  
All proposals for minerals and waste management development must achieve a high standard in 
design and environmental mitigation.  Waste Management proposals must be consistent with 
guidance set out in The Location and Design of Waste Management Facilities SPD. 
 
MW32 - Traffic and Highways  
Minerals and Waste development will only be permitted where it meets the criteria set out in this 
policy. 
 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific Proposals DPD (2012) 
 
SSP W1 – Allocates Dogsthorpe, former brickworks site for waste recovery and recycling 
facilities 
 
 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012) 
 
PP13 - Parking Standards  
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards. 
 
PP16 - The Landscaping and Biodiversity Implications of Development  
Permission will only be granted for development which makes provision for the retention of trees 
and natural features which contribute significantly to the local landscape or biodiversity. 
 
PP20 - Development on Land affected by Contamination  
Development must take into account the potential environmental impacts arising from the 
development itself and any former use of the site.  If it cannot be established that the site can be 
safely developed with no significant future impacts on users or ground/surface waters, permission 
will be refused. 
 
PP01 - Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
Applications which accord with policies in the Local Plan and other Development Plan Documents 
will be approved unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are no relevant 
policies, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
 
 
4 Consultations/Representations 
 
 
Transport and Engineering Services (09.01.12) 
No objections subject to conditions 

149



 6 

 
Wildlife Officer (28.02.13) 
No objections subject to revised biodiversity area and newt mitigation/management being secured 
by condition. 
 
Landscape Architect (Enterprise) (26.09.12) 
No objections 
 
Building Control Surveyor (14.08.12) 
Building Regulations approval is required. Part M relating to disabled requirements is applicable. 
 
Archaeological Officer (27.12.12) 
No objection as buried archaeological remains are likely to have already been obliterated by 
extensive quarrying. 
 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer (29.08.12) 
No objections or further recommendations. 
 
Drainage Team (22.01.12) 
No objection subject to a condition regarding surface water drainage. 
 
Pollution Team (11.12.12) 
No objections subject to the suggested conditions covering  noise limits on Belvoir Way, lighting, 
insect/pest control and a stage II land contamination investigation and remediation report. 
 
Environment Agency (15.01.12) 
No objections subject to conditions regarding surface water drainage and contamination 
remediation. 
 
Natural England - Consultation Service (04.01.13) 
Natural England is now satisfied with the proposals following receipt of the revised newt mitigation 
strategy and habitat creation proposals.  These, together with a management plan should be 
secured by a suitable condition. 
 
Highways Agency (23.08.12) 
No objections 
 
Eye Parish Council (21.09.12) 
No comments to make 
 
Local Residents/Interested Parties  
 
Initial consultations: 239 
Total number of responses: 5 
Total number of objections: 2 
Total number in support: 1 
 

150



 7 

 

• We were told the landfill would be closed this year but now appears to be carrying on until 
at least 2015.  Originally we were told it would become a golf course or wildlife area.  We 
have suffered long enough from smells from this site. 

• Spreading waste products onto the landfill will cause smells and vermin 

• It can’t be right that such a project is proposed near residential areas and the Garden Park 
shopping centre where a large food supermarket is proposed.  There is also a proposed 
hotel development nearby. 

• There will be an increase in traffic which will cause problems 

• There has been virtually no public consultation on these proposals 

• Pollution – what measures will limit the flue gases from the anaerobic digester. 

• Health risk 

• There are already large amounts of mud being deposited on the roads 

• I am concerned about the noise – it is already noisy with the road and the cereal plant 

• I am concerned about the anaerobic digester and the surface water lagoon and their 
proximity to the cereal plant.   

• There is also concern of flooding from the surface water lagoon. 

• Anaerobic digestion facilities cause air pollution and cause ozone layer damage 
 

• Dogsthorpe Liaison Group support the application 
 
5 Assessment of the planning issues 
 
Main Considerations 
 
• Principle of development/sustainability 
• Access and transport/traffic 
• Visual appearance 
• Impact on surrounding uses with regards to noise, odour, lighting 
• Contaminated land 
• Surface Water Drainage/Flood Risk 
• Ecology/biodiversity 
• Other issues 
 
 
 
Principle of development/sustainability 
 
Policy SSP W1 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific DPD 
allocates the site for waste recycling and recovery facilities.  The policy sets out that the site is 
suitable for a materials recovery facility, household recycling centre, specialist facilities, in vessel 
composting and inert waste recycling. The facilities proposed are therefore in compliance with this 
policy. 
 
The NPPF states that there is a presumption in favour of sustainable development and that for 
decision making this means approving development proposals that accord with the development 
plan without delay.  This is repeated in policy PP1 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.  
The application is therefore acceptable in principle.  
 
Access and transport/traffic 
 
The proposed access to the site is the same as the existing access to the landfill site and existing 
household recycling centre, off Welland Road which adjoins the A47 to the north of the site via a 
roundabout.  Neither the Highways Agency nor the Local Highway Authority have raised objections 
to the proposal.  A transport assessment has been submitted with the application which 
demonstrates that the road network can accommodate the level of traffic (HGV and car) associated 

151



 8 

with the proposed uses.  The Highway Authority has requested that conditions be imposed to cover 
provision of on site parking and turning and submission of a construction management plan.   
 
A car park containing 18 parking spaces, motorbike parking, two mini coach spaces and a cycle 
stand (space for 6 cycles) is proposed to the front of the MRF/offices and visitor centre.  HGVs are 
kept separate to private vehicles and turning and unloading of HGVs will take place at the rear of 
the buildings facing onto the existing landfill area.  It is considered that these arrangements are 
acceptable and comply with policy CS32 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and 
Waste Core Strategy (the MW Core Strategy) and policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD.  Policy PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD states that development will only be 
permitted where adequate parking space is provided in accordance with the Council’s parking 
standards.  In the case of recycling centres/civic amenity sites the standard is one parking space 
per full time equivalent staff, one cycle space per 8 staff and two bays/5% of total (whichever is 
greater) for disabled parking.  The application states that up to 20 full time equivalent staff will be 
employed.  There is a slight under provision of two parking spaces, correct provision of two 
disabled spaces and an overprovision of cycle parking.  This is considered acceptable as it will not 
lead to problems on the public highway. 
 
The submitted Transport Assessment bases the proposed traffic levels upon the assumption that 
the proposed MRF will operate with a maximum input of recyclable material of 120,000 tonnes per 
annum and the AD plant at a maximum input of waste of 20,000 tonnes per annum.  It is proposed 
to condition this as a maximum input for these facilities so that any future increases in throughput 
can be re-assessed including any increase in traffic movements. 
 
At present there are 140 2-way commercial vehicle movements to and from the landfill site.  The 
proposal will generate an additional 78.  There will also be vehicle movements generated by new 
staffs (20) that choose to drive to work.  There are presently 2,800 2-way movements to and from 
the household waste recycling centre.  This will remain the same with regards the new facility. 
 
The existing wheelwash which serves the current landfill operation would be re-located (or 
replaced) if this development goes ahead.  The proposed new location is identified within the site 
on the submitted site layout plan.  There is no need to condition this because the planning 
permission for the landfill site already contains a condition that requires that no commercial vehicle 
enters the public highway unless their wheels and chassis have been cleaned to prevent material 
being deposited on the public highway.  The proposal does not generate a need for a wheelwash 
because all of the access and turning facilities to serve the eco-park will be hard surfaced. 
 
Visual Appearance  
 
The proposed buildings are of a significant scale and bulk – the dimensions of each building are 
set out above.  The proposed MRF building is large.  It is an L shaped building and is 106 metres 
long and 11 metres high.  It is set well into the site and will be partially screened from the A15 and 
properties to the south and east by the existing grain store buildings.  Although the building is large 
it is not considered it will be overbearing or overly prominent when viewed from the nearest 
residential areas.  The closest residential properties are located approximately 125 metres to the 
south and southwest beyond Paston Parkway.   
The digestate tanks, odour control unit and combined heat and power (CHP) units are located in a 
“cluster” to the north of the proposed MRF building in the location of the current composing area 
and part of the current household recycling area.  The tallest digestate tank is just over 15 metres 
in height and there are two chimneys (one for odour control and on for the CHP unit).  These 
chimneys are 20 metres and 18 metres in height respectively.  For comparison, the current 
grainstore silos are approximately 30 metres in height and are closer to existing residential 
property than the proposed digestate tanks and chimneys.   
 
It is noted that land to the north of the A47 at Norwood and Paston Reserve is allocated for urban 
extensions.  This has been accounted for in the submitted Environmental Assessment.  It is 
considered that there is adequate separation between the site and the proposed allocations such 

152



 9 

that visual impact will be limited. 
 
The proposed feedstock clamp and the household recycling centre are of limited height and will 
have an insignificant visual impact upon the surroundings. 
 
Additionally, as the application site has been allocated for the uses proposed at the time this 
allocation was being considered the possible scale of such facilities will have been known. 
 
Materials have been suggested by the applicant with all buildings being clad and coloured either 
light grey or fir green.  It is considered that further consideration needs to be given to materials and 
particularly colours given the bulk and height of the MRF building and the height of the digestate 
tanks and chimneys.  This can be covered by imposition of a condition. 
 
The design of materials recovery and recycling facilities is driven to a large extent by the function 
of the buildings and the need to comply with other legislation (e.g. odour control, health and safety, 
pollution control etc).  Nevertheless it is considered that the buildings are located in such a way 
within the allocated site so as to minimise as far as possible their impact on the surroundings, in 
particular the nearest residential property.  As such the proposals comply with policy CS24 which 
requires high standards of design and policy CS34 of the MW Core Strategy which requires waste 
management development to only be permitted where it is demonstrated that no significant harm 
will occur to the environment including visual intrusion or loss to residential amenity.  Similarly it is 
considered that there is no conflict with other development plan design policies, specifically CS16 
of the Peterborough Core Strategy and PP2 of the Planning Policies DPD. 
 
 
Impact on surrounding uses with regards to noise, odour, lighting 
 
Noise: 
 
A noise assessment has been submitted (as part of the Environmental Statement) with the 
application.  The assessment has taken a representative sample of properties on Belvoir Way, 
Newborough Road and Welland Road as the nearest noise sensitive properties which might be 
affected by the proposals.  The Principal Pollution Control Officer (Lynden Leadbeater) has liaised 
directly with the applicant’s noise consultant to agree a set of maximum noise limits at these 
representative locations and has taken into account that there are already high levels of ambient 
noise in the area.  The development is considered to be acceptable subject to a condition which 
places limits on the daytime and night time noise levels at the nearest noise sensitive properties.  
With the imposition of such a condition, the development will comply with MW Core Strategy policy 
CS34. 
 
The Pollution Control Officer has been keen to ensure that noise levels will not be perceptibly 
louder than the current situation.  The survey results show that there may be a possibility of a 1dB 
exceedence of noise limits in Belvoir Way but such a small increase should not be perceptible.  
The noise limits which will be set by imposition of condition 3 are in line with current background 
noise levels at the nearest noise sensitive properties in Welland Road, Belvoir Way and 
Newborough Road. 
 
Odour: 
 
The potential sources of odour at the site would emanate from material being unloaded at the site 
ready for processing, from the processing itself particularly with regards to the AD and the 
emissions from the stack and from the spread of processed digestate on the adjacent landfill (or 
nearby farmland). 
 
All of the unloading of material delivered to the proposed MRF and AD plant will take place inside 
the building and air pressure would be strictly controlled to ensure escape of odour is minimised.  
The movement of waste to be recycled in the AD plant will be undertaken by pipes between 

153



 10 

unloading and processing through the tanks thus preventing escape of odour through these 
stages. 
 
The Environment Agency has confirmed that odour will be controlled by the Environmental Permit 
and as part of the permitting process an odour management plan will be required to be submitted.  
Despite this your officers were concerned to ensure as far as possible that the proposal has been 
assessed using robust methodology and that if approved the likelihood of complaints being 
received about odour would be minimised.  We requested further information with regards to the 
methodology used to establish predicted odour levels and where these should be measured and 
also further information about the “end product” from the anaerobic digestion process i.e. the 
digestate that would be used to spread onto the landfill.  The Principal Pollution Control Officer is 
now satisfied with the odour assessment and recommends that no condition need be imposed 
regarding odour as it will need to be covered as part of the environmental permit to be issued and 
enforced by the Environment Agency. 
 
With regard to the digestate matter, the applicant has explained the difference between this matter 
and farm slurry to highlight the behavioural differences between the two.  This comparison is made 
because slurry when spread on fields most often causes unpleasant odour issues.  Digestate is 
more stable than slurry, it contains less bacterial activity once processed than slurry and thus the 
potential for smells from digestate when spread, is vastly reduced from the smells that would occur 
with slurry.  Your officers are satisfied that the proposal if approved would be constructed an 
operated using best available means and that if odour issues do occur they could be adequately 
dealt with through the environmental permit.  As such the proposal complies with policy CS34 of 
the MW Core Strategy. 
 
With regard to insect and pest control, limited information has been submitted but this can be dealt 
with by imposition of a condition requesting that a pest control plan be submitted and approved. 
 
Lighting; 
 
Although most of the work at the site will be undertaken within buildings, with the exception of the 
household waste recycling centre, there will be a need for external lighting at the site after dusk.  
No scheme has been submitted with the application but this can be required to be submitted and 
approved by the imposition of a suitable condition.  The lighting levels and position of lights can 
then be assessed to ensure that there is no nuisance caused and light pollution to the night sky is 
minimised.  The proposal is therefore in accordance with policy CS 34 of the MW Core Strategy. 
 
Contaminated Land 
 
As the site lies adjacent and partially over a landfill site there will be contaminated land beneath the 
development area.  The Environmental Statement recognises this but no detailed analysis about 
the actual contamination beneath the site has been submitted although there are several potential 
sources.  The contamination will need to be remediated prior to the building works taking place.  
The development site is largely covered by a thickness of made up ground (from past landfilling) 
and so traditional foundations are unlikely to be suitable and it is likely that piled foundations will be 
required.   
 
There are potential risks from contamination to human health during construction and during 
operation of the site and also potential for pollution pathways to be created during construction 
which could spread contamination to presently uncontaminated area.  Both the EA and the 
Principal Pollution Control Officer have requested that conditions be imposed to require site 
surveys and remediation measures to be submitted for approval prior to the commencement of 
development.  In addition measures to demonstrate that the remediation has worked and is being 
monitored will also need to be submitted.  A suitable set of conditions is proposed to deal with 
these matters and will ensure there will be no significant harm to human health or the environment 
thus complying with condition CS34 of the MW Core Strategy, policy PP20 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD and paragraphs 120 and 121 of the NPPF.  Paragraph 120 states that the 

154



 11 

responsibility of securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner.  
Paragraph 121 states that after remediation the land in question should not be capable of being 
determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 
Surface Water Drainage/Flood Risk 
 
The application includes a Flood Risk Assessment and consideration of hydrology and drainage 
issues within the Environmental Statement.  The site does not lie within an area of flood risk but 
due to the scale of the development and the increase in hard surfaced area (from buildings and the 
impermeable hard surfaced areas, there will be an increase in surface water run off which will 
require management.  The applicant proposes to construct a surface water balancing pond to store 
excess surface water run off and control flow into the existing drainage structure.  The precise 
details of this system would need to be submitted.  The Environment Agency has not objected to 
the proposals but has requested that a condition be attached requiring details of the surface water 
drainage proposals be submitted and approved prior to the commencement of the development.  
The Council’s Drainage Team has similarly requested such a condition.  Such details will need to 
adequately demonstrate the control of surface water run off and prevention of pollution.  Such a 
condition is proposed and will ensure that the proposal is in compliance with policy CS39 of the 
MW Core Strategy which requires waste management to be permitted only where there would be 
no significant adverse impact or rink to surface or groundwater resources, quality or quantity of 
groundwater abstraction and flow of groundwater. 
 
   
 
Ecology/Biodiversity 
 
Policy CS35 of the MW Core Strategy states that waste development will only be permitted where 
is has been demonstrated that there will be no significant adverse impact on sites of local nature 
conservation or on any feature that is of principal importance for wild flora or fauna.  Where there 
are overriding benefits to the development permission may be granted subject to adequate 
mitigation being provided.   
 
Policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy states that where possible there should be a net 
gain for biodiversity/geological conservation. 
 
There is statutory protection for site of international or national importance such as Special Areas 
of Conservation (SACS) and Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs).  
 
The NPPF states (paragraph 109) that development should aim to conserve and enhance 
biodiversity (and then sets out a set of principles to achieve this) and that where possible a net 
gain in biodiversity should be incorporated. 
 
The applicant has submitted an ecological appraisal of the site and has identified sites of 
significance in terms of nature conservation value of up to 5km radius from the site.  An extended 
phase 1 habitat survey of the site including various species surveys (great crested newts, bats, 
birds, wintering birds, reptile and water vole) has been submitted for the site. 
 
The closest significant site of nature conservation to the site is Dogsthorpe Star Pit SSSI and Local 
Nature Reserve which is 280 metres to the northeast of the site. 
 
The development will not have an adverse impact upon sites of nature conservation outside the 
site, particularly with regard to the designated sites such as Dogsthorpe Star Pit and Nene Washes 
SAC (4.5 km away).  Natural England and the Council’s Wildlife Officer have raised no objections 
in this particular regard. 
 
The land immediately to the north of the site (within the applicant’s ownership) which is part of an 
old pit contains ponds, one of which supports a medium population of great crested newts.  This 

155



 12 

pond is 50 metres away from the site.  The site comprises in part provide grassland, scrub and 
piles of rubble which provide some suitable foraging, commuting and hibernation habitat for the 
GCN population in the pond area.  This habitat within the site will be lost as part of the 
development.  The applicant will require a license from Natural England because of the nearby 
population of GCN and the loss of the habitat within the site – this license will be required before 
the development goes ahead. 
 
With regard to the policy requirements therefore (taking aside the statutory requirements) suitable 
mitigation needs to be provided for the loss of the on site habitat and if possible biodiversity 
enhancements need to be created.  The original proposal involved making limited enhancements 
to the land to the north of the site containing the pond habitat.  Both Natural England and the PCC 
Wildlife Officer considered that the general principles of the newt mitigation are acceptable but the 
proposals to create additional habitat to the north of the site were inadequate and did not go far 
enough.  Both consultees suggested that further aquatic features be created. 
 
The applicant has submitted a further scheme which shows the disused pit area to the north as a 
translocation area with additional pond and “scrapes” within an area that floods to provide shallow 
ephemeral pond areas.  Hibernacula will also be provided in the area and a lowland meadow seed 
mix will be planted close to the pond areas.  Elsewhere the existing woodland and scrub would be 
retained.  The applicant proposes to manage this area for five years and then incorporate it into the 
overall restoration plans for the landfill site. 
 
The Wildlife Officer and Natural England have been reconsulted on the revised proposal.  Both 
state that there are now no objections to the proposals subject to a suitable condition requiring a 
detailed scheme be submitting to cover newt mitigation and monitoring.  The application is 
therefore now acceptable in this regard and is in compliance with the policies set out above. 
 
Other Issues 
 
The Environmental Statement has considered impact on heritage assets and there are no heritage 
assets within the vicinity of the development that are adversely affected by the proposal.  There are 
no archaeological implications for the development as any buried remains will have been 
destroyed by past quarrying and landfill as confirmed in the consultation response of the Council’s 
archaeologist.  In this regard the proposal complies with policy CS36 of the MW Core Strategy and 
with Chapter 12 of the NPPF. 
 
The ES has also considered the cumulative impact of this development.  This relates to the in-
combination effects of different parts of the project and combined effects with other known projects 
in the vicinity.  In your officer’s opinion, this assessment has been adequately undertaken and 
there are no significant impacts that cannot be suitably mitigated by the design of the development 
itself or by the imposition of conditions. 
 
6 Conclusions 
 
 
The application has been assessed against the relevant development plan policies and all material 
considerations and has been found to be acceptable for the following reasons; 
 
Policy SSP W1 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Site Specific DPD 
allocates the site as for waste recycling and recovery facilities. The proposed facilities are in 
accordance with those set out in policy SSP W1.  The NPPF states that there is a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development and that for decision making this means approving development 
proposals that accord with the development plan without delay.  This is repeated in policy PP1 of 
the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD.  The application is therefore acceptable in principle. 
 
With regard to the detail of the application, the submission which includes an Environmental 
Assessment has been assessed against current planning policy as follows and has been found to 

156



 13 

be acceptable: 
 
Access and transport/traffic: Policy CS32 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and 
Waste Core Strategy (MWCS), CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (PCS) and PP13 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (PPP DPD). 
Visual Appearance (and impact upon nearby property): CS24 and CS34 of the MWCS, CS16 of 
the PCS, PP2 of the PPP DPD. 
Impact on surrounding uses with regards to noise, odour and lighting: CS34 of the MWCS. 
Contaminated Land: CS34 of the MWCS, PP20 of the PPP DPD and paragraphs 120-121 of the 
NPPF. 
Surface Water Drainage/Flood Risk: CS39 of the MWCS. 
Ecology/Biodiversity: CS35 of the MWCS, CS21 of the PCS and paragraph 109 of the NPPF. 
Cultural Heritage: CS36 of the MWCS and Chapter 12 of the NPPF. 
 
The application has also been considered with regard to the cumulative and in-combination effects 
of the development as set out in the Environmental Statement which concludes the development is 
acceptable in this regard.  The methodology used to compile the ES is considered appropriate and 
the conclusions reached can be considered as reasonable. 
 
There are no material considerations which would lead to determining the application other than in 
accordance with the above policies.  The application is therefore acceptable. 
 
 
7 Recommendation 
 
The Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services recommends that planning permission 
is GRANTED subject to the following conditions: 
 
  
  
 
C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 

the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended). 
  
 
C 2 The development hereby approved shall not be carried out except in accordance with the 

following approved plans and submission documents unless amended or required by any of 
the other conditions attached to this permission. 

  
 WR7094/19/18  Site Views 
 WR7094/19/04 Rev 1  Proposed site layout 
 WR7094/19/01  Location Plan 
 WR7094/19/20  Weighbridge and gatehouse details 
 WR7094/19/03  Planning application and ownership boundaries 
 WR7094/19/17  Gate and fence details 
 WR7094/19/02  Existing levels/contours 
 WR7094/19/08            Elevations of odour control, safety gas flare and combined 

heat and power unit 
 FIGURE 4.2                       Location of services at site office, wheel wash and power 

station compound 
 WR7094/19/15            Internal arrangement of materials recycling facility and pre-

treatment building 
 WR7094/19/14            Roof Plan 
 WR7094/19/10            Elevations of fire tank and pumphouse 

157



 14 

 WR7094/19/09            Elevations of de-sulphurisation unit 
 WR7094/19/07            Elevations of primary digester, digestate storage tank and pre-

treatment tanks 
 WR7094/19/11            Elevations of feedstock storage clamp 
 WR7094/19/13            Office, visitor centre and welfare building elevations and floor 

plans 
 WR7094/19/12            Elevations of household waste recycling centre 
 WR7094/19/06            Elevations of materials recycling facility and pre-treatment 

building 
 WR7094/19/16            Traffic and pedestrian management 
 468S172PLAN5            Services/utilities plan 
  
 The Environmental Statement except as amended by; 
 The letter and ecological plans from Abigail Bridge dated 11th February 2013 
 Letter from Stratus Environmental dated 21st December 2012 
 Email from James Cook dated 14th February 2013 at 14:48 
  
 Reason:  To clarify what is hereby approved 
  
 
C 3 The level of noise emitted from the site shall not exceed the relevant criterion limit specified 

in Schedule 1 at each selected location.  Measurements taken to verify compliance shall 
have regard to the effects of extraneous noise and shall be corrected for such effects. 

  
 Schedule 1   Noise Limits 
 Location   dB LAeq, 1 hour (0700-2300) dBLAeq, 5mins (2300-0700) 
  
 Representative of  50     45 
 Properties on 
 Welland Road 
  
 Representative of  55     45 
 Properties on  
 Belvoir Way  
  
 Representative of  45     35 
 Properties on  
 Newborough Road 
  
 Reason: In the interest of protecting the amenity of the nearest residents in accordance 

with policy CS35 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core 
Strategy DPD. 

  
 
C 4 Prior to the commencement of the development, a scheme for external illumination and 

floodlighting of the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  The scheme shall accord with the “Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Light 
Pollution” from the Institute of Lighting Engineers and shall provide details of:-  

 * The height of lighting masts/posts 
 * The direction of lights 
 * The intensity of the lights to be used (specified in Lux levels) 
 * Spread of light including approximate light spillage to the rear of floodlighting posts (in 

metres) 
 * Any measures to minimise the impact of the floodlighting or disturbance through glare 

(such as shrouding) 
 No external lighting shall be erected unless in complete accordance with the approved 

scheme.  In the event of a reasonable complaint being made, (as determined by the Local 

158



 15 

Planning Authority) the applicant/site operator shall upon request by the Local Planning 
Authority, employ a suitably qualified person to investigate the light source(s) subject of the 
complaint and shall submit a written report of the investigation into whether light pollution is 
occurring to the Local Planning Authority within 4 weeks of the request being made.  

 Reason:  In order to protect the amenity of nearby residents and to reduce light pollution in 
a predominantly rural environment in accordance with policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire 
and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD. 

  
  
 
C 5 Prior to the development hereby permitted being brought into use, a scheme shall be 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority which sets out provisions 
to be undertaken for the control of insects and pests.  Such provisions could include 
physical and/or administrative measures.  The development shall not be occupied unless 
the approved scheme has been implemented.  The approved scheme shall continue to be 
implemented in full thereafter. 

 Reason:  In order to protect other nearby occupiers and in the interests of human health 
and safety in accordance with policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough 
Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD. 

  
 
C 6 The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until details of a 

comprehensive contaminated land investigation has been submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority and until the scope of works approved therein have been 
implemented where possible. The assessment shall include all of the following measures 
unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with any such requirements in writing: 

  
  A site investigation shall be carried out to fully and effectively characterise the nature and 

extent of any land contamination and/or pollution of controlled waters. It shall specifically 
include a risk assessment that adopts the Source-Pathway-Receptor principle and takes 
into account the site's existing status and proposed new use. Two full copies of the site 
investigation and findings shall be forwarded to the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 

procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR11'.  No development shall be 
carried out except in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: To ensure potential risks arising from previous site uses have been fully assessed 

in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, in particular paragraphs 120 
and 121 and policy PP20 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. 

  
 
C 7 Where the risk assessment identifies any unacceptable risk or risks, an appraisal of 

remedial options and proposal of the preferred option to deal with land contamination 
and/or pollution of controlled waters affecting the site shall be submitted to and approved by 
the Local Planning Authority. No works, other than investigative works, shall be carried out 
on the site prior to receipt and written approval of the preferred remedial option by the Local 
Planning Authority.  

  
 This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 'Model 

procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR11'.  No development shall be 
carried out except in accordance with the approved remedial details unless an alternative 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

  
 Reason: To ensure the proposed remediation plan is appropriate and in accordance with 

the National Planning Policy Framework, in particular paragraphs 120 and 121 and policy 
PP20 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. 

159



 16 

  
 
C 8 On completion of remediation, two copies of a closure report shall be submitted to the Local 

Planning Authority. The report shall provide verification that the required works regarding 
contamination have been carried out in accordance with the approved Method 
Statement(s). Post remediation sampling and monitoring results shall be included in the 
closure report. 

  
 Reason: To provide verification that the required remediation has been carried out to 

appropriate standards and in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework, in 
particular paragraphs 120 and 121 and policy PP20 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD. 

  
 
C 9 If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, then the Local 

Planning Authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be carried out 
until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect contamination has 
been submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter not be carried out except in complete accordance with the 
approved scheme. 

  
 Reason: To ensure all contamination within the site is dealt with in accordance with the 

National Planning Policy Framework, in particular paragraphs 120 and 121 and policy PP20 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. 

  
 
C10 No development shall take place until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, based 

on sustainable drainage principles and an assessment of the hydrological and hydro 
geological context of the development, has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The drainage strategy shall demonstrate the surface water 
run-off generated up to and including the 1.0% annual probability event with climate change 
will not exceed the run-off from the undeveloped site following the corresponding rainfall 
event.  The development shall not be completed except in full accordance with the 
approved drainage strategy.  The drainage strategy shall also include the following: 

 1. Full details of the maintenance of the surface water system for the lifetime of the 
development 

 2. Provision of all Microdrainage calculations as part of the detailed design 
 3. Calculations shall be provided for all return periods 
 4. A detailed drainage layout 
 5. The existing road network shall be incorporated into the surface water run-off 

calculations 
 6. Details of the proposed control chamber 
 7. A cross section of the proposed balancing pond 
  
 Reason: To prevent the increased risk in flooding both on and off site in accordance with 

paragraph 103 of the NPPF. 
  
 
C11 Notwithstanding the submitted details, no construction of buildings or tanks shall take place 

until details of external materials have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  The details submitted for approval shall include the name of the 
manufacturer, the product type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The 
development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 

accordance with Policy CS16 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD. 
  

160



 17 

 
C12 No development shall take place until the great crested newt mitigation scheme has been 

implemented in accordance with the details contained within the letter and accompanying 
plans by Abigail Bridge dated 11th February 2013 and the following details have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:- 

 Full details of landscaping to be undertaken within the biodiversity/receptor area as shown 
on the Habitat Creation and Enhancement Measures drawing 468A199A Rev A 

 An aftercare and management scheme for the biodiversity/receptor area for a period of five 
years following the completion of the landscaping of this area 

 Details of newt monitoring throughout the five year aftercare period. 
  
 The development shall not take place except in complete accordance with the approved 

details/schemes.  The approved landscaping of the biodiversity/receptor area shall take 
place in the first planting season following commencement of the development. 

  
 Reason:  The biodiversity/receptor area is required to mitigate the loss of terrestrial newt 

habitat and to provide the biodiversity enhancements required of such a development in 
accordance with policy CS 35 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and 
Waste Core Strategy, policy CS 21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD and paragraph 
109 of the NPPF. 

  
 
C13 Prior to the occupation of the development the parking spaces and turning areas shown on 

drawing number WR7094/19/16 Rev 0 shall be laid out for vehicles to park and turn clear of 
the public highway.  Those areas shall not thereafter be used for any other purpose other 
than the parking and turning of vehicles. 

 Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CS32 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD, policy CS14 of 
the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD and policy PP13 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD. 

  
 
C14 Prior to the commencement of the development a construction site management plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The site 
management plan shall include: 

 - A detailed site layout 
 - Details of parking and turning for all construction and delivery vehicles 
 - Operational procedures relating to the movement of site traffic and arrival of deliveries 
 - Pedestrian routes 
 - Materials storage 
 - A scheme of chassis and wheel cleaning for construction vehicles including contingency 

measures should these facilities become in-operative and a scheme for the cleaning of 
affected public highways 

  
 The development shall not be carried out except in accordance with the approved 

Construction Management Plan. 
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety and residential amenity in accordance with policy 

CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD and policy PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD. 

  
 
C15 The fencing to the site shall be erected in accordance with the details shown on the 

approved site layout plan drawing WR7094/19/04 Rev 1 and the approved Gates and 
Fence details drawing WR7094/19/17 Rev 0.  The Paladin fencing and gates shall be 
coloured green RAL6005. 

 Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development in accordance with 
CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD. 

161



 18 

  
 
C16 Prior to the commencement of the development, a landscaping scheme shall be submitted 

to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The landscaping scheme shall 
include plans showing trees and shrubs to be retained together with trees and shrubs which 
are to be planted.  The approved scheme shall be implemented in full in the first planting 
season following the first occupation of the development or completion of the development, 
whichever is the sooner.  Should any of the trees/shrubs die, become diseased or be 
removed during the first five years after planting, they shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with plants of a similar size and species. (Note: landscaping of the 
biodiversity/receptor area is covered by condition 12) 

 Reason: To provide adequate landscape and biodiversity mitigation and enhancement in 
accordance with policy CS35 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy DPD, policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD and policy PP16 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD. 

  
 
C17 The materials recycling facility hereby approved shall process dry recyclable waste only. 

Any contaminated loads shall be quarantined and dealt with in accordance with the 
submitted planning statement and Environmental Statement. 

 Reason:  To clarify what is hereby approved and because the assessment of the proposal 
in terms of its impact on the surrounding area has been undertaken on the basis that the 
MRF will handle dry recyclable waste only in accordance with policy CS34 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD.  

  
 
C18 No waste (both pre and post treatment) shall be stored in any locations other than in 

designated buildings, plant, tanks or skips as identified on the approved site layout drawing 
WR7094/19/04 Rev 1. 

 Reason:  In the interest of the visual appearance of the development, prevention of 
pollution/smell and to minimise any impact on the surrounding area in accordance with 
policy CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy 
DPD. 

  
 
C19 At least 75% by weight of the dry recyclable waste and at least 75% by weight of the waste 

to be processed in the anaerobic digester shall come from within the following area; 
 1. The administrative area of Peterborough City Council 
 2. The administrative area of Cambridgeshire County Council, and 
 3. a radius of up to 50km from the site. 
  
 Weighbridge records shall be made available to the Local Planning Authority within one 

week of such a request being made and they shall set out the originating location and type 
of waste imported to the facility. 

 Reason:  To ensure that the majority of the permitted waste streams are located within a 
reasonable distance of the development in the interests of sustainability in accordance with 
policies CS2, CS15 and CS29 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and 
Waste Core Strategy DPD. 

  
  
  
 
C20 The facilities hereby approved shall not be operational and no deliveries or exports shall 

take place except within the following opening times: 
  
 Household Waste Recycling Centre 
 0800 to 1800 1st April to 30 October 

162



 19 

 0800 to 1600 31st October to 31st March 
 This facility can open within the above limits Mondays to Sundays and on Bank Holidays 
  
 Materials Recycling Facility 
 0700 to 2200 hours 
 This facility can open within the above limit Mondays to Sundays and on Bank Holidays 
  
 Anaerobic Digestion Facility 
 Can generate power 24 hours a day, 7 days a week but deliveries of waste to the facility 

shall only take place within the following limits: 
 0700 to 1600 hours Monday to Friday and  
 0800 to 1300 hours on Saturdays 
 There shall be no deliveries on Sundays or Bank Holidays to the AD facility 
  
 Reason:  As has been set out within the submitted application, to ensure the development 

operates in accordance with the submitted transport assessment and to limit any impact on 
the amenity of nearby residents in accordance with policies CS32 and CS34 of the 
Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD. 

  
 
C21 The maximum throughput of material per annum with regards to the materials recycling 

facility and the anaerobic digester shall be as follows:- 
  
 MRF - 120,000 tonnes per annum 
 AD - 20,400 tonnes per annum 
  
 Reason:  The above throughputs are as set out in the submission and any increase would 

need to be re-assessed particularly with regard to emissions and transport and the 
Environmental Assessment in accordance with CS32 and CS34 of the Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD. 

  
 
C22 The permission hereby granted does not include a wind turbine as indicated on the 

proposed Habitat and Creation Enhancement Measures Drawing which accompanied the 
letter dated 11 February 2013 from Abigail Bridge with regards to ecology. 

 Reason:  To clarify what is hereby approved. 
  
 
Copy to Councillors Sanders D A, McKean D 
  
 

163



164

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
PROTECTION COMMITTEE  
 

 
AGENDA ITEM NO. 6 

19 MARCH 2013 PUBLIC REPORT  

This report contains exempt 
appendices which are NOT 
FOR PUBLICATION in 
accordance with paragraph 3 
of Schedule 12A of Part 1 of 
the Local Government Act 
1972 in that they 
contain information relating to 
the financial or business 
affairs of a particular person 
(including the authority 
holding that information) and 
it is considered that the need 
to retain the information as 
exempt outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing it. 

 

Cabinet Member(s) responsible: Councillor Hiller – Cabinet Member for Housing, 
Neighbourhoods and Planning 

Contact Officer(s): Nick Harding  - Group Manager, Development Management  Tel. 454441 

 

DISCONTINUANCE OF Nos 1-15 (odd Nos only) ROWLEDGE COURT, WALTON 
(FORMER ROYAL OAK SITE, LINCOLN ROAD) 
 

R E C O M M E N D A T I O N S 
FROM : Director of Operations 
 

Timescale: N/A 

That the Committee does not take action to discontinue the development. 

 
1. ORIGIN OF REPORT 
 

1.1 This report is submitted to the Planning and Environment Protection Committee following a 
request by Councillor Sandford for the Committee to give consideration to pursuing a 
Discontinuance Order for Nos. 1-15 Rowledge Court (odd Nos only). These seven 
dwellings (there is no No.13) make up the ‘rear block’ of the development and back on to 
existing dwellings on Arundel Road. All but one of the seven dwellings is occupied.  The 
request has its origins in the fact that two households that abut the development remain 
dissatisfied with the decision to give planning permission for the development principally for 
the following reasons: 

• The modern design of the dwellings 

• The three storey nature of the dwellings 

• Overlooking of their property causing a reduction in privacy 
 
2. PURPOSE AND REASON FOR REPORT 
 

2.1 The purpose of this report is to obtain a decision from the Committee on whether the 
discontinuance of the development should be pursued. 

 

165



2.2 This report is for the Committee to consider under its Terms of Reference under para. 
2.5.1.2(b) ‘to determine and application, or to decide upon or vary appropriate conditions, 
limitations, terms or other restrictions upon any approval, consent, licence, permission or 
registration grantedm or discontinuance or revocation order in case where (b) an 
application has been referred to the Committee by a Member or a Parish Council’ 

3. TIMESCALE  
 

Is this a Major Policy 
Item/Statutory Plan? 

NO If Yes, date for relevant 
Cabinet Meeting 

N/A 

 
4. BACKGROUND 
 
4.1 Planning permission was first granted for the development in 2007. The proposal was 

contentious at the time because of: 

• The development would result in the loss of the Royal Oak Public House 

• The modern design of the dwellings 

• The three storey nature of the dwellings 

• The relationship with the existing residential development adjacent 
 

The development approved was for two rows of seven, three storey dwellings. The 
application was considered by the Planning and Environmental Protection Committee at the 
time and was granted planning permission.  

 
4.2 The planning permission was not implemented and so in 2011, an application to renew the 

permission was received. As there were no significant material changes in policy (from 
when permission was previously approved), planning permission was granted again for the 
development under officer delegated powers (in accordance with the Council’s constitution). 

 
4.3 Two households in Arundel Road have gone through the Council’s formal complaint 

process and have remained dissatisfied with the outcome. Officers are satisfied that both 
the planning permissions granted were legally sound. During the process of responding to 
the complaints, the residents were advised that the only option available that (if agreed and 
implemented) would ‘take the development away’, would be a Discontinuance Order. 

 
4.4 The Council is able to make a Discontinuance Order under Section 102 of the Town and 
 Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) (“the 1990 Act”) in respect of any development if, 

having regard to development plan policies, it is appropriate and expedient in the interests of 
the proper planning of the area (including the interests of amenity). Discontinuance Orders 
are made to deal with the use to which land is being put.  An order can discontinue any 
existing use of land (whether lawful or unlawful) or, alternatively, can impose conditions on 
the continuance of land.  It may also require any buildings or works be altered or removed.  
A claim for compensation may, however, be made to the Local Planning Authority under 
Section 115 of the 1990 Act if it is shown that a person having an interest in the land has 
suffered damage in consequence of the making of an order.  Other persons may be entitled 
to compensation in respect of disturbance in their enjoyment of the land or for carrying out 
works in compliance with the order. 

 
4.5 Discontinuance Orders need to be confirmed by the Secretary of State (under Section 103 of 

the 1990 Act) who has the power to modify the submitted order, including power to grant 
planning permission or to modify the order’s grant of planning permission.  Before confirming 
an order, the Secretary of State must provide an opportunity to be heard to any person on 
whom the order has been served (this usually takes the form of a Public Inquiry). 

 
4.6 Mr Andy Moffat (Planning Services Manager – Development Management) of 

Huntingdonshire District Council has been brought in as an independent planning officer to 
assess  whether, having regard to development plan policies,  it is expedient in the interests 
of the proper planning of the area (including the interests of amenity) to serve a 
Discontinuance Order on the site. 

 

166



 
 
5. Report By Mr Moffat 
 
5.1 I have been asked by Officers at Peterborough City Council to provide an independent 

assessment of the development in light of current development plan policies and other 
material planning considerations, including the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). I have been asked to assess the proposal in relation to its impact on the character 
and appearance of the area and the impact on the occupiers of houses in Arundel Road in 
particular. In terms of local planning policies, my attention has been drawn to the Adopted 
Core Strategy 2011, the Adopted Planning Policies DPD 2012 and the Adopted Site 
Allocations DPD 2012. 

 
5.2 I note firstly that the site is allocated for residential development in the Adopted Site 

Allocations DPD. Therefore the principle of residential use of the site has been and is 
clearly established.   

 
5.3 I have viewed the development from within the site, from surrounding roads and from the 

houses and gardens of two properties in Arundel Road. Development in the locality is 
predominantly residential and of varying ages and designs. It is fair to say that it is not of 
any particular architectural merit. Most is two storey although there are examples of taller 
buildings including three-storey development. There are also examples of more 
contemporary architecture in the wider area, including the development at Baxter Close. 
The new development is of contemporary but not particularly striking design and is seen 
from surrounding houses, in gaps between houses as well as from Lincoln Road.  

 
5.4 At paragraph 58, the NPPF advises that development should, inter alia, optimise the 

potential of the site to accommodate development, and, respond to the local character and 
history, and reflect the identity of local surroundings and materials, while not preventing or 
discouraging appropriate innovation. Local Policy PP2 states that planning permission will 
only be granted for development that makes a positive contribution to the quality of the built 
environment and would not have a detrimental effect on the character of any adjoining 
properties or the surrounding area. Given its context, I do not consider that it was 
necessary for the development to draw upon any particular architectural style and this 
contemporary development is an appropriate addition to the character and appearance of 
the area in terms of its scale, height, design and materials. 

 
5.5 I understand that of more concern to the local residents is the impact of the development on 

their amenity, particularly in terms of overlooking. Local Policy PP3 states that planning 
permission will not be granted for development which would result in unacceptable (my 
underlining): loss of privacy for occupiers of any nearby property; loss of light to and/or 
overshadowing of any nearby property; or overbearing impact on any nearby property. One 
of the Core Planning Principles in the NPPF is to seek to ensure a good standard of 
amenity for all existing occupants of buildings (paragraph 17). 

 
5.6 The development will undoubtedly result in a perception of overlooking, and some 

overlooking. That said some overlooking is to be expected in residential areas. Whilst there 
are no minimum back-to-back distances specified in Policy PP3 or elsewhere in Local 
Policy, distances of close to 30m might be considered a reasonable minimum between 
three and two-storey development. The plans indicate that the minimum in this instance is 
28.5m, although those plans don’t appear to include the single storey rear extension to 15 
Arundel Road which reduces the minimum distance in that instance to closer to 25m. It is 
relevant to note that the first and second floor windows facing properties in Arundel Road 
serve bedrooms where occupiers tend not to spend the majority of their day, and balcony 
screens are required by condition at second floor level. There are though some 22 first and 
second floor windows facing properties in Arundel Road. The existing tree planting in the 
rear gardens of the new properties provides little screening and there is little scope to 
provide additional planting within the development site. Being to the southwest of properties 
in Arundel Road, the development will result in some overshadowing and loss of sunlight to 
these properties, but I would not consider this to be unacceptable in planning terms. 

167



 
5.7 As a three storey terrace of 7 properties, albeit with flat roofs which reduce its height, the 

development also affects the outlook from properties in Arundel Road, but I do not consider 
the new development to be unduly overbearing. To summarise my conclusions on the 
impact on the occupiers of properties in Arundel Road, the development undoubtedly has 
an adverse impact on the amenity of the occupiers of properties in Arundel Road but policy 
PP3 accepts that many approved developments will have an adverse effect on neighbours 
by stating that planning permission will not be granted for development which would result 
in “unacceptable” impacts. In my view, the loss of light, overshadowing and overbearing 
impacts are not unacceptable. Whilst more finally balanced, it is my view that the Council 
would be quite reasonable to conclude that the loss of privacy, and perceived loss of 
privacy, of neighbours in Arundel Road are also not unacceptable. 

 
5.8 MY OVERALL CONCLUSION IS THAT HAVING REGARD TO DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

POLICIES IT IS NEITHER APPROPRIATE NOR EXPENDIENT IN THE INTEREST OF THE 
PROPER PLANNING OF THE AREA (INCLUDING THE INTEREST OF AMENITY) FOR 
THE COUNCIL TO PERSUE DISCONTINUANCE. 

 
6. Compensation Costs Associated With a Discontinuance Order 
 
6.1 If discontinuance were to be taken forward, there would be a compensation cost associated 

with this and Committee should have an understanding of what this might be (Under Section 
115 of the 1990 Act). It is important to note that if Committee were to decide to move forward 
with discontinuance, then such a decision would be subject to budget approval at Full 
Council as there is no budget provision for meeting the cost of discontinuance. 

 
6.2 A full compensation cost report is attached at Appendix 1 (as an exempt annex - the 

information is exempt under Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as the 
information is confidential in nature as it contains detailed information which is commercially 
sensitive). The report concludes that the net cost to the Council (i.e. allowing for income to 
the Council from the post demolition sale of the site) of a Discontinuance Order on the 
development (Nos 1-15, odd numbers only) to be £690,662.00.  

 
7. CONSULTATION 
 

7.1 No external consultation has been undertaken as it is neither required or necessary. 
However, the owners and occupiers of the land / properties have been advised that 
discontinuance is being considered. 

 
8. ANTICIPATED OUTCOMES 
 

8.1  That the Committee resolves to take NO action to discontinue the development.  
 
9 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
9.1 The report undertaken by an independent third party has concluded that having regard to 

development plan policies, it is not expedient, in the interest of the proper planning of the 
area (including the interest of amenity) for the Council to pursue discontinuance.    

 
10. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 

10.1  Move forward with discontinuance: Such action would have to be subject to budget 
approval and subsequently approval by the Secretary of State. In making such a decision, 
Committee would have to satisfy itself that it is  expedient, in the interest of the proper 
planning of the area (including the interest of amenity) for the Council to pursue 
discontinuance.    

 
11. IMPLICATIONS 
 

11.1 Legal Implications  

168



  The decision reached by Committee must be done so based on consideration of the 
relevant criteria as set by the legislation which has been presented in this report. Any 
decision either for or against moving forward with discontinuance may be subject to legal 
challenge (as is the case with all council decisions).  

 
11.2 Financial Implications  

Discontinuance will require the council to compensate those with an interest in the land and 
buildings. As there is no budget provision made for such compensation, and decision made 
by committee will be subject to budget approval by Full Council.  
 

12. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985) 
  

Sections 102.103 & 115 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
National Planning Policy Frameworks 
Peterborough Core Strategy 2011 
Peterborough Site Allocations DPD 2012 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 2012 

 
 
 
 

169



170

This page is intentionally left blank



171

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



186

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4.1 19 February 2013
	4.2 5 March 2013
	5.1 09/01368/OUT - Great Haddon, Land to the North of Norman Cross, East of the A1(M) and West of London Road (A15) Peterborough
	130319 - Planning Committee - 0901368OUT - Great Haddon Core Area Urban Development - Report

	5.2 12/01236/MMFUL - Dogsthorpe Landfill Site, Welland Road, Dogsthorpe, Peterborough
	130319 - Planning Committee - 1201236MMFUL - Dogsthorpe Landfill Site - Report

	6 Discontinuance of Nos 1-15 (odd nos only) Rowledge Court, Walton, (Former Royal Oak Site) Lincoln Road, Peterborough
	130319 - Planning Committee - Royal Oak Discontinuance - Exempt Appendix


